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Fon vard-Looking Statements 

Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Those statements include 
statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of Franklin BSP Realty Tmst, Inc. ("we," "our," "us," or the 
"Company") and members of our management team, as well as the assumptions on which such statements are based, and 
generally are identified by the use of words such as "may," "will," "seeks," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," 
"plans," "intends," "should" or similar expressions. Actual results may di ffer materially from those contemplated by such 
forward-looking statements. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we undertake no 
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence oftmanticipated 
events or changes to future operating results over time, unless required by law. 

Our forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and tmcertainties. Accordingly, there are or will be important 
factors that could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements, and thus our 
investors should not place undue reliance on these statements. We believe these factors include but are not limited to those 
described tmder the section entitled "Risk Factors" in this Annual Report, as such factors may be updated from time to time in 
our periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the " SEC"), which are accessible on the SEC's website at 
http://www.sec.gov. These factors include: 

• changes in our business and investment strategy; 

• our ability to make investments in a timely manner or on acceptable terms; 

• changes in credit market conditions and our ability to obtain long-term financing for our investments in a timely 
manner and on terms that are consistent with what we project when we invest; 

• the effect of general market, rea l estate market, economic and political conditions, including changing interest rate 
environments (and sustained high interest rates) and inflation; 

• our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt obligations; 

• our ability to generate sufficient cash flows to make distributions to our stockholders; 

• our ability to generate sufficient debt and equity capital to fund additional investments; 

• our ability to refinance our existing financing arrangements; 

• our ability to recover unpaid principal on defaulted loans; 

• the degree and nature of our competition; 

• the availability of qualified personnel; 

• impairments in the value of real estate property securing our loans or that we own; 

• our ability to recover or mitigate estimated losses on non-performing assets; 

• the impact of national health crises; and 

• our ability to maintain our qualification as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

All forward-looking statements should be read in light of the risks identified in Part I, Item lA of this AJmual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

Risk Factor Summary 

We are providing the following summary of the risk factors contained in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K to enhance the 
readability and accessibility of our risk factor disclosures. We encourage our stockholders to carefully review the full risk 
factors contained in this Annual Report on Fonn l 0-K in their entirety. 

Risks Related to Our Financing Strategy 

• We have a significant amount of indebtedness and may need to incur more in the future. 

• We may not be able to earn returns on loans we make in excess of the interest we pay on our borrowings. 

• We rely on the availability of collateralized debt and loan obligation securitization markets to provide long-term 

financing for our loans and investments. 

• Lenders often require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to 

make distributions. 

• During periods of rising interest rates, our interest expense increases may outpace any increases in interest we earn on 

our assets, and the value of our assets may decrease. 
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• We may not be able to access financing sources on attractive terms, if at all, which could adversely affect our ability to 

ftrnd and grow our business, or result in dilution to our existing stockholders. 

• Our short-tenn borrowings often require us to provide additional collateral when the fair market value of our collateral 

decreases, and these calls for collateral could signi ficantly impact our liquidity position. 

Risks Related to Our Investments 

• Our commercial real estate debt investments are subject to the risks typically associated with ownership of commercial 
real estate. 

• Our success depends on the availability of attractive investment opportunities. 

• Delays in liquidating defaulted commercial real estate debt investments could reduce our investment returns. 

• Operating and disposing of properties acquired through foreclosure subject us to additional risks that could harm our 
results of operations. 

• Subordinate commercial real estate debt that we originate or acquire could expose us to greater losses. 

• We may be subject to risks associated with construction lending, such as declining real estate values, cost overruns and 
delays in completion. 

• Jurisdictions with one action or security first rules or anti-deficiency legislation may limit the ability to foreclose on 
the property or to realize the obligation secured by the property by obtaining a deficiency judgment. 

• Insurance may not cover all potential losses on the properties underlying our investments, which may hann the value 
of orur assets. 

• We invest in CMBS and CRE CLO Bonds, which may include subordinate securities, which entails certain risks. 

• We may not control the special servicing of the mortgage loans underlying the CMBS and CRE CLO Bonds in which 
we invest and, in such cases, the special servicer may take actions that could adversely affect our interests. 

• We invest in collateralized debt obligations ("CDOs") and such investments involve significant risks. 

• Most of our inve~tm~nts are illiquid and we may not be able to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic 
and other conditions, which may result in losses to us. 

• Some of our investments will be carried at estimated fair value as determined by us and, as a result, there may be 
uncertainty as to the value of these investments. 

• Competition with third parties for originating and acquiring investments may reduce our profitability. 

• Our due diligence may not reveal all material issues relating to our origination or acquisition of a particular 
investment. 

• We may be unable to restructure loans in a manner that we believe maximizes value, particularly if we are one of 
multiple creditors in large capital structures. 

• We may be subject to risks associated with future advance obligations, such as declining real estate values and 
operating performance. 

• We may not be successful in our attempts to align the maturities of our liabilities with the maturities on our assets, 
which could hann our operating results and financial condition. 

• Provision for credit losses is difficult to estimate. 

• Any credit ratings assigned to our investments will be subject to ongoing evaluations and revisions and we cannot 
assure you that those ratings will not be downgraded. 

Risks Related to the Conduit Segment of the Business 

• We use warehouse facilities that may limit our ability to acquire assets, and we may incur losses if the collateral is 
liquidated. 

• We directly or indirectly utilize non-recourse securitizations, and such structures expose us to risks that could resu[t in 
losses to us. 

• The securitization market is subject to a regulatory enviromnent that may affect certain aspects of these activities. 

• We enter into hedging transactions that could expose us to contingent liabilities in the future. 

• Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversely affect our income, limit our gains or result in losses, which could 
adversely affect cash available for distributions to our stockholders. 

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest 

• The Advisor faces conflicts of interest relating to purchasing commercial real estate-related investments, and such 
conflicts may not be resolved in our favor, which could adversely affect our investment opportunities. 
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• The Advisor and its employees face competing demands relating to their time, and this may cause our operating results 
to suffer. 

• The fee structure set forth in the Advisory Agreement may not create proper incentives for the Ad!visor. 

• Our Advisor manages our portfolio pursuant to broad investment guidelines and is not required to seek the approval of 
our iboard of directors for each investment, financing, asset allocation or hedging decision made by it, which may result 
in our making riskier loans and other investments and which could materially and adversely affect us. 

• Our Advisor maintains a contractual as opposed to a fiduciary relationship with us. Our Advisor' s liability is limited 
under our Advisor Agreement, and we have agreed to indemnify our Advisor against certain liabilities. 

• Termination of our Advisory Agreement would be difficult and costly. 

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure 

• The limit on the number of shares a person may own may discourage a takeover that could otherwise result in a 
premium price to our stockholders. 

• Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit a change in control of our Company. 

Risks Related to Taxation 

• Our failure to qualify as a REIT could have significant adverse consequences to us and the value of our common stock. 

• The failure of a mezzanine loan to qualify as a real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REJT. 

• Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to tax liabilities that reduce our cash flow for distribution to our 
stockholders. 

• The failure of assets subject to repurchase agreements to qualify as real estate assets could adversely affect our aMity 
to qualify as a REIT. 

• The "taxable mortgage pool" rules may increase the taxes that we or our stockholders incur, and may limit the manner 
in which we effect future securitizations. 

• The prohibited transactions tax may limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of 
securitizing mortgage loans that would be treated as sales for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

• Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities. 

• Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT qualification. 

• Modification of the tenns of our debt investments and mortgage loans underlying our CMBS in conjunction with 
reductions in the value of the real property securing such loans could cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT. 

Risks Related to an Investment in Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

• Public health crises have, and may in the future, adversely impact our business and the business of many of our 
borrowers. 

• We may be unable to maintain or increase cash distributions over time, or may decide to reduce the amount of 
distributions for business reasons. 

• Our business could suffer in the event our Advisor or any other party that provides us with services essential to our 
operations experiences system failures or cyber-incidents or a deficiency in cybersecurity. 

• We are subject to risks from natural disasters such as earthquakes and severe weather, including as the result of global 
climate changes, which may result in damage to the properties securing our loans. 
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PART I 

Item 1. Business 

Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company"), is a real estate finance company that primarily originates, acquires and 
manages a diversified portfolio of conunercial real estate debt investments secured by properties located within and outside the 
United States. We are a Maryland corporation and have made tax elections to be treated as a real estate investment trust (a 
"REIT") for lJ.S. federal income tax purposes since 2013. We believe that we have qualified as a REIT and we intend to 
continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. Substantially all of our business is conducted 
through Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. (the "OP"), a Delaware limited partnership. We are the sole 
general partner and directly or indirectly hold all of the units of limited partner interests in the OP. One or more of our whoUy­
owned subsidiaries are treated. as taxable REIT subsidiaries (each a "TRS"), and are subject to U.S. federal, state and local 
income taxes. 

The Company has no employees. Benefit Street Partners L.L.C. serves as our advisor ("Advisor") pursuant to an advisory 
agreement, as amended on August 18,2021 (the "Advisory Agreement"). The Advisor, an investment adviser registered with 
the SEC, is a credit-focused alternative asset management firn1 that was established in 2008. Our Advisor's credit platform 
manages funds for institutions and high-net-worth investors across various credit funds and complementary strategies including 
high yield, levered loans, private/opportunistic debt, liquid credit, structured credit and commercial real estate debt. These 
strategies complement each other as they all leverage the sourcing, analytical, compliance, and operational capabilities that 
encompass the platform. The Advisor manages the Company's affairs on a day-to-day basis. The Advisor receives 
compensation fees and reimbursements for services related to the investment and management of the Company's assets and the 
operations of the Company. The advisor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Franklin Resources, Inc., which together with its 
various subsidiaries operates as "Franklin Templeton". 

The Company primarily focuses on originating, acquiring and asset managing commercial rea l estate debt investments, 
including first mortgage loans, subordinated mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. Secondarily, the 
Company's real estate securities business focuses on investing in and asset managing real estate securities. Historically this 
business has focused primarily on commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"), commercial real estate collateralized loan 
obligation bonds and single asset single borrower bonds (collectively "CMBS bonds"), collateralized debt obligations ("CDOs") 
and other securities. The Company also originates conduit loans which tbe Company intends to sell through its TRS into CMBS 
securitization transactions. The Company also owns real estate that was either acquired by the Company through foreclosure, 
deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or that was purchased for investment. 

Investment Objectives 

Our objective is to provide our common shareholders attractive, risk-adjusted returns through a stable dividend and capital 
growth. 

Investment Strategies and Policies 

We have four investment strategies. Our first and primary strategy is to originate, acquire and manage a diversified 
portfolio of commercial real estate debt, including first mortgage loans, subordinate loans, mezzanine loans and participations 
in such loans. We expect that our portfolio of dlebt investments will be secured by real estate located withio and outside the 
United States and diversified by property type and geographic location. Our second strategy is to invest in real estate securities, 
such as CMBS, CMBS bonds, senior unsecured debt of publicly-traded REITs and CDO notes. Our third s·trategy is to originate 
conduit loans and sell them through our TRS business into CMBS securitization transactions. Our fourth strategy is to 
maximize cash flows from real estate acquired by the Company through foreclosure and deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, and 
purchases of real estate that generally are, or will be, subject to a triple net lease. 
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Commercial Real Estate Debt 

We originate, fund, acquire and structure commercial real estate debt, including first mortgage loans, mezzanine loans, 
bridge loans, and other loans related to commercial real estate. We may also acquire some equity participations in the 
underlying collateral of commercial real estate debt. We structure, underwrite, and originate most of our investments. We use 
conservative underwriting criteria to focus on risk adjusted returns based on several factors, which may include the leverage 
point, debt service coverage and sensitivity, lease sustainability studies, market and economic conditions, quality of the 
underlying collateral and location, reputation and track record of the borrower, and a clear exit or refinancing plan for the 
borrower. Our underwriting process involves comprehensive fmancial, structural, operational, and legal dtl!e diligence to assess 
any risks in connection with making such investments so that we can optimize pricing and sn-ucturing. By originating loans 
directly, we a re able to structure and underwrite loans that satisfy our standards, establish a direct relationship with the 
borrower, and utilize our own preferred documentation. Described below are some of the types of loans we may originate or 
acquire. In addition, although we generally prefer the benefits of new origination, market conditions can create situations where 
holders of conunercial real estate debt may be in distress and are therefore willing to sell to us at prices that compensate us for 
the lack of control typically associated with directly structured invesnneots. 

First Mortgage Loans 

We primarily focus on first mortgage loans. First mortgage loans generally finance the acquisition, refinancing or 
rehabilitation of commercial real estate. First mortgage loans may be either short (one-to-five years) or long (up to ten years) 
term, may be fixed or floating rate, and are predominantly current-pay loans. We may originate or acquire current-pay frrst 
mortgage loans backed by properties that fit our investment strategy. We may selectively syndicate portions of these loans, 
including senior or junior participations that will effectively provide permanent financing or optimize returns which may 
include retained origination fees. 

First mortgage loans typically provide for a higher recovery rate and lower defaults than other debt positions due to the 
lender's favorable control position, which at times can include control of the entire capital structure. Because of these attributes, 
tl1is type of investment typically receives favorable treatment from third-party rating agencies and financing sources, which 
should increase the liquidity of these investments. However, these loans typically generate lower returns than subordinate debt, 
such as subordinate loans and mezzanine loans, commonly referred to as B-notes. 

B-notes 

B-notes consist of subordinate mortgage loans, including structurally subordinated first mortgage loans and junior 
participations in first mortgage loans or participations in these types of assets. Like first mortgage loans, these loans genera Ely 
finance the acquisition, refinancing, rehabilitation or construction of commercial real estate. Subordinated mortgage loans orB­
notes may be either short (one-to-five years) or long (up to ten years) term, may be fixed or floating rate, and are predominantly 
current-pay loans. We may originate or acquire current-pay subordinated mortgage loans orB-notes backed by high quality 
properties that fit our investment strategy. We may create subordinated mortgage loans by tranching our directly originated first 
mortgage loans generally through syndications of senior first mortgages ,or we may buy such assets directly from third party 
originators. 

Bridge Loans 

We may offer bridge financing products to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital to be used in an 
acquisition, development or refinancing of a given property. From the borrower's perspective, shorter term bridge financing is 
advantageous because it allows time to improve the property value through repositioning without encumbering it with 
restrictive long-term debt. The tenns of these loans generally do not exceed three years. 

Mezzanine Loans 

Mezzanine loans are secured by one or more direct or indirect ownership interests in an entity that directly or indirectly 
owns commercial real estate and generally fina nce the acquisition, refinancing, rehabilitation or construction of commerciaE real 
estate. Mezzanine loans may be either short (one-to-five years) or long (up to ten years) term and may be fixed or floating rate. 
We may originate or acquire mezzanine loans backed by properties that fit our investment strategy. We may own such 
mezzanine loans directly or we may hold a participation in a mezzanine loan or a sub-participation in a mezzanine loan. These 
loans are predominantly current-pay loans (although there may be a portion of t11e interest that accrues) and may provide for 
participation in the value or cash flow appreciation of the underlying property as described below. With t11e credit market 
disruption and resulting dearth of capital available in this part of the capital structure, we believe that the opportunities to both 
directly originate and to buy mezzanine loans from third parties on favorable terms will continue to be attractive. 
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Equity Participations or "Kickers" 

We may pursue equity participation opportunities in connection witb our commercial real estate debt originations if we 
believe that the risk-reward characteristics of the loan merit additional upside participation related to the potential appreciation 
in value of the tmderlying assets securing tbe loan. Equity participations can be paid in the fonn of additional interest, exit fees, 
percentage of sharing in refinance or resale proceeds or warrants in the borrower. Equity participation can also take the form of 
a conversion feature, sometimes referred to as a "kicker," which pennits the lender to convert a loan or preferred equity 
investment into common equity in the borrower at a negotiated premium to the current net asset value of the borrower. We 
expect to genemte additional revenues from any equity participations in which we invest as a result of excess cash flows being 
distributed or as appreciated prope1ties are sold or refinanced. 

Real Estate Securities 

In addition to our focus on origination of and investments in conunercial real estate debt, we may also acquire real estate 
securities, such as CMBS, CMBS bonds, CDO notes, and equity investments in entities that own commercial real estate. 

CMBS & CMBS Bonds 

CMBS and CMBS bonds are securities that are collateralized by, or evidence ownership interests in, a single commerdal 
mortgage loan or a partial or entire pool of mortgage loans secured by commercial properties. CMBS and CMBS bonds are 
generally pass-through certificates that represent beneficial ownership interests in common law trusts whose assets consist of 
defined portfolios of one or more commercial mortgage loans. They are typically issued in multiple tranches whereby the more 
senior classes are entitled to priority distributions of specified principal and interest payments from the trust' s tmderlying assets. 
The senior classes are often securities which, if rated, would have ratings ranging from low investment gmde "BBB-" to higher 
investment grades "A," "AA'' or "AAA." The j unior, subordinated classes typically would include one or more non-investment 
grade classes which, if rated, would have ratings below investment grade "BBB." Losses and other shortfalls from expected 
amounts to be received on the mortgage pool are borne first by the most subordinate classes, which receive payments only after 
the more senior classes have received all principal and/or interest to which they are entitled. We may invest in senior or 
subordinated, investment grade or non-investment grade CMBS and CMBS bonds, as well as unrated CMBS and CMBS bonds. 

Unsecured Publicly-Traded REIT Debt Securities 

We may also choose to acquire senior unsecured debt of publicly-traded equity REITs tltat acquire and hold real estate. 
Publicly-traded REITs may own large, diversified pools of commercial real estate properties or they may focus on a specific 
type of property, such as shopiPing centers, office buildings, multifamily properties and industrial warehouses. Publicly-traded 
REITs typically employ moderate leverage. Corporate bonds issued by these types ofREITs are usually rated investment grade 
and benefit from strong covenant protection. 

CDONotes 

CDOs are multiple class debt notes, secured by pools of assets, such as CMBS and mezzanine loans. Like typical 
securitization structures, in a CDO, the assets are pledged to a trustee for the benefit of the holders of the bonds. CDOs often 
have reinvestment periods that typically last for five years, during which time, proceeds from the sale of a collateral asset may 
be invested in substitute collateral. Upon termination of the reinvestment period, the static pool functions very similarly to a 
CMBS securitization where repayment of principal allows for redemption of bonds sequentially. 

Commercial Real Estate Equity Investments 

We may acquire: (i) equity interests (including preferred equity) in an entity (including, without limitation, a partnership or 
a limited liability company) t11at is an owner of commercial real property (or in an entity operating or controlling commercial 
real property, directly or through affiliates), which may be structured to receive a priority return or is senior to the owner's 
equity (in the case of preferred equity); (ii) certain strategic joint venture opportunities where the risk-retum and potential 
upside through sharing in asset or platform appreciation is compelling; and (iii) private issuances of equity securities (including 
preferred equity securities) of public companies. Our commercial real estate equity investments may or may not have a 
scheduled maturity and are expected to be of longer duration (five-to-ten year terms) than our typical portfolio investment. Such 
investments are expected to be fixed rate (if they have a stated investment rate) and may have accrual structures and provide 
other distributions or equity participations in overall returns above negotiated levels. 

Conduit Loans 

The Company originates Conduit loans wbich the Company iJltends to sell through its TRS into CMBS securitization 
transactions at a profit. The Conduit loans are typically fixed-rate commercial real estate loans and are long-term (up to ten 
years), and are predominantly current-pay loans . 
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Ownership of Properties anti Other Possible Investments 

Although we expect that most of our investments will be of the types described above, we may make other investments. 
For example, we own and expect in the future to own real estate acquired by the Company through foreclosure and deed-in-lieu 
of foreclosure, or from purchases of real estate that generally are, or will be, subject to a triple net lease. We may also invest in 
whatever other types of interests in real estate-related assets that we believe are in our best interest which may include the 
c01runercial real property underlying our debt investments as a result of a loan workout, foreclosure or similar circumstances. 

Investment Process 

Our Advisor has the authority to make all the decisions regarding our investments consistent with the investment guidelines 
and borrowing policies approved by our board of directors and subject to the direction and oversight of our board of directors. 
With respect to investments in commercial real estate debt, our board of directors has adopted investment guidelines that our 
Advisor must follow when acquiring such assets on our behalf. We will not purchase assets in which our Advisor, any of our 
directors or any of their affiliates has an interest without a determination by a majority of our directors (including a majority of 
the independent directors) not otherwise interested in the transaction that such transaction is fair and reasonable to us and at a 
price to us no greater than the cost of the asset to the affiliated seller, unless there is substantial justification for the excess 
amount and such excess is reasonable. Our investment guidelines and borrowing policies may be altered by a majority of our 
directors without approval of our stockholders. Our Advisor may not alter our investment guidelines or borrowing policies 
without the approval of a majority of our directors, including a majority of our independent directors. 

Borrowing Strategies and Policies 
Our financing strategy primarily includes the use of secured repurchase agreement facilities for loans, securities and 

securitizations. We also may raise capital throUJgh public or private offerings of our equity securities, including through our 
effective shelf registration statement or our "at-the-market" sales program. In addition to our current mix of financing sources, 
we may also access additional forrns of financings, including credit facilities, and public or private secured and unsecured debt 
issuances by us or our subsidiaries. 

We expect to use additional debt financing as a source of capital. We intend to employ reasonable levels of borrowing in 
order to provide more cash available for investment and to generate in1proved returns. We believe that careful use of leverage 
will help us to achieve our diversification goals and potentially enhance the returns on our investments. Our board of directors 
oversees our aggregate borrowing levels. 

Income Taxes 

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
"Internal Revenue Code") commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013. In general, as a REIT, if we meet 
certain organizational and operational requirements and distribute at least 90% of our "REIT taxable income" (determined 
before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net capital gains) to our stockholders in a year, we will not be subject to 
U.S. federal income tax to the extent of the income that we distribute. We believe that we currently qualify and we intend to 
continue to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and statutory 
relief provisions were not to apply, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our income at regular corporate tax rates 
for the year in which we do not qualify and the succeeding four years. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be 
subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income and property and U.S. federal income aod excise taxes on our 
undistributed income. 

We pay income taxes on our Conduit segment, which is conducted by our wholly-owned TRS entities. The income taxes 
on the Conduit segment are paid at the U.S. federal and applicable state levels. 

Competition 

Our net income depends, in large part, on our ability to originate investments that provide returns in excess of our 
borrowing cost. In originating these investments, we compete with other mortgage REITs, specialty fmance companies, savings 
and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking 
finns, private funds, other lenders, governmental bodies, and other entities, many of which have greater financial resources and 
lower costs of capital available to them than we have. In addition, there are numerous mortgage REITs with asset acquisition 
objectives similar to ours, and others may be organized in the future, which may increase competition for the investments 
suitable for us. Competitive variables include market presence and visibility, size of loans offered and underwriting standards. 
To the extent that a competitor is willing to risk larger amounts of capital in a particular transaction or to employ more liberal 
underwriting standards when evaluating potential loans than we are, our investment volume and profit margins for our 
investment portfolio could be impacted. Our competitors may also be willing to accept lower returns on their investments and 
may succeed in buying or underwriting the assets that we have targeted. A lthough we believe that we are well positioned to 
compete effectively in each facet of our business, there is enormous competition in our market sector and there can be no 
assurance that we will compete effectively or that we will not encounter increased competition in the future that could limit our 
ability to conduct our business effectively. 
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Human Capital Resources 

As of December 31, 2024, we had no employees. Our executive officers serve as officers of our Advisor and are employed 
by an affiliate of our Advisor. The employees of the Advisor and other affiliates of the Advisor perform a full range of real 
estate services for us, including origination, acquisitions, accounting, legal, asset management, wholesale brokerage, and 
investor relations services. We are dependent on these affi liates for services that are essential to us, including asset acquisition 
decisions, and other general administrative responsibilities. In the event that any of these companies were unable to provide 
these services to us, we wouldl be required to provide such services ourselves or obtain such services from other sources. 

Government Regulation 

Our operations are subject, in certain instances, to supervision and regulation by U.S. and other govermnental authorities, 
and may be subject to various laws and judicial and administrative decisions imposing various requirements and restrictions, 
which, among other things: (i) regulate credit-granting activities; (ii) establish maximum interest rates, finance charges and 
other charges; (iii) require disclosures to customers; (iv) govern secured transactions; and (v) set collection, foreclosure, 
repossession and clain1s-handJing procedures and other trade practices. We intend to conduct our business so that neither we 
nor any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. 

In our judgment, existing statutes and regulations have not had a material adverse effect on our business. In recent years, 
legislators in the United States and in other countries have said that greater regulation of financial services fim1s is needed, 
particularly in areas such as risk management, leverage, and disclosure. While we expect that additional new regulations in 
these areas will be adopted and existing ones may change in the future, it is not possible at this time to forecast the exact nature 
of any future legislation, regulations, judicial decisions, orders or interpretations, nor their impact upon our future business, 
financial condition, or results of operations or prospects. 

Available Information 

We electronically file annual reports on Fonn I 0-K, quarterly reports on Form I 0-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all 
amendments to those reports, and proxy statements, with the SEC. The SEC maintains an internet address at www.sec.gov that 
contains reports, proxy statements and information statements, and other information, which may be obtained free of charge. In 
addition, cop ies of our filings with the SEC may be obtained from the website maintained for us at www.fbrtreit.com. Access to 
these filings is free of charge. We are not incorporating our website or any information from the website into this Fonn 1 0-K. 

We routinely use our investor relations website, at www.fbrtreit.com, as a primary channel for disclosing key information 
to our investors. We may use our website as a means of disclosing material, non-public information and for complying with our 
disclosure obligations tulder Regulation FD. Accordingly, investors should monitor our investor relations website, in addition to 
following our press releases, filings with the SEC, public conference calls, presentations, and webcasts. 

Item lA. Risk Factors 

Risk Related to Our F inancing Strategy 

We have ll significant amount of indebtedness am/ may need to incur more in the future. 

We have substantial indebtedness. In connection with executing our business strategies, we expect to evaluate the 
possibility of originating, funding, and acquiring additional commercial real estate debt and making other strategic investments, 
and we may elect to finance these endeavors by incurring additional indebtedness. The amount of such indebtedness could have 
material adverse consequences, including: 

hindering our ability to adjust to changing market, industry or economic conditions; 
linliting our ability to access the capital markets to raise additional equity or refmance maturing debt on favorable 
terms or fimd acquisitions; 
limiting the amount of cash flow available for future operations, acquisitions, dividends, stock repurchases or other 
uses; 
making us more vulnerable to economic or industry downturns, including interest rate increases or sustained high 
interest rate enviro1m1ents; and 
placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors. 

Moreover, we may be required to raise substantial additional capital to execute our business strategy. Our ability to arrange 
additional financing will depend on, among other factors, our financial position and performance, as well as prevailing market 
conditions and other factors beyond our control. If we are unable to obtain additional financing, our credit ratings could be 
adversely affected, which could further raise our borrowing costs and further lin1it our future access to capital and our ability to 
satisfy our obligations tmder our indebtedness. 

We may not he able to earn returns on loans we make in excess of the interest we pay on our borrowings. 
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We try ro generate financial returns by making and investing in loans and debt securities that generate returns in excess of 
our cost of capital. Our ability to execute this strategy depends on various conditions in the fmancing markets that are beyond 
our control, including liquidity, fluctuations in prevailing interest rates and credit spreads. Interest rate and credit spread 
fluctuations resulting in our interest and related expense exceeding interest and related income would result in operating losses 
for us. Changes in the level of interest rates and credit spreads also may affect our ability to make new loans or investments and 
may decrease the value of our existing loans and investments. Increases in interest rates and credit spreads may also negatively 
affect demand for loans and could result in higher borrower default rates. We may be unable to obtain additional financing on 
favorable terms or, with respect to our debt and other investments, on terms that match the maturities of the debt originated or 
other investments acquired, if we are able to obtain additional financing at all. 

We rely on the availability of collateralized debt and loan obligation securitization markets to proville long-term financing 
for our loans anti investments. 

We rely on short-term borrowings, such as repurchase agreements and our secured! revolving credit facilities, to initially 
ftmd our investments. The term of these short-term borrowing facilities is generally shorter than the term of our investments and 
therefore we typically intend to refinance these short-term borrowings with long-term match-funded fmancing through 
issuances of CDO's and CLO's. There have been times in the past when the CDO and CLO securitization markets have 
effectively been closed or are only available at a cost of capital that is not practicable. If our current financing strategy became 
no longer viable, we would have to fmd alternative forms of long-tern1 financing for our assets. This could subject us to more 
restrictive recourse borrowings and subject us to capital costs that significantly reduce or eliminate the spread between our cost 
of capital and the returns on our investments. If alternative financing is not available, we may have to liquidate assets at 
unfavorable prices to pay off our short-term borrowings or pay significant fees to extend these financing arrangements. 

Lenders often require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to make 
distributions_ 

Financing agreements that we enter into often contain covenants that limit our ability to further incur borrowings, restrict 
distributions or restrict our operations, such as prohibiting us from discontinuing insurance coverage or replacing our Advisor. 
These limitations decrease om operating flexibility and may impact our ability to achieve our operating objectives, including 
making distributions. 

During periods of rising interest rates, our interest expense increases may outpace any increases in interest we earn on our 
assets, am/ the value of our assets may decrease. 

Our operating results depend in large part on the income from our assets, reduced by any credit losses and financing costs. 
Income from our assets may respond more slowly to interest rate fluctuations than the cost of our borrowings. In a period of 
rising interest rates, our interest expense on floating-rate debt would increase, while any additional interest income we earn on 
our floating-rate investments may not compensate for such increase in interest expense. Consequently, changes in interest rates, 
particularly short-tenn interest rates, may significantly i11fluence our net income. Increases in these rates will tend to decrease 
our net income and the market value of our assets. Similarly, in a period of declining interest rates, our interest income on 
floating-rate investments would generally decrease, and interest rate floors on our floating-rate investments may not align with 
the interest rate floors on our floating-rate debt to compensate for such a decrease in interest income. Interest rate fluctuations 
resulting in our interest expense exceeding the income from our assets would result in operating losses for us and may limit our 
ability to make distributions to our stockholders. In addition, if we need to repay existing borrowings during periods of rising 
interest rates. we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments at times that may not pennit realization of the 
maximum return on those investments, which would adversely affect our profitability. 

We may n.ot he able to access financing sources on attractive terms, if at all, which could adversely affect our ability to fund 
and grow our business, or result in dilution to our existing stockholder.s. 

Our ability to fund our loans and investments may be impacted by our ability to secure bank credit facilities (including tenn 
loans and revolving facilities), warehouse facilities and structured financing arrangements, public and private debt issuances 
(including through securitizations) and derivative instruments, in addition to transaction or asset specific fimding arrangements 
and additional repurchase agreements on acceptable tem1s. We also rely on short-term financing that would be especially 
exposed to changes in availability. Our access to sources of financing will depend upon a number of factors, over which we 
have little or no control, including: 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

general economic or market conditions; 

tl1e market's view of the quality of our assets; 

tl1e market' s perception of our growth potential; 

our current and potential future earnings and cash distributions; and 

the market price of tlte shares of our common stock and preferred stock . 
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We may need to periodically access the capital markets to, among other things, raise cash to fund new loans and 
investments. Unfavorable economic conditions or capital market conditions may increase our funding costs, limit our access to 
the capital markets or result in a decision by our potential lenders not to extend credit. An inability to successfully access the 
capital markets could limit our ability to grow our business and fully execute our business strategy and could decrease our 
earnings and liquidity. Additional equity issuances in the capital markets on unfavorable tenns could also be dilutive to our 
existing stockholders. In addition, any dislocation or weakness in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect our 
lenders and could cause one or more of our lenders to be unwilling or unable to provide us with fmancing or to increase the 
costs of that financing. Further, as regulatory capital requirements imposed on our lenders are increased, they may be required 
to limit, or increase the cost of, fmancing they provide to us. In general, this could potentially increase our financing costs and 
reduce our liquidity or require us to sell assets at an inopportune time or price. We cannot make assurances that we will be able 
to obtain any additional fmancing on favorable terms or at all. 

Our short-term borrowings often require us to provMe (1{/ditional co1lateral when the fair market value of our collateral 
decreases, am/ these calls f or collateral cou/cl significantly impact our liquidity position~ 

We use short-term borrowing through repurchase agreements, credit facilities and other arrangements that put our assets 
and financial condition at risk. We may need to use such short-tenn borrowings for extended periods of time to the extent we 
are unable to access long-tenn fmancing. Repurchase agreements economically resemble short-term, variable-rate financing and 
usually require the maintenance of specific loan-to-collateral value ratios. If the market value of the assets subject to a 
repurchase agreement decline, we may be required to provide additional collateral or make cash payments to maintain the loan­
to-collateral value ratio. If we are unable to provide such collateral or cash repayments, the lender may accelerate the loan and 
we may be required to liquidate the collateral. In a weakening economic environment, or in an environment of widening credit 
spreads, we would generally expect the value of the commercial real estate debt or securities that serve as collateral for our 
short-tenn borrowings to decline, and in such a scenario, it is likely that the terms of our short-term borrowings would require 
us to provide additional collateral or to make partial repayment, which amounts could be substantial. 

Further, such borrowings may require us to maintain a certain amount of cash reserves or to set aside unleveraged assets 
sufficient to maintain a specified liquidity position that would allow us to satisfy our collateral obligations. In addition, such 
short-term borrowing facilities may linlit the Length of time that any given asset may be 1,1sed as eligible collateral, and these 
short-term borrowing arrangements may also be restricted to financing certain types of assets, such as first mortgage loans, 
which could impact our asset allocation. As a result, we may not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would like, which 
could reduce our return on assets. I f we are unable to meet these collateral obligations, our financial condition could deteriorate 
rapidly. 

Risks Related to Our Investments 

Our commercial real estate debt investments are subject to the risks typically associated with ownership of commercial" real 
estate. 

Our commercial real estate debt and reaE estate securities generally are directly or indirectly secured by a lien on real 
property. The occurrence of a default on a commercial real estate debt investment could result in our acquiring ownership of the 
property. We do not know wlhether the values of the properties ultimately securing our commercial real estate debt and loans 
underlying our securities will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of these. loans and the dates of origination 
of the loans ultimately securing our securities, as applicable. In addition, our borrowers could fraudulently inflate the values of 
the underlying properties. If the values of the properties drop or are discovered to have been fraudulently inflated, the lower 
value of the security and reduction in borrower equity associated with such loans will increase our risk. In this manner, reduced 
real estate values could impact the values of our debt and security investments, making them subject to the risks typically 
associated with real estate ownership. 

Our operating results may be adversely affected by a munber of risks generally incident to holding real estate and real 
estate debt, including, without limitation: 

• natural disasters, such as hurricanes, earthquakes and floods, which we expect to increase in strength and frequency 

due to climate change; 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

acts of war or terrorism, or criminal violence, including the consequences of terrorist attacks and other such acts; 

adverse changes in national and local economic and real estate conditions; 

adverse changes in economic and market conditions related to pandemics and health crises, such as COVID-19; 

an oversupply of (or a reduction in demand for) space in the areas where properties securing our loans are located and 

the attractiveness of particular properties to prospective tenants; 

changes in interest rates and availability of permanent mortgage funds that may render the sale of property difficult or 

unattractive; 
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• 

• 
• 

• 
• 

changes in govermnentallaws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances and the related costs of 

compliance therewith and the potential for liability under applicable laws; 

costs of remediation and liabilities associated with environmental conditions affecting properties; 

reduced demand for office space, incl111ding as a result of changes in work habits, including remote or hybrid work 

schedules which allow work from remote locations other than the employer's office premises; 

the potential for uninsured or underinsured property losses; and 

periods of high interest rates and tight money supply . 
The value of each property securing our loans is affected significantly by its ability to generate cash flow and net income, 

which in tum depends on the amount of rental or other income that can be generated net of expenses required to be incurred 
with respect to the property. Many expenses associated with properties (such as operating expenses and capital expenses) 
cannot be reduced when there is a reduction in income [Tom the properties. 

These factors may have a material adverse effect on the ability of our borrowers to pay their loans and the ability of the 
borrowers on the tmderlying loans securing onr securities to pay their loans, as well as on the value and the return that we can 
realize from assets we acquire and originate. 

Loans on properties in transition will involve il greater risk of loss than conventional mortgage loans. 

We primarily invest in transitional loans to borrowers who are typically seeking short-term capital to be used in an 
acquisition or rehabilitation of a property. If the borrower's plans or projections with respect to the property are not achieved, 
some of which, including renovations or expansions, carry heightened risks, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return on 
the asset to satisfy our transitional loan, and we bear the risk that we may not recover some or all of our investment. In addition, 
borrowers usually use the proceeds of a conventional mortgage to repay a transitional loan. Transitional loans therefore are 
subject to risks of a borrower's inability to obtain such permanent financing, including due to the broader availability of 
conventional mortgages at amenable rates. 

Our success ,depentls on the availability of attractive investment opportunities. 

Our loans typically have a term of about three to five years. As a result, a significant amount of our invested capital is 

repaid at loan maturity each year. Our operating results are dependent upon our ability to identify, structure, consummate, 
leverage, manage and realize attractive returns on, new loans and other investments. In general, the availability of attractive 
investment opportunities and, consequently, our operating results, is affected by the level and volatility of interest rates, 
conditions in the financial markets, general economic conditions, the demand for investment opportunities in our target assets 
and the supply of capital for such investment opportunities. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in identifying and 
consummating attractive investments or that such investments, once made, will perfonn as anticipated. 

Delays in liquidating tlefaulted commercial real estate tlebt investments could reduce our investment returns. 

When we originate or acquire commercial real estate debt investments and there are defaults under those debt investments, 
we may not be able to repossess and sell the properties securing the commercial real estate debt investment quickly. Foreclosure 
of a loan can be ~m expensive and lengthy process that can have a negative effect on our rehtrn on the foreclosed loan. 
Borrowers often resist foreclosure actions by asserting numerous claims, counterclaims and defenses, including but not limited 
to lender liability claims, in an effort to prolong the foreclosure action. In some states, foreclosure actions can take several years 
or more to resolve. At any time during the foreclosure proceedings, the borrower may file for bankruptcy, which would have 
the effect of staying the foreclosure action and further delaying the foreclosure process. The resulting time delay could reduce 
the value of the assets lmder the defaulted loans. Furthermore, an action to foreclose on a property securing a loan is regulated 
by state statutes and regulations and is subject to the delays and expenses associated with lawsuits if the borrower raises 
defenses or counterclaims. In the event of default by a borrower, these restrictions, among other things, may impede our ability 
to foreclose on or sell the property securing the loan or to obtain proceeds sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the loan. 

Operating and disposing of properties acquiretl through foreclosure subject us to additional risks that could harm our 
results of operations. 

The size of our real estate owned portfolio acquired through foreclosure has increased in recent years. We have in the past 
and we may in the future be forced to operate foreclosed properties for a substantial period, which can be a distraction for our 
management team and may require us to pay significant costs associated with such properties. Owning and operating real 
property involves risks that are different (and in many ways more significant) than the risks faced in owning a loan secured by 
that property. The costs associated with operating and redeveloping the property, including any operating shortfalls and 
significant capital expenditures, could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and 
liquidity. We may also be subject to environmental liabilities arising from such properties acquired in the foreclosure process. 
In addition, at such time that we elect to sell such foreclosed property, the liquidation proceeds upon sale of the underlying real 
estate may not be sufficient to recover our cost basis, resulting in a loss to us. Furthem1ore, any costs or delays involved in the 
maintenance or liquidation of the underlying property will further reduce the net proceeds and, thus, increase the loss. 
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Subordinate commercial real estate debt that we originate or acquire could expose us to greater losses. 

We acquire and originate subordinate commercial real estate debt, including subordinate mortgage and mezzanine loans 
and participations in such loans. These types of investments may involve a higher degree of risk than the type of assets that 
constitute the majority of our commercial real estate debt investments, first mortgage loans secured by real property. In the 
event a borrower declares bankruptcy, we may not be able to fully realize on the assets of the borrower, or the assets of that 
borrower may not be sufficient to fully satisfy both the first mortgage loan and our subordinate debt investment. If a borrower 
defaults on our subordinate debt or on debt senior to ours, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our subordinate debt will be 
satisfied only after the senior debt is paid in full. Where debt senior to our debt invesnnent exists, the presence of intercreditor 
arrangements may limit our aibility to amend our debt agreements, assign our debt, accept prepayments, exercise our remedies 
(through "standstill periods") and control decisions made in bankruptcy proceedings rela ting to our borrowers. As a result, we 
may not recover some or all of our investment. In addition, real properties with subordinate debt may have higher loan-to-value 
ratios than conventional debt, resulting in less equity in the real property and increasing the risk of loss of principal and interest. 

We may be subject to risks liSSociated with construction lentling, such as declining real estate values, cost overruns and 
delays in completion. 

Our commercial real estate debt portfolio may include loans made to developers to construct prospective projects. The 
primary risks to us of construction loans are the potential for cost overruns, the developer's failing to meet a project delivery 
schedule and the inability of a developer to sell or refinance the project at completion in accordance with its business plan and 
repay our commercial real estate loan due to declining real estate values. These risks could cause us to have to fund more 
money than we originally anticipated to complete the project. We may also suffer losses on our commercial real estate debt if 
the developer is unable to sell the project or refinance our commercial real estate debt invesnnent. 

Jurisdictions with one action or security first rules or anti-deficiency legislation may limit the ability to foreclose on a 
property or to realize the obligation secured by the property by obtaining a deficiency judgment. 

In the event of any default under our commercial real estate debt investments and in the loans underlying our real estate 
securities, we bear the risk of loss of principal and nonpayment of interest and fees to the extent of any deficiency between the 
value of the collateral and the principal amount of the loan. Certain states in which the collateral securing our commercial real 
estate debt and securities is located may have laws that prohibit more than one judicial action to enforce a mortgage obligation, 
requiring the lender to exhaust the real property security for such obligation first or limiting the ability of the lender to recover a 
deficiency judgment from the obligor following the lender's realization upon the collateral, in particular if a non-judicial 
foreclosure is pursued. These statutes may limit the right to foreclose on the property or to realize t:he obligation secured by the 
property. 

Insurance may not cover all potentia/losses on the properties underlying our investments, which may harm the value of our 
assets. 

We generally require that the borrowers under our commercial real estate debt investments obtain comprehensive insurance 
covering the mortgaged property, including liability, fire and extended coverage. However, there are certain types of losses, 
generally of a catastrophic na ture, such as earthquakes, floods and hurricanes that may be uninsurable or not economically 
insurable. Climate change is likely to exacerbate the frequency and severity of these types of events. We may not require 
borrowers to obtain certain types of insurance if it is deemed cmmnercially unreasonable. Inflation, changes in building codes 
and ordinances, environmental considerations and other factors also might result in insurance proceeds being inadequate to 
replace a property if it is damaged or destroyed. Under such circumstances, the insurance proceeds, if any, might not be 
adequate to restore the economic value of the property, which might impair our security interest and decrease the value of the 
property. 

We invest in CMBS and CMBS bonds, which may include subordinate securities, which entails certain risks. 

We invest in a variety of CMBS and CMBS bonds, which may include subordinate securities that are subject to the first 
risk of loss if any losses are realized on the underlying mortgage loans. CMBS and CMBS bonds entitle the holders thereof to 
receive payments tl1at depend primarily on the cash flow from a specified pool of cmmnercial or multifamily mortgage loans. 
Consequently, CMBS and CMBS bonds may be adversely affected by payment defaults, delinquencies and losses on the 
underlying commercial real estate loans. Furthennore, if the rental and leasing markets deteriorate, it could reduce cash flow 
from tl1e loan pools underlying our CMBS and CMBS bonds investments. The CMBS and CMBS bonds market is dependent 
upon liquidity for refinancing and could be negatively in1pacted by a slowdown in the new issue CMBS and CMBS bonds 
market. In addition, the value of CMBS and CMBS bonds may change due to shifts in the market' s perception of issuers and 
regulatory or tax changes adversely affecting tbe mortgage securities market as a whole. 

Additionally, CMBS and CMBS bonds are subject to particular risks, including lack of standardized tenns and payment of 
all or substantially all of the principal only at maturity rather than regular amortization of principal. Additional risks may be 
presented by tl1e type and use of a particular commercial property. For example, special risks are presented by hospitals, nursing 
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homes, hospitality properties and certain other property types. Commercial property values and net operating income are 
subject to volatility, which may result in net operating income becoming insufficient to cover debt service on the related 
commercial real estate loan, particularly if the current economic enviromnent deteriorates. The repayment of loans secured by 
income-producing properties is typically dependent upon the successfu[ operation of the related real estate project rather than 
upon the liquidation value of the underlying real estate. Furthennore, the net operating income from and value of any 
commercial property are subject to various risks. The exercise of remedies and successful realization of liquidation proceeds 
relating to CMBS and CMBS bonds may be highly dependent upon the performance of the servicer or special servicer. 
Expenses of enforcing the w1derlying commercial real estate loans (including litigation expenses) and expenses of protecting 
the properties securing the commercial real estate loans may be substantial. Consequently, in the event of a default or loss on 
one or more commercial real estate loans contained in a securitization, we may not recover a portion or all of our investment. 

We may not control the special servicing of the mortgage loans underlying the CMBS and CMBS bonds in which we invest 
and, in such cases, the speci{([ servicer may take actions that could adv·ersely affect our interests. 

Overall control over the special servicing of the underlying mortgage loans of the CMBS and CMBS bonds may be held by 
a directing certificate holder, which is appointed by the holders of the most subordinate class of such CMBS and CMBS bonds. 
We ordinarily do not have the right to appoint the directing certificate holder. In connection with the servicing of the specially 
serviced mortgage loans, the related special servicer may, at the direction of the directing certificate holder, take actions that 
could adversely affect our interests. 

We invest in CDOs and such inwstments involve significant risks. 

We invest in CDOs, which are multiple class securities secured by pools of assets, such as CMBS, subordinate mortgage 
and mezzanine loans and REIT debt. Like typical securities structures, in a CDO, the assets are pledged to a trustee for the 
benefit of the holders of the bonds. Like CMBS, CDO notes are affected by payments, defaults, delinquencies and losses on the 
underlying commercial real estate loans. CDOs often have reinvestment periods that typically last for five years during which 
proceeds from the sale of a collateral asset may be invested in substitute collateral. Upon tenninatioo of the reinvestment 
period, the static pool functions very similarly to a CMBS where repayment of principal allows for redemption of bonds 
sequentially. When we invest in the equity securities of a CDO, we will be entitled to aH of the income generated by the CDO 
after the CDO pays all of the interest due on the senior securities and its expenses. However, there will be little or no income or 
principal available to the holders of CDO equity securities if defaults or losses on the underlying collateral exceed a certain 
amount. In that event, the value of our investment in any equity class of a CDO could decrease substantially. In addition, the 
equity securities of CDOs are generally illiquid and often must be held by a REIT and because they represent a leveraged 
investment in the CDO's assets, the value of the equity securities will generally have greater fluctuations than the values of the 
underlying collateral. 

Most of our investments {(re illiquid am/ we may not be able to Vllry our portfolio in response to changes in economic and 
other comlitions, which may result in losses to us. 

Most of our investments are illiquid. As a result, our ability to sell commercial real estate debt, securities or properties in 
response to changes in economic and other conditions, could be limited, even at distressed prices. The Internal Revenue Code 
also places limits on our ability to sell properties held for fewer than two years. These considerations could make it difficult for 
us to dispose of any of our assets even if a disposition were in the best interests of our stockholders. As a result, our abili ty to 
vary our portfolio in response to further changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited, which may result 
in losses to us. 

Some of our investments will be carried at estimated fair value as tletermined by us and, as a result, there may he uncertainty 
as to the value of these investments. 

Some of our investments will be in the fom1 of securities that are recorded at fair value but have limited liquidity or are not 
publicly-traded. The fair value of these securities and potentially other investments that have limited liquidity or are not 
publicly-traded may not be readily detenninable. We estimate the fair value of these investments on a quarterly basis. Because 
such valuations are inherently uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on nwnerous estimates and 
assumptions, our detenninations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a readily 
available market for these securities existed. The value of our conunon stock could be adversely affected if our detenninations 
regarding the fair value of these investments are materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal. 

Competition with third parties for originating am/ acquiring investments may reduce our profitability. 

We have significant competition with respect to our origination and acquisition of assets witl1 many other companies, 
including other REITs, insurance companies, commercial banks, private investment ftmds, hedge funds, specialty finance 
companies and other investors, many of which have greater resources than we, and may not be able to compete successfully for 
investments. In addition, the number of entitnes and tlle amount of funds competing for suitable investments may increase. 
Many of our competitors are not subject to the operating constraints associated with REIT rule compliance or maintenance of an 

10 



Table of Contents 

exclusion from registration tmder the Investment Company Act. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk 
tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of loans and investments, offer 
more attractive pricing or other terms and establish more relationships than us. Furthermore, competition for originations of and 
investments in our target assets may lead to the yields of such assets decreasing, which may further limit our ability to generate 
satisfactory returns. 

This competition may cause us to pay higher prices for investments or originate loans with more generous terms than we 
would otherwise agree to. If this occurs, our investors may experience a lower return on tbeir investment. 

Our due tliligence mtry not reveal all material issues relating to our origination or acquisition of a particular investment. 

Before making an investment, we assess the strength and skills of the management of the borrower or the operator of the 
property and other factors that we believe are material to the performance of the investment. In making the assessment and 
otherwise conducting customary due diligence, we rely on the resources available to us and, in some cases, an investigation by 
third parties. This process is particularly important with respect to newly organized or private entities because there may be 
little or no information publicly available about the entity. However, even if we conduct extensive due diligence on a particular 
investment, there can be no assurance that this diligence will uncover all material issues relating to such investment, that the 
information provided by the borrower is truthful or accurate, or that factors outside of our control will not later arise. If our due 
diligence fails to identify material issues, we have had to in the past and may in the future have to write-down or write-off 
assets, restmcture our investment or incur impairment or other charges that could result in our reporting losses. Charges of this 
nature could contribute to negative market perceptions about us or our shares of common stock. 

We may be unable to restructure loans in a manner that we believe maximizes value, particularly if we are one of multiple 
creditors in large capital structures. 

In order to maximize value in the current environment, we may be more likely to extend and work out a loan, rather than 
pursue foreclosure. However, in situations where there are multiple creditors in large capital structures, it can be particularly 
difficult to assess the most likely course of action that a lender group or the borrower may take and it may also be difficult to 
achieve consensus among the lender group as to major decisions. Consequently, there could be a wide range of potential 
principal recovery outcomes, the timing of which can be unpredictable, based on the strategy pursued by a lender group and/or 
by a borrower. These multiple creditor situations tend to be associated with larger loans. If we are one of a group of lenders, we 
may be a lender on a subordinated basis, and may not independently control the decision making. Consequently, we may be 
unable to restructure a loan in a manner that we believe would maximize value. 

We may be subject to risks associated with future advance obligations, such as declining real estate values and operating 
performance. 

Our commercial real estate debt portfolio may include loans that require us to advance future funds. Future funding 
obligations subject us to significant risks that the property may have declined in value, projects to be completed with the 
additional funds may have cost overruns and the borrower may be unable to generate enough cash flow, or sell or refinance the 
property, to repay our commercial real estate loan due. We could determine that we need to fund more money than we 
originally anticipated to maximize the value of our investment even though there is no assurance that such determination would, 
in fact, be the best course of action. 

We may not be successful in our attempts to align the maturities of our lit1bilities with the maturities on our assets, which 
could harm our operating results and financial com/ilion. 

Our general fmancing strategy will include the use of"match-funded" structures. This means that we will seek to align the 
maturities of our liabilities with the maturities on our assets in order to manage the risks of being forced to refinance our 
liabilities prior to the maturities of our assets. We may fail to appropriately employ match-funded structures on favorable terms, 
or at all, including as a result of the unavailability of COO and CLO financing options. We may also determine not to pursue a 
match-funded structure with respect to a portion of our financings for a variety of reasons. If we fail to appropriately employ 
match-funded structures, our exposure to interest rate volatility and exposure to matching liabilities prior to the maturity of the 
corresponding asset may increase substantially which could harm our operating results, liquidity and fmancial condition. 

Provision for credit losses is difficult to estimttte. 

Our provision for credit losses is evaluated on a quarterly basis. Our detem1ination of provision for credit losses requires us 
to make certain estimates and judgments, which may be difficult to determine. Our estimates and judgments are based on a 
number of factors, including projected cash flows from the collateral securing our commercial real estate debt, debt structure, 
including the availability of reserves and recourse guarantees, likelihood of repayment in full at the maturity of a loan, potential 
for refmancing and expected market discount rates for varying property types, loan-to-value ("LTV"), and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. Our estimates and judgments may not be correct and, 
therefore, our results of operations and financial condition could be severely impacted. 
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Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
lnstmments (Topic 326)," which replaced the "incurred loss" model for recognizing credit losses with an " expected loss" model 
referred to as the Current Expected Credit Loss model ("CECL") became effective for us on January 1, 2020. Under the CECL 
model, we are required to provide allowances for credit losses on certain financial assets carried at amortized cost, such as loans 
held-for-investment and held-to-maturity debt securities, including related future funding commitments and accmed interest 
receivable. The measurement of expected credit losses is based on information about past events, including historical 
experience, current conditions, and forward looking information through the use of projected macroeconomic scenarios over the 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. This measurement takes place at the time the financial asset is first added to the balance 
sheet and updated quarterly thereafter. This differs significantly from the " incurred loss" model previously required under 
GAAP, which delayed recognition until it was probable a loss had been incurred. Accordingly, the adoption of the CECL model 
has materially affected how we determine our credit loss provision and required us to significantly increase our allowance and 
recognize provisions for credit losses earlier in the lending cycle. Moreover, the CECL model created more volatility in the 
level of our credit loss provisions. I f we are required to materially increase our future Level of credit loss allowances for any 
reason, such increase could adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial conditions. 

Any cretlit rc1tings assignetl to our investments will be subject to ongoing evaluations ami revisions ami we cannot assure 
you that those ratings will not be downgratletl. 

Some of our investments may be rated by rating agencies. Any credit ratings on our investments are subject to ongoing 
evaluation by credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such ratings will not be downgraded or withdrawn by a 
rating agency in the future if, in its judgment, circmnstances warrant. If rating agencies assign a lower-than-expected rating or 
reduce or withdraw, or indicate that they may reduce or withdraw, their ratings of our investments in the future, the value and 
liquidity of those investments could significantly decline, which would adversely affect the value of our investment portfolio. 

When we acquire companies, we f ace risks related to integrating the acquiretl company in a manner that allows us to 
achieve the synergies and other benefits of the acquisition or do so within the anticipated time frame. 

From time to time, we may acquire other companies, such as our 2021 acquisition of Capstead Mortgage Corp. Our 
acquisition of companies can create significant risks, including: 

• issues related to the acquired business that were not identified in our diligence review prior to acquisition; 

• 

• 
• 

the significant management attention and resources we would need to devote to integrating the acquired business, 

including any employees of the acquired company; 

costs associated with retaining key employees of the acquired business; 

legal and regulatory burdens associated with the acquired business; and 

potential stockholder dilution as a result of the consideration paid . 

Risks Related to the Conduit Segment of the Business 

We use warehouse facilities that may limit our ability to acquire assets, and we may incur losses if the collateral is 
liquidatetl. 

We utilize warehouse facilities pursuant to which we accumulate mortgage loans in anticipation of a securitization 
financing, which assets are pledged as collateral for such facilities until the securitization transaction is consummated. In order 
to borrow funds to acquire assets under any additional warehouse facilities, we expect that our lenders thereunder would have 
the right to review the potential assets for which we are seeking fmancing. We may be unable to obtain the consent of a lender 
to acquire assets that we believe would be beneficial to us and we may be unable to obtain altemate financing for such assets. In 
addition, no assurance can be given that a securitization transaction would be consummated with respect to the assets being 
warehoused. If the securitization is not consummated, the lender could liquidate the warehoused collateral and we would then 
have to pay any amom1t by which the original purchase price of the collateral assets exceeds its sale price, subject to negotiated 
caps, if any, on our exposure. In addition, regardless of whether the securitization is consummated, if any of the warehoused 
collateral is sold before the consummation. we would have to bear any resulting loss on the sale. No assurance can be given that 
we will be able to obtain additional warehouse facilities on favorable terms, or at aU. 

We directly and indirectly utilize non-recourse securitizations, anti such structures expose us to risks that could result in 
losses to us. 

We utilize non-recourse securitizations of our investments in mortgage loans to the extent consistent with the maintenance 
of our REIT qualification and exemption from the Investment Company Act in order to generate cash for funding new 
investments and/or to leverage existing assets. In most instances, this involves us transferring our loans to a special purpose 
securitization entity in exchange for cash. In some sale transactions, we also retain a subordinated interest in the loans sold. The 
securitization of our portfolio investments might magnify our exposure to losses on those portfolio investments because the 
subordinated interest we retain in the loans sold would be subordinate to the senior interest in the loans sold, and we would, 
therefore, absorb all of the losses sustained with respect to a loan sold before the owners of the senior interest experience any 
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losses. Moreover, we cannot be assured that we will be able to access the securitization market in the future, or be able to do so 
at favorable rates. The inability to consummate securitizations of our portfolio invesnnents to fmance our investments on a 
long-term basis could require us to seek other forms of potentially less attrdctive financing or to liquidate assets at an 
inopportune time or price, which could adversely affect our perfom1ance and our ability to continue to grow our business. 

The securitization market is subject to a regulatory environment that may affect certain aspects of these activities. 

As a result of the dislocation of the credit markets in prior years, the securitization industry has become subject to 
additional regulation. In particular, pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refom1 and Consumer Protection Act, various 
federal agencies have promulgated a rule that generally requires issuers in securitizations to retain 5% of the risk associated 
with the securities. While the rule as adopted generally allows the purchase of the CMBS B-Piece by a party not affiliated with 
the issuer to satisfy the risk retention requirement, current CMBS B-Pieces are generally not large enough to fully satisfy the 
5% requirement. Accordingly, buyers ofB-Pieces such as us may be required to purchase larger B-Pieces, potentially reducing 
returns on such investments. Furthennore, any such B-Pieces purchased by a party (such as us) unaffiliated with the issuer 
generally cannot be transferred for a period of five years following the closing date of the securitization or hedged against credit 
risk. These restrictions would reduce our liquidity and could potentially reduce our returns on such invesnnents. 

We enter into hedging transactions that coultl expose us to contingent liabilities in the ji1ture. 

Subject to maintaining our qualification as a REIT, part of our investment strategy involves entering into hedging 
transactions that require us to fund cash payments in certain circumstances (such as the early temtination of the hedging 
instrument caused by an event of default or other early termination event, or the decision by a counterparty to request margin 
securities it is contractually owed under the tem1s of the hedging instrument). The amount due would be equal to the unrealized 
loss of the open swap positions with the respective counterparty and could also include other fees and charges. These economic 
losses will be reflected in our results of operations, and our ability to ftmd these obligations will depend on the liquidity of our 
assets and access to capital at the time, and the need to fund these obligations could adversely impact our financial condition. 

Hedging against interest rate exposure may (U/versely affect our income, limit our gains or result in losses, which coultl 
(1(/versely affect cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 

We enter into interest rate swap agreements and pursue other interest rate hedging strategies. Our hedging activity will vary 
in scope based on interest rate levels, the type of investments held, and other changing market conditions. Interest rate hedging 
may fail to protect or could adversely affect us because, among other things: 

interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest rates; 
available interest rate hedging may not correspond directly with the interest rate risk for which protection is sought; 
the duration of the hedge may not match the duration of the related liability or asset; 
our hedging opporttmities may be limited by the treatment of income from hedging transactions tmder the mles 
determining REIT qualification; 
the credit quality of the party owing money on the hedge may be downgraded to such an extent that it impairs our 
ability to sell or assign our side of the hedging transactions; 
the party owing money in the hedging transaction may default on its obligation to pay; and 
we may purchase a hedge that turns out not to be necessary. 

Any hedging activity we engage in may adversely affect our income, which could adversely affect cash available for 
distribution. Therefore, while we may enter into such transactions to seek to reduce interest rate risks, unanticipated changes in 
interest rates may result in poorer overall investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such hedging transactions. 
In addition, the degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging strategy and price 
movements in the portfolio positions being hedged or liabilities being hedged may vary materially. Moreover, for a variety of 
reasons, we may not be able to establish a perfect correlation between hedging instruments and the investment being hedged. 
Any such imperfect correlation may prevent us from achieving the intended hedge and expose us to risk of loss. 

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest 

The Advisor faces conflicts of interest relating to purchasing commercial real estate-relate(/ investments, ami such conflicts 
may not be resolved in our favor, which could ll(/versely affect our investment opportunities. 

We rely on the Advisor alild the executive officers and other key real estate professionals employed by our Advisor to 
identify suitable investment opportunHies for us. The Advisor and its employees are subject to very limited restrictions on 
engaging in investment and investment management activities that are unrelated to us and! compete with us. The Advisor 
currently manages other investment programs that share similar investment objectives with us and target similar investments as 
us, including Franklin BSP Real Estate Debt, Inc. (a non-traded REIT) and two private funds, and may in the ft1ture advise 
additional competing investment programs (together, the "Other Funds"). Some investment opportunities that are suitable for 
the Other Funds. Thus, the executive officers and real estate professionals of the Advisor could direct attractive investment 
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opportunities to other entities or investors, including the Other Funds. In addition, we have in the past and expect in the future 
to engage in transactions with the Other Funds, including co-investment transactions, and these transactions may not be on 
terms as favorable as transactions with unaffiliated third parties. Such events could result in us investing in assets that provide 
less attractive returns, which may reduce our ability to make distributions. In addition, the fees paid to the Advisor by the Other 
Funds differ from the fees we pay pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, and these differences could create incentives for the 
Advisor to favor the Other Funds. 

The At/visor and its employees face competing demands relating to their time, ami this may cause our operating results to 
suffer. 

The Advisor and its employees are engaged in investment and investment management activities unrelated to us, including 
with respect to the Other Funds. We catmot provide any assurances regarding the amount oftime our Advisor and its employees 
will dedicate to the management of our business. Each of our officers is also an employee of our Advisor, who has now or may 
be expected to have significant responsibilities for the Other Funds. Consequently, we may not receive the level of support and 
assistance that we otherwise might receive if we were internally managed. Because these persons have competing demands on 
their time and resources, they may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time between our business and these other 
activities. If this occurs, the returns on our investments may suffer. 

The fee structure set forth in .the Atlvisory Agreement may not create proper incentives for the Advisor. 

We pay the Advisor a base management fee regardless of our performance and an incentive fee that is based on our 
performance .. Since the base management fee is based on total stockholder equity, the Advisor may be incentivized to focus on 
strategies that increase our equity even when doing so will not optimize the returns for our stockholders. The incentive fe.e may 
create an incentive for our Advisor to invest in assets with higher yield potential, which are generally riskier or more 
speculative, or sell an asset prematurely for a gain, in an effort to increase our short-term net income and thereby increase the 
incentive fees to which it is entitled. 

Our At/visor manages our portfolio pursuant to brolul investment guidelines ami is not required to seek the approval of our 
boa rtf of directors for each im,estment, financing, asset allocation or .hetlging decision made by it, which may result in our 
making riskier loans and other investments and which coulrl materially and adversely ltjfect us. 

Our Advisor is authorized to follow broad investment guidelines that provide it with substantial discretion regarding 
investment, fmancing, asset allocation and hedging decisions. Our board of directors will periodically review our investment 
guidelines and our portfolio but will not, and will not be required to, review and approve in advance all of our proposed loans 
and other invesunems or our Advisor's financing, asset allocation or ihedging decisions. In addition, in conducting periodic 
reviews, our directors may rely primarily on information provided, or recommendations made, to them by our Advisor or its 
affiliates. Subject to maintaining our REIT qualification and our exclusion or exemption from regulation under the Investment 
Company Act, our Advisor has significant latitude within the broad investtnent guidelines in determining the types of loans and 
other investments it makes for us, and how such loans and other invesunents are financed or hedged, which could result in 
investment returns that are substantially below expectations or losses, which could materially and adversely affect us. 

Our At/visor maintains a contractual as opposed to a fiduciary relationship with us. Our Advisor's liability is limited under 
our Advisory Agreement, and we have agreed to indemnify our Advisor against certain liabilities. 

Pursuant to our Advisory Agreement, our Advisor assumes no responsibility to us other than to render the services called 
for thereunder in good faith and will not be responsible for any action of our board of directors in following or declining to 
follow its advice or recommendations, including as set forth in our investment guidelines. Our Advisor maintains a contractual 
as opposed to a fiduciary relationship with us. Under the terms of our Advisory Agreement, our Advisor and its affiliates and 
the officers, directors, equity holders, members, partners, stockholders, other equity holders and employees of our Advisor, will 
not be liable to us, any subsidiary of ours, our board of directors, our stockholders or any of our subsidiaries' stockholders, 
members or partners for acts or omissions perfonned in accordance with and pursuant to our Advisory Agreement, except by 
reason of fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement of fm1ds of the Company or acts or omissions constituting bad faith, willful 
misfeasance, intentional misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties under our Advisory Agreement. We 
have agreed to indemnify our Advisor, its affiliates and the officers, directors, equity holders, members, partners, stockholders, 
other equity holders and employees of our Advisor and its affiliates from any and all liability, claims, damages or losses arising 
in the performance of their duties, and related expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees in respect of or arising from any 
acts or omissions of such party performed in good faith under our Advisory Agreement and not constituting bad faith, fraud, 
willful misfeasance, intentional misconduct, gross negligence or reckless disregard of duties of such party under our Advisory 
Agreement. As a result, we could experience poor perfonnance or losses for which our Advisor would not be liable. 

Termination of our Allvisory Agreement would be difficult and costly. 

The circumstances under which we can terminate our Advisory Agreement for cause are limited and do not include 
performance .. Termination of our Advisory Agreement without cause would be difficult and costly. The Advisory Agreement 
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may be terminated each year without cause upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of our independent directors, based 
upon a determination that (i) our Advisor's performance is unsatisfactory and materially detrin1ental to us or (ii) the base 
management fee and aruma! incentive fee payable to our Advisor are not fair (provided that in this instance, our Advisor will be 
afforded the opportunity to renegotiate the management fee and incentive fees prior to termination). We are required to provide 
our Advisor with 180 days prior notice of any such tennination. Additionally, upon such a tennination, or if we materially 
breach the Advisory Agreement and our Advisor terminates our Advisory Agreement, the Advisory Agreement provides that 
we will pay our Advisor a termination fee equal to three times the sum of the average annual base management fee and the 
average annual incentive fee paid or payable to the Advisor during the 24-month period immediately preceding the most 
recently completed calendar quarter prior to the termination. These provisions increase the cost to us of tenninating the 
Advisory Agreement and adversely affect our ability to terminate our Advisor without cause. 

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure 

The limit on the number of shares a person may own may discourage a takeover that could otherwise result in a premium 
price to our stockholders. 

The Company's charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes the board of directors to take such actions as are necessary and 
desirable to preserve our qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by the board of directors, no person or entity may own more 
than 7.9% in value of the aggregate of our outstanding shares of stock or more than 7.9% (in value or in number of shares, 
whichever is more restrictive) of any class or series of shares of our stock determined afte-r applying certain rules of attribution. 
Tllis restriction may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary 
transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all our assets) that might provide a premium price for 
holders of our cmmnon stock. 

Certain provisions of Maryland law coultl inhibit a change in control of our Company. 

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law ("MGCL") may have tbe effect of inhibiting a third party 
from making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change in control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the 
holders of shares of our common stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such 
shares, including: 

"business combination" provisions that, subject to linlitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and 
an "interested stockholder" (defmed generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of our then 
outstanding voting power of our shares or an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period 
prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of our then outstanding voting shares) or an 
affiliate thereof for five years after the most recent date on which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, 
and thereafter imposes special appraisal rights and special stockholder voting requirements on these combinations; and 
"control share" provisions that provide that "control shares" of our company (defined as shares which, when 
aggregated with other shares controlled by the stockholder, entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing 
ranges of voting power in electing directors) acquired in a "control share acquisition" (defined as the direct or indirect 
acquisition of ownership or control of "control shares") have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our 
stockholders by the a fftnnative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all 
interested shares. 

Pursuant to the MGCL, our board of directors has exempted any business combination involving our Advisor or any 
affiliate of our Advisor. Consequently, the five-year prohibition and the super-majority vote requirements will not apply to 
business combinations between us and our Advisor or any affi liate of our Advisor. 

In addition, the Company's bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share provisions any and all acquisitions 
of our stock by any person. Tbere can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time in the 
future. 

In addition, the "unsolicited takeover" provisions of Tille 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL permit the Board, without shareholder 
approval and regardless of what is currently provided in the charter or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses, 
including adopting a classified board or increas ing the vote required to remove a director. Such takeover defenses may have the 
effect of inhibiting a third-party fTom making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in 
control of us under the circUll1stances that otherwise could provide our common stockholders with the opport1mity to realize a 
premium over the then-current market price. 

Risks Related to Taxation 

Our failure to qualify as a REIT could have significant adverse consequences to us and the value of our common stock. 

We believe that we have qualified as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year 
ended December 31, 20 13. We intend to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT, but we 
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cannot assure stockholders that we qualify as a REIT. Qualification as a REIT involves the application ofbighly technical and 
complex Internal Revenue Code provisions for which only a limited number of judicial and administrative interpretations exist. 
Moreover, new tax legislation, administrative guidance or court decisions, in each instance potentially with retroactive effect, 
could make it more difficult or impossible for us to qualify as a REIT. Even an inadvertent or teclmical mistake could 
jeopardize our RETT status. 

Our qualification as a REU depends on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder 
ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis: 

Our compliance depends upon the characterization of our assets and income for REIT purposes, as well as the relative 
values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination and for which we typically do not 
obtaJin independent appraisals. Moreover, we invest in certain assets with respect to which the rules applicable to 
REITs may be particularly difficult to interpret or to apply, including the rules applicable to financing arrangements 
that are stmctured as sale and repurchase agreements; mezzanine loans; and investments in real estate mortgage loans 
that are acquired at a discount, subject to work-outs or modifications, or reasonably expected to be in default at the 
time of acquisition. If the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") challenged our treatment of investments for purposes of 
the REIT asset and income tests, and if such a challenge were sustained, we could fail to qualify as a REIT. 
The fact that we own direct or indirect interests in an entity that will elect to be taxed as a REIT tmder the U.S. federal 
income tax laws (a "Subsidiary REIT"), further complicates the application of the REIT requirements for us. The 
Subsidiary REIT is subject to the various REIT qualification requirements that are applicable to us and certain other 
requirements. If the Subsidiary REIT were to fail to qualify as a REIT, then (i) it would become subject to regular U.S. 
federal corporate income tax, (ii) our interest in such Subsidiary REIT would cease to be a qualifying asset for 
purposes of the REIT asset tests, and (iii) it is possible that we would fail certain of the REIT asset tests, in which 
event we also would fail to qualify as a REIT unless we could avail ourselves of relief provisions. 

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year and are unable to avail ourselves of certain savings provisions set 
forth in the Internal Revenue Code, we would be subject to U.S federal and applicable state and local income tax on our taxable 
income at regular corporate rates. In addition, we would possibly also be subject to certain taxes that are applicable to non­
REIT corporations, including the nondeductible I% excise tax on certain stock repurchases. Losing our REIT status would 
reduce our net income available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability. In addition, 
distributions to stockholders would no longer qualify for the dividends-p·aid deduction, and we would no longer be required to 
make distributions. If this occurs, we might be required to borrow or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable 
tax. We would not be able to elect to be taxed as a REIT for four years following the year we ftrst failed to qualify w1Iess tbe 
IRS were to grant us relief under certain statutory provisions. 

The failure of a mezzanine loan to qualify as ll real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. 

The IRS has issued Revenue Procedure 2003-65, which provides a safe harbor pursuant to which a mezzanine loan, if it 
meets certain requirements, will be treated by the IRS as a real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests, and interest 
derived from such loan will be treated as qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the REIT 75% gross income test. 
Although the Revenue Procedure provides a safe harbor on which taxpayers may rely, it does not prescribe rules of substantive 
tax law. We may originate or acquire mezzanine loans that do not satisfy all of the requirements for reliance on the safe harbor 
set forth in the Revenue Procedure, in which case, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the tax treatment of 
such loans. If such a challenge were sustained, we could fail to qualify as a REIT. 

Even if we q11alify as a REIT, we may be subject to tllx liabilities that retluce our cash flow for distribution to our 
stockholders_ 

Even if we qualify as a REIT, we may be subject to some U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income or property. For 
example: 

• In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our "REIT taxable income" (determined 

before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net capita] gains) to our stockholders. To the extent that we 

satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to 

U.S. federal corporate income tax on our undistributed income. These requirements could cause us to distribute 

amounts that otherwise would be spent on investments in real estate assets, and it is possible that we might be required 

to borrow f1mds or sell assets to f1md these distributions. 
We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions we pay in any 
calendar year are less than the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary income, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net income and (iii) 
I 00% of our undistributed income fTom prior years. 
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If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property that we bold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary 
course of business or other non-qualifying income from foreclosure property, we must pay a tax on that income at the 
highest corporate income tax rate. 
If we sell an asset, other than a foreclosure property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course 
ofbiusiness, our gain would be subject t:o the I 00% "prohibited transaction" t:ax. We might be subject to this tax if we 
were to dispose of or securitize loans in a manner that is treated as a sale of loans for U.S. federal income tax purposes 
that is subject to the prohibited transaction tax. 
Any taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS") of ours will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its taxable 
income, and non-am1's length transactions between us and any TRS could be subject to a I 00% tax. 
We could, in certain circumstances, be required to pay an excise or penalty tax (which could be significant in amount) 
in order to utilize one or more relief provisions tmder the Internal Revenue Code to maintain our qualification as a 
REIT. 

Any of these taxes would decrease cash available for distribution to our stockholders. 

The failure of assets subject to repurchase agreements to qualify as real estt1te assets could adversely affect our ability to 
qualify as a RE/1: 

We are party to certain financing arrangements, and may in the future enter into additional financing arrangements, that are 
structured as sale and repurchase agreements pursuant to which we would nominally sell certain of our assets to a counterparty 
and simultaneously enter into an agreement to repurchase these assets at a later date in exchange for a purchase price. 
Economically, these agreements are financings which are secured by the assets sold pursuant thereto. We believe that we would 
be treated for REIT asset and income test purposes as the owner of the assets that are the subject of any such sale and 
repurchase agreement notwithstanding that such agreement may transfer record ownership of the assets to t11e counterparty 
during the term of the agreement. It is possible, however, that the IRS could assert that we did not own the assets during the 
term of the sale and repurchase agreement, in which case we could fail to qualify as a REIT. 

The "taxable mortgage pool" rules may increase the taxes that we or our stockholders incur, and may limit the manner in 
which we effect future securitizations. 

Securitizations in the fonn of bonds or notes secured principally by mortgage loans generally result in the creation of 
taxable mortgage pools ("TMPs") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The debt securities issued by TMPs are sometimes 
referred to as "collateralized mortgage obligations" ("CMOs"). We have issued CMOs through TMPs. Unless a TMP is wholly­
owned by a REIT, it is subject to taxation as a corporation. However, so long as a REIT owns 100% of the equity interests in a 
TMP, the TMP will not be taxed as a corporation. Instead, certain categories of the REJT's stockholders, such as foreign 
stockholders eligible for treaty or sovereign benefits, stockholders with met operating losses, and generally tax-exempt 
stockholders that are subject to unrelated business income tax, may be subject to taxation, or to increased taxes, on any portion, 
known as "excess inclusions," of their dividend income from the REIT that is attributable to the TMP, but only to the extent 
that the REIT actually distributes "excess inclusions" to them. We intend not to distribute "excess inclusions," but to pay the tax 
on "excess inclusions" ourselves. Notwithstanding our intention to try to avoid distributions to our stockholders of"excess 
inclusions," it is possible that some portion of our dividends to our stockholders may be so characterized. 

In order to better control, and to attempt to avoid, the distribution of "excess inclusions" to our stockJ1olders, as of January 
1, 2022, our TMPs are wholly-owned by a Subsidiary REIT. Because our TMPs must at all times be owned by a REIT, we are 
restricted from selling equity interests in them, or selling any notes or bonds issued by them that might be considered to be 
equity for tax purposes, to other investors if doing so would subject them to taxation. These restrictions limit the liquidity of our 
investment in our TMPs and may prevent us from incurring greater leverage on that investment in order to maximize our 
returns from it. 

The prohibited transactions tax may limit our ability to engage in transactions, including certain methods of securitizing 
mortgage loans that would be treated as sales for U.S. fetleral income tax purposes. 

A REIT's net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibited transactions are sales or 
other dispositions of assets, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordunary course of 
business. We might be subject to the prohibited transaction tax if we were to dispose of, modify or securitize loans in a manner 
that is treated as a sale of the loans for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, in order to avoid the prohibited transactions 
tax, we may choose not to engage in certain sales or modifications of loans at the REIT level and may limit the structures we 
utilize for our securitization transactions, even though the sales, modifications or structures might otherwise be beneficial to us. 
Additionally, we may be subject to the prohibited transaction tax upon a disposition of real property. Although a safe-harbor 
exception to prohibited transaction treatment is. available, there can be no assmance that we can comply with the safe harbor or 
that we will avoid owning property that may be characterized as held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of 
business. 
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It may be possible to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax by conducting certain activities through a TRS. 
However, to the extent that we engage in such activities through a TRS, the income associated with such activities may be 
subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax. 

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to lzellge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities. 

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code may limit our ability to effectively hedge our assets and operations. 
Under the REIT provisions, any income that we generate from hedging transactions will be excluded from gross income for 
purposes of the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests if the instrument hedges: (i) interest rate risk on liabilities incurred to 
carry or acquire real estate assets; or (ii) risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be 
qualifying income w1der the REIT 75% or 95% gross income tests, and such instrument is properly identified under applicable 
U.S. Department of Treasury regulations ("Treasury Regulations"). Income from hedging transactions that do not meet these 
requirements will generally constitute non-qualifying income for purposes of both the RETT 75% and 95% gross income tests. 
As a result, we may have to limit our use of hedging techniques that might otherwise be advantageous, which could result in 
greater risks associated with interest rate or other changes than we would otherwise incur. 

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our RE/1' qualification. 

To qualify as a REIT, we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income. If we are 
compelled to liquidate our investments to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply whh these 
requirements, ultimately jeopardizing our qualification as a REIT, or we may be subject to a 100% prohibited transaction tax on 
any resultant gain if we sell assets that are treated as dealer property or inventory. 

Motlification of the terms of our debt investments ami mortgage loans underlying our CMBS in conjzmction with reductions 
in the value of the real property securing such loans coultl cause us to fail to qualifY as a REIT. 

Our debt and securities investments may be materially affected by changes in the real estate market and economy in 
general. As a result, many of the terms of our debt and the mortgage loans underlying our securities may be modified to avoid 
taking title to a property. Under the Internal Revenue Code, if tlle terms of a loan are modified in a manner constituting a 
"significant modification," such modification triggers a deemed exchange of tl1e original loan for tl1e modified loan. In general, 
under applicable Treasury Regulations if a loan is secured by real property and other property and the highest principal amount 
of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property securing the loan detennined as 
of the date we agreed to acquire tlle loan or the date we significantly modified t11e loan, a portion of the interest income from 
such loan will not be qualifying income for purposes of the REIT 75% gross income test, but will be qualifying income for 
purposes of the REIT 95% gross income test. Although the law is not entirely clear, a portion of the loan will likely be a non­
qualifying asset for purposes of the REIT 75% asset test. The non-qualifying portion of such a loan would be subject to, among 
other requirements, the requirement that a REIT not hold securities possessing more tllan 10% of the total value of the 
outstanding securities of any one issuer(" 10% Value Test"). 

IRS Revenue Procedure 2014-51 provides a safe harbor pursuant to which we will not be required to redetermine the fair 
market value of real property securing a loan for purposes of the gross income and asset tests discussed above in connection 
with a loan modification that is: (i) occasioned by a borrower default; or (ii) made at a time when we reasonably believe that the 
modification to the loan will substantially reduce a significant risk of default on the original loan. No assurance can be provided 
tl1at all of our loan modifications have or will qualify for the safe harbor in Revenue Procedure 2014-51. To the extent we 
significantly modify loans in a manner that does not qualify for tllat safe harbor, we will be required to redetermine the value of 
the real property securing the loan at tl1e time it was significantly modified. 111 determining the value of the real property 
securing such a loan, we generally will not obtain third-party appraisals, but rather will rely on internal valuations. No 
assurance can be provided that the IRS will not successfully challenge our internal valuations. If the terms of our debt 
investments and the mortgage loans underlying our CMBS are "significantly modified" in a manner that does not qualify for the 
safe harbor in Revenue Procedure 2014-51 and the fair market value of tlhe real property securing such loans has decreased 
significantly, we could fail the REIT 75% gross income test, the 75% asset test and/or the 10% Value Test Unless we qualified 
for relief under certain Internal Revenue Code cure provisions, such failures could cause us to fail to continue to qualify as a 
REIT. 

Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws, including the enactment of certain tax reform measures, could have a material 
and adverse effect on us. 

U.S. federal income tax laws governing REITs and other corporations and tlle administrative interpretations of those laws 
may be amended at any time, potentially with retroactive effect. Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws, including the 
possibility of major tax legislation, could have a material and adverse effect on us or our stockholders. We cannot predict 
whether, when, to what extent or with what effective dates new U.S. federal tax laws, regulations, interpretations or rulings will 
be issued. Prospective investors are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding tl1e effect of potential changes to the U.S. 
federal tax laws on an investment in our stock. 
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Risks Related to an Investment in Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

Public health crises have adversely impacted, ami may in the future adversely impact, our business and the business of many 
of our borrowers. 

Public health crises can have repercussions across domestic and global economies and financial markets. For example, the 
COVID-19 pandemic resulted in many governmental authorities imposing significant restrictions on businesses and individuals 
that triggered economic consequences, including high unemployment, then high inflation. that resulted in challenging operating 
conditions for many businesses, particularly in the retail (including restaurants), office and hospitality sectors. These actions 
directly and indirectly adversely affected the financing markets and resulted in margin calls from our lenders, which we 
satisfied. 

The extent to which pandemics and similar health crises impact our or our borrowers' operations will depend on future 
developments which are highly uncertain and caru1ot be predicted with confidence, includling the scope, severity and duration of 
the crises, treatment developments and government responses to the events. The inability of our borrowers to meet their loan 
obligations and/or borrowers filing for bankruptcy protection as a result of these events would reduce our cash flows, which 
would impact our ability to pay dividends to our stockholders. 

We may be unable to maintain or increase cash tlistributions over time, or may decitle to retluce the amount of tlistributions 
for business .reasons. 

There are many factors that can affect the amount and timing of cash distributions to stock110lders. The amount of cash 
available for distributions is a ffected by many factors, such as the cash provided by the Company's investments and obligations 
to repay indebtedness as well as many other variables. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to pay or maintain 
the current level of distributions or that distributions will increase over time. In certain prior periods, quarterly distributions 
have been in excess of our quarterly earnings. Distributions in excess of earnings decrease the book value per share of common 
stock. The Company cannot give any assurance that returns from the investments will be sufficient to maintain or increase cash 
available for distributions to stockholders. Actual results may differ signlficantly from tJ1e assumptions used by the board of 
directors in establishing tJ1e distribution rate to stockholders. The Company may not have sufficient cash from operations to 
make a distribution required to qualify for or maintain our REIT status, which may materially adversely affect the value of our 
securities. 
Our business could suffer in the event our At/visor or any other party that provitles us with services essential to our 
operations experiences system failures or cyber-incitlents or a tleficiency in cybersecurity. 

Despite system redundancy, the implementation of security measures and me existence of a disaster recovery plan for the 
internal information technology systems of our Advisor and other parties that provide us with services essential to our 
operations, these systems are vulnerable to damage from any number of sources, including computer viruses, unauthorized 
access, energy blackouts, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication failures. Any system failure or accident that 
causes interruptions in our operations could result in a material disruption to our business. 

As reliance on technology in our industry has increased, so have the risks posed to the systems of our Advisor and other 
parties iliat provide us or me Advisor with services essential to our operations, boili internal and outsourced. In addition, the 
risk of a cyber-incident, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as tJ1e 
number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from armmd the world have increased. Even the most 
well protected infonnation, networks, systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable because the techniques used in su ch 
attempted attacks and intrusions evolve and generally are not recognized untillatmched against a target, and in some cases are 
designed not to be detected and, in fact, may not be detected. 

The remediation costs and lost revenues experienced by a victim of a cyber-incident may be significant and significant 
resources may be required to repair system damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to alleviate 
problems, including reputational hann, loss of revenues and litigation, caused by any breaches. 

AltJ10ugh the Advisor and other parties that provide us with services essential to om operations intend to continue to 
implement industry-standard security measures, there can be no assurance that iliose measures will be sufficient. We and the 
Advisor continue to face ongoing and increasing cybersecurity risks which may materially affect us in the future and there can 
be no assurance that our or the Advisor' s cybersecurity efforts and measures will be effective or that attempted cybersecurity 
incidents or disruptions would not be successful or damaging. Any material adverse effect experienced by the Advisor and 
other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations could, in turn, have an adverse impact on us. 

Further information relating to cybersecuriity risk management is discussed in Item lC. "Cybersecurity" in iliis report. 

We are subject to risks from natural disasters such as earthquakes and severe weather, inclutling as the result of global 
climate changes, which may result in damage to the properties securing our loans. 

Natural disasters and severe weather such as eariliquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes or floods may res11lt in significant 
damage to tJ1e properties securing our loans or in which we invest. In addition, our investments may be exposed to new or 
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increased risks and liabilities associated with global climate change, such as increased frequency or intensity of adverse weather 
and natural disasters, which could negatively impact our and our borrowers' businesses and the value of the properties securing 
our loans or in which we invest. The extent of our or our borrowers' casualty losses and loss in operating income in connection 
with such events is a function of the severity of the event and the total amount of exposure in the affected area. While the 
geographic distribution of our portfolio somewhat limits our physical climate risk, some physical risk is inherent in the 
properties of our borrowers, particularly in certain borrowers' locations and in the unknown potential for extreme weather or 
other events that could occur related to climate change. We may be materially and adversely affected by our exposure to losses 
arising from natural disasters or severe weather, including those associated with global climate change. 

In addition, global climate change concems could result in additional legislation and regulatmy requirements, 
including those associated with the transition to a low-carbon economy, which could increase expenses or otherwise adversely 
impact our business, results of operations and financial condition, or the business, results of operations and financial conditiion 
of our borrowers. 

Item lB. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

None. 

Item lC. Cyb ersecurity. 

Management ami Board Oversight 

Our Board oversees risk management for the Company including through its approval of the investment policy and other 
policies of the Company and its oversight of the Advisor. For certain risks, the Board has delegated oversight responsibilities 

to committees of the Board. For example, the Compensation Committee oversees and reports to the Board on the assessment 
and mitigation of risks associated with the Company's and the Advisor's compensation policies and practices, and the 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assists our Board with assessing risks associated with conflicts of interest 
and with ESG matters. Cybersecurity risk management is integrated into this broader risk management framework. The Board 
has delegated to the Audit Committee oversight of management's programs and policies to identify, assess, manage, mitigate 
and monitor significant business risks of the Company, including privacy, information technology and cybersecurity risks. 

Information Technology and Cybersecurity Risks 

We have no employees and rely on the Advisor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Franklin Templeton, to manage our day-to­
day operations pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Therefore, we rely heavily on Franklin Templeton' s information systems 

and their program for defending against and responding to cybersecurity threats and incidents. Franklin Templeton maintains a 

robust cybersecurity defense program, including a dedicated cybersecurity team led by its Chief Security Officer ("CISO"). 
The CISO, who reports directMy to the Franklin Templeton Executive Vice President, Chief Risk and Transformation Officer, 
has 30 years of experience in tthe information technology and cybersecurity field and has been at Franklin Templeton for 13 
years. The CISO provides regular briefings for our senior management team on cybersecurity matters, including threats, 

events, and program enhancements. 

In the event of an incident which jeopardizes the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of the infonnation teclmology 
systems the Advisor uses to provide services to us pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, Franklin Templeton's cybersecurity 
team utilizes a regularly updated cybersecurity incident response plan that was developed based on, and is periodically 
benchmarked to, applicable third-party cybersecurity standards and frameworks. Pursuant to that plan and its escalation 
protocols, designated personnel are responsible for assessing the severity of the incident and associated threat, containing the 
threat, remediating the t11reat, including recovery of data and access to systems, analyzing the reporting obligations associated 
with the incident, and perfom1ing post-incident analysis and program improvements. While the particular personnel assigned 
to an incident response team will depend on the particular facts and circumstances, the response team is led by the CISO or his 

delegee. In addition, the Audit Committee approved a Company policy that supplements the Franklin Templeton incident 
response plan witl1 respect to cybersecurity incidents that have impacted or are expected to impact the Company, including by 
impacting the Advisor's ability to provide services to the Company pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Pursuant to this 
policy the Advisor and Franklin Templeton are required to notify and brief Company senior management and the Audit 
Committee with respect to certain matters related to applicable cybersecurity incidents. The policy also designates 
responsibility to specified members of our senior management for Company disclosure determinations rela ted to the incident. 

The Audit Committee oversees, on behalf of the Board, the Company's privacy, information teclmology and security and 
cybersecurity risk exposures, including (i) the potential impact of those exposures on the Company's business, financial results, 
operations and reputation, (ii) the programs and steps implemented by management to monitor and mitigate any exposures, (iii) 
the Company's information governance and information security policies and programs, and (iv) major legislative and 
regulatory developments that could materially impact the Company's privacy, data security and cybersecurity risk exposure. 
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Some members of the Audit Committee have completed certifications in cybersecurity, including one from the National 
Association of Corporate Directors (NACD) in Cyber-Risk Oversight. On a quarterly basis, the CISO or its delegee report to 
the Board or Audit Committee on information teclmology and cybersecurity matters, including a detailed threat assessment 
relating to information teclmology risks. 

Processes for Assessing, /den tifying and Managing Material Risks from Cybersecurity Threats 

The Franklin Templeton cybersecurity program focuses on (I) preventing and preparing for cybersecurity incidents, (2) 
detecting and analyzing cybersecurity incidents, and (3) containing, eradicating, recovering from and reporting cybersecurity 
events. The Company has a policy that supplements the Franklin Templeton cybersecurity incident response plan and 
addresses reporting and disclosure considerations related to a cybersecurity incident. 

Prevention and Preparation 

Franklin Templeton undertakes regular internal and external security audits and vulnerability assessments to reduce the risk 
of a cybersecurity incident and they implement business continuity, contingency and recovery plans to mitigate the impact of an 
incident. As part of these efforts, Franklin Templeton periodically engages consultants to conduct external reviews of its 
vulnerabilities, including penetration testing and compromise assessments. Franklin Templeton employs identity and access 
management including broad adoption of multifactor authentication, geo-location blocking, behavior analytics and controls 
aligned to a zero trust model. 

Franklin Templeton and the Advisor recognize that threat actors frequently target em[ployees to gain unauthorized access to 
information systems. Therefore, a key element of their prevention efforts is employee training on their data privacy and cyber 
security procedures. For example, new hires receive mandatory privacy and information security training. In addition, current 
employees of the Advisor must complete mandatory annual cybersecurity and data trainings, which are supplemented by 
regular phishing and other cyber-related awareness activities and trainings that we conduct throughout the year. 

We recognize that third parties that provide information systems used by the Advisor to provide services to the Company 
can be subject to cybersecurity incidents t11at could impact the Company. To mitigate tllird party risk, Franklin Templeton 
requires third party vendors to comply with our confidentiality, security, and privacy requirements. Third-party IT vendors are 
also subject to additional diligence such as questionnaires and inquiries. 

As discussed above, to support its preparedness Franklin Templeton has an incident response plan that it periodically 

updates. In addition, Franklin Templeton performs regularly scheduled tabletop exercises and periodic drills at least once a 

year to test its incident response procedures, identify improvement opportunities and exercise team preparedness. Franklin 
Templeton also maintains cybersecurity insurance providing coverage for certain costs related to security failures and specified 
cybersecurity-related incidents that interrupt our network or networks of our vendors, in all cases up to specified limits and 
subject to certain exclusions. 

Detection and Analysis 

Cybersecurity incidents may be detected through a variety of means, which may include, but are not limited to, automated 
event-detection notifications or similar technologies which are monitored by the Franklin Templeton cyber defense team, 
notifications from employees, borrowers or service providers, and notifications from third party information technology sys.tem 
providers. Franklin Templeton also has a threat intelligence program that performs proactive analyses leveraging internal, 

government and third party provided intelligence to identify and mitigate risks to the firm. Once a potential cybersecurity 
incident is identified, including a third party cybersecurity event, the incident response team designated pursuant to tl1e Franklin 
Templeton incident response plan follows the procedures set forth in the plan to investigate the potential incident, including 
detennining the nature of the event and assessing the severity of the event.. 

Containment, Eradication, Recovery, and Reporting 

In the event of a cybersecurity incident, the Franklin Templeton incident response team is responsible for deciding on a 
containment strategy to respond to the cybersecurity incident consistent with the procedures in the incident response plan. 

Once a cybersecurity incident is contained the focus shifts to remediation. Eradication and recovery activities depend on 
the nature of the cybersecurity incident and may include rebuilding systems and/or hosts, replacing compromised files with 
clean versions or validation of files or data that may have been affected. 

Franklin Templeton has relationships with a number of tilird party service providers to assist with cybersecurity 
containment and remediation efforts. 

Following the conclusion of an incident, the Franklin Templeton incident response team will generally reassess the 
effectiveness of the cybersecurity program and incident response plan, identify potential adjustments as appropriate and report 
to our senior management and Audit Committee on tl1ese matters. 
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Cybersecurity Risks 

As of December 31 , 2024, we are not aware of any instances of material cybersecurity incidents that impacted the 
Company in the last three years. We and our Advisor routinely face risks of potential incidents, whether through cyber-attacks 
or cyber intrusions over the Internet, ransomware and other forms of malware, computer viruses, attachment to emails, phishing 
attempts, extortion or other scams; however, we have been able to prevent or sufficiently mitigate hann from such risks. See 
"Item 1 A-Risk Factors-Our business could suffer in the event our Advisor or any other party that provides us with services. 
essential to our operations experiences system failures or cyber-incidents or a deficiency in cybersecurity." 

Item 2. Properties. 
Our headquarters are located in a leased space at 1 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10010, which were recently 

relocated from a different leased space at 1345 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 32A, New York, New York 10105. 

The Company, through foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or purchase, possesses certain real estate owned ("REO") 
as long-lived assets held for investment or as long-lived assets held for sale. See "Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies" to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional disclosures on the 
classification of these assets and "Note 5. Real Estate Owned" for a smmnary of the Company's real estate owned, held for 
investment assets as of December 3 1, 2024. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

Please refer to "Litigation and Regulatory Matters" in "Note 10- Commitments and Contingencies" to the consolidated 
financial statements included in this report. The Company believes that these proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, will 
not have a material impact on the Company's financia l condition, operatiing results or cash flows. 

Loan Fraud Lawsuit 

The Company originated a loan in April 2022 secured by a portfolio of 24 properties net leased to Walgreens (the 
"Collateral Pmperties"). As described in more detail in Part I, Item 3, "Legal Proceedings" in the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, due to the sponsor's fraud and default under the loan the Company 
foreclosed on all of the Collateral Properties in 2022 and 2023. The Company has sold the majority of the Collateral Properties, 
continues to market the remainder for sale, and continues to actively pursue its civil remedies. Note that the collectability, if 
any, of legal judgments we have achieved to date and that we may achieve in the future is not currently determinable. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable. 
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PARTfi 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 

Market Information 

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"), under the symbol "FBRT." On February 19, 
2025, the last sales price for our common stock on the NYSE was $ 13.21 per share. 

Holders 

As of February 19, 2025, we had 2,719 registered holders of our common stock. The 2,719 holders of record include Cede 
& Co., which holds shares as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, which itself holds shares on behalf of the beneficial 
owners of our common stock. Such infonnatioo was obtained through our registrar and transfer agent. 

Dividends 

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT tmder Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code 
commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013. As a REIT, if the Company meets certain organizational and 
operational requirements and distributes at leas.t 90% of its' "REIT taxable income" (detennined before the deduction of 
dividends paid and excluding net capital gains) to the stockholders in a year, the Company will not be su~ject to U.S. federal 
income tax to the extent of the income that we distribute. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company 
may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its' income and property and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on any 
undistributed income. Dividends are declared and paid at the discretion of our board of directors and depend on cash available 
for distribution, financial condition, our ability to maintain our qualification as a REIT, and such other factors that the board of 
directors may deem relevant. See Item lA. "Risk Factors," and Item 7. "Management's Djscussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for information regarding the sources of funds used 
for dividends and for a discussion of factors, if any, which may adversely affect our ability to pay dividends. 

Stock Performance Graph 
Our common stock began trading on the NYSE under the symbol "FBRT" on October 19, 2021. The following graph is a 

comparison of the cumulative total stockholder return on shares of our common stock, the Standard & Poor's 1500 (the "S&P 
1500"), and the FTSE NAREIT Mortgage REITS Index (the "FTSE Mortgage REIT Index"), a published industry index, from 
October 19, 2021 to December 31, 2024. The FTSE Mortgage REIT Index is comprised of companies that are similar to us in 
size with large market capitalizations and is historically comparable to the Bloomberg Mortgage I11dcx. TI1c graph assumes that 
$100 was invested on October 19, 2021 in our common stock, the S&P L 500 and the FTSE Mortgage REIT Index and that all 
dividends were reinvested without the payment of any commissions. There can be no assurance that the performance of our 
shares will continue in line with the same or similar trends depicted in the graph below. 
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Total Return Performance 
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Period Ending 

Index 10/19/2021 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023 12/31/2024 --
FBRT $ 100.00 $ 89.91 $ 85.93 $ 100.1 0 $ 103.62 

FTSE Mortgage REIT Index $ 100.00 $ 94.70 $ 69.74 $ 80.34 $ 80.51 

S&P 1500 $ 100.00 $ 105.52 $ 85.11 $ 108.79 $ 134.83 

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

The Company's board of directors has authorized a $65 million share repurchase program that permits share repurchases at 
prices below the most recently reported book value per share as determined in accordance with GAAP. Purchases made under 
the Company' s program may be made through open market, block, and privately negotiated transactions, including Rule 10b5-1 
plans, as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The timing, manner, price and amount of any purchases by 
the Company arc detennined by the Company in its reasonable business judgment and consistent with the exercise of its legal 
duties and are subject to economic and market conditions, stock price, applicable legal requirements and otther factors. The 
Company's share repurchase program docs not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock. In 
October 2024, the Company's board of directors extended the term of the share repurchase program to December 31, 2025. 
Repurchases tmder the share repurchase program may be suspended from time to time at the Company's discretion without 
prior notice. 

There were no purchases of the Company's common stock under the share repurchase program for the three months ended 
December 31 , 2024 and subsequent to December 31, 2024, respectively. As of February 19, 2025, $31.1 million remains 
available under the Company's share repurchase program. 

The information required by Item 5 with respect to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is 
incorporated herein by reference to Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K. 

Item 6. [Reserved] 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements of 
Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. the notes thereto and other financial information included! elsewhere in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. 

As used herein, the terms "the Company," "we," "our" and "us" refer to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc., a Maryland 
corporation and, as required by context, to Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership, L.P., a Delaware limited 
partnership, which we refer to as the "OP," and to its subsidiaries. We are externally managed by Benefit Street Partners L.L.C. 
(our "Advisor"). 

This discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting the Company's current expectations, estin1ates and 
assumptions concerning events and financial trends that may affect our future operating results or financial position. Actual 
results and timing of events may differ material ly from those contained in these forward-looking statements due to a number of 
factors, including those discussed in the sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled "Risk Factors" and "Forward­
Looking Statements." 

Overview 

The Company is a Maryland corporation and has made tax elections to be treated as a real estate investment trust ("REIT") 
for U.S. federal income tax purposes since 2013. The Company, through one or more subsidiaries which arc each treated as a 
TRS, is indirectly subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. We commenced business in May 2013. We primarily 
originate, acquire and manage a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate debt investments secured by properties located 
within and outside of the United States. Substantially all of our business is conducted through the OP, a Delaware limited 
partnership. We are the sole general partner and directly or indirectly honct all of the units of limited partner interests in the OP. 

The Company has no employees. We are managed by our Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Our Advisor 
manages our affairs on a day-to-day basis. The Advisor receives compensation and fees for services related to the investmemt 
and management of our assets and our operations. 

The Advisor, an SEC-registered investment adviser, is a credit-focused alternative asset management fum. The Advisor 
manages funds for institutions and high-net-worth investors across various credit funds and complementary strategies including 
high yield, levered loans, private I opportunistic debt, liquid credit, structured credit and commercial real estate debt. These 
strategies complement each other as they all leverage the sourcing, analytical, compliance, and operational capabilities that 
encompass the Advisor' s robust platform. The Advisor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Franklin Resources, Inc., which 
together with its various subsidiaries operates as "Franklin Templeton". 

The Company invests in commercial real estate debt investments, which may include. fust mortgage loans, subordinated 
mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. The Company also originates conduit loans which the 
Company intends to sell through its TRS into CMBS securitization transactions. Historically this business has focused primarily 
on CMBS, CMBS bonds, CDOs and other securities. The Company also owns real estate that was either acquired by the 
Company through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or that was purchased for investment. 

Book Value Per Share 

The following table calculates the Company's book value per share as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, 
except share and per share amounts): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Stockholders' equity applicable to common stock $ 1,253,820 $ l,300,372 

Shares: 

Common stock 81,788,091 81 ,942,656 

Restricted stock and restricted stock units 1,278,698 809,257 

Total outstanding shares 83,066,789 82,751,913 

Book value per share $ 15.09 $ 15.71 
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The following table calculates the Company's fully-converted book value per share as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (in 
thousands, except share and per share amounts): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Stockholders' equity applicable to convertible common stock $ 1,343,568 $ 1,390,120 

Shares: 

Common stock 81,788,091 81,942,656 

Restricted stock and restricted stock units 1,278,698 809,257 

Series H convertible preferred stock 5,370,498 5,370,498 

Total outstanding shares 88,437,287 88,122,411 

Fully-converted book value per share<n<2
> $ 15.19 $ 15.77 

<•> Fully-converted book value per share reflects full conversion of our outstanding series of convertible preferred stock and vesting o f our 
outstanding equity compensation awards. 

(l) Excluding the amounts for accumulated depreciation and amortization of real property of$13.8 million and $9.4 million as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, would result in a fully-converted book value per share of$15 .35 and $15.88 as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America ("GAAP"), which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. Critical accounting estimates are those that require the application of management' s most difficult, subjective or 
complex judgments on matters that are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods. In preparing the 
financial statements, management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amowlts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. In 
preparing the financial statements, management has utilized available information, including our past history, industry standards 
and the current economic environment, among other factors, in forming its estimates and j udgments, giving due consideration 
to materiality. Actual results may differ from these estimates. In addition, other companies may utilize different estimates, 
which may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses. 

Set forth below is a swnmary of the critical accounting estimates that management believes are important to the preparation 
of our finanC!ial statements and require complex management judgment. The Company' s significant accounting policies, 
including recently issued accounting pronouncements, are more fully described in Note 2 - Summary of Sugnificant Accounting 
Policies to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form I 0-K. 

Credit Losses - Estimating Credit Losses 

General allowance for credit losses 

The general allowance for credit losses for the Company's financial instruments carried at amortized cost and off-balance 
sheet credit exposures, such as loans held for investment and unfunded loan commitments, represents a lifetime estimate of 
expected credit losses. Factors considered by the Company when determining the general allowance for credit losses reserve 
include loan-specific characteristics such as LTV ratio, vintage year, loan term, property type, occupancy and geographic 
location, financial performance of the borrower, expected payments of principal and interest, as well as internal or external 
information relating to past events, current conditions and forward looking information through the use of projected 
macroeconomic scenarios over the reasonable and supportable forecasts. 

The general allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics exist for 
multiple financial instrwnents . If similar risk characteristics do not exist, the Company measures the general allowance for 
credit losses on an individual instrument basis. The determination of whether a particular financial instrument should be 
included in a pool can change over time. If a financial asset's risk characteristics change, the Company evaluates whether it is 
appropriate to continue to keep the fmancial instrument in its existing pool or evaluate it individually. 
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In measuring the general allowance for credit losses for financial instruments, such as loans held for investment and 
unfunded loan commitments that share similar risk characteristics, the Company primarily applies a probability of default 
("PD")/loss given default ("LGD") model for instruments that are collectively assessed, whereby the provision for credit losses 
is calculated as the product of PD, LGD and exposure at default ("EAD"). The Company's model to determine the general 
allowance for credit losses principally utilizes historical loss rates derived from a commercial mortgage backed securities 
database with historical losses from 2002 to 2021 provided by a reputable third party, forecasting the loss parameters based on a 
projected macroeconomic scenario using a probability-based statistical approach over a reasonable and supportable forecast 
period of twelve. months, followed by an immediate reversion to average historical losses. 

Specific Allowance for credit losses 

For financial instruments where the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty based on the Company's assessment at the 
reporting date and the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral, the 
Company may elect to use as a practical expedient the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date when determining the 
specific allowance for credit losses. 

For loans held for investment which the Company identifies reasonable doubt as to whether the collection of contractual 
components can be satisfied, a loan specific allowance for credit losses analysis is perfonned. Determining whether a specific 
allowance for credit losses for a loan is required entails significant judgment from management and is based on several factors 
including (i) the underlying collateral performance, (ii) discussions with the borrower, (iii) borrower events of default, and (iv) 
other facts that impact the borrower's ability to pay the contractual ammmts due under the tenns of the loan. If a loan is 
determined to have a specific allowance for credit losses, the specific allowance for credit losses is recorded as a component of 
our Current Expected Credit Loss ("CECL") reserve by applying the practical expedient for collateral dependent loans. The 
CECL reserve is assessed on an individual basis for such loans by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying 
collateral, less costs to sell, to the book value of the respective loan. The estimated fair value of underlying collateral requires 
judgments, which include assumptions regarding capitalization rates, discount rates, leasing, creditworthiness of major tenants, 
occupancy rates, availability and cost of fmancing, exit plans, loan sponsorship, actions of other lenders, and other factors 
deemed relevant by the Company. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ materially from these estimates. The Company 
only expects to write-off specific provisions if and when such amounts are deemed non-recoverable. Non-recoverability is 
generally determined at the time a loan is settled, or in the case of foreclosure, when the underlying asset is sold. Non­
recoverability may also be coDcluded if, in the Company's detennination, it is deemed certain t11at all amounts due will not be 
collected. If a loan is detemuned to be impaired based on the above considerations, management records a write-off tJuough a 
charge to the allowance for credit losses and the respective loan balance. 

Risk Rating 

In developing the provision for credit losses for its loans held for investment, the Company perfonns a comprehensive 
analysis of its loan portfolio and assigns risk ratings to loans tllat incorporate management's current judgments about their credit 
quality based! on all known and relevant internal and external factors that may affect collectability, using sinular factors as those 
in developing the provision for credit losses. This methodology results in loans being segmented by risk classification into risk 
rating categories that are associated with estimated probabilities of default and principal loss. Risk rating categories range from 
"I" to "5" with "I" representing the lowest risk of loss and "5" representing the highest risk of loss with the ratings updated 
quarterly. 

The Company designates loans as non-perfornung when (i) full payment of principal and coupon interest components 
become 90-days past due ("non-accrual status"); or (ii) the Company has reasonable doubt as to whether t111e collection of 
contractual components can be satisfied ("cost recovery status"). When a loan is designated as non-perfonning and placed on 
non-accrual status, interest is only recognized as income when payment has been received. Loans designated as non-performing 
and placed on non-accmal sta1tus are removed from tlleir non-perfonning designation when collection of principal and coupon 
interest components have been satisfied. When a loan is designated as non-performing and placed on cost recovery status, the 
cost-recovery method is applied to which receipt of principal or coupon interest is recorded as a reduction to the amortized cost 
until collection of all contractual components are reasonably assured. 

Real Estate Ownetl - Estimating Fair Value and Holding Period 

Real estate owned assets, held for investment are carried at their estimated fair value at acquisition and presented net of 
accumulated depreciation and impainnent charges. The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired real estate assets 
based on the fair value of the acquired land, bujlding, furniture, fixtures and equipment. 
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Real estate owned assets, held for investment are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 
up to 40 years for buildings and improvements and up to 15 years for furniture, fixtures and equipment. Renovations and/or 
replacements that improve or extend the life of the real estate owned assets are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives. Real estate owned revenue is recognized when the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service to a customer. The Company is considered to have satisfied all perfonnance obligation at: a point in 
time. 

Real estate owned assets that are probable to be sold within one year are reported as held for sale. Real estate owned assets 
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying value or estin1ated fair value less cost to sell. Real estate 
owned assets are not depreciated or amortized while classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the 
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be accrued. Upon the disposition of a real estate owned 
asset, the Company calculates realized gains and losses as net proceeds received less the carrying value of the real estate owned 
asset. Net proceeds received are net of direct selling costs associated with the disposition of the real estate owned asset. 

Real Estate Securities - Estimating Fair Value 

On the acquisition date, all of our real estate securities will be classified as available for sale ("AFS") and will be carried at 
fair value, with any unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. 
However, we may elect to transfer these assets to trading securities, and as a result, any unrealized gains or losses on such real 
estate securities will be recorded as unrealized gains or losses on investments in the consolidated statements of operations. 
Related discounts, premiums, and acquisition expenses on investments are amortized over the life of the investment using the 
effective interest method. Amortization is reflected as an adjustment to Interest income in the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Credit Impairment Analysis of Real Estate Securities 

Real estate securities for which the fair value option has not been elected will be periodically evaluated for credit 
impairment. AFS real estate securities which have experienced a decline in tbe fair value below their amortized cost basis (i.e., 
impainnent) are evaluated each reporting period to detennine whether the decline in fair value is due to credit-related factors. 
Any impairment that is not credit-related is recognized in other comprehensive income, while credit-related impairment is 
recognized as an allowance in the consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding adjustment in the consolidated statements 
of operations. lf the Company intends to sell an impaired real estate security or more likely than not will be required to sell such 
a security before recovering its amortized cost basis, the entire impairment amount is recog11ized in the consolidated statements 
of operations with a corresponding adjustment to the security's amortized cost basis. 

The Company analyzes the AFS security portfolio on a periodic basis for credit losses at the individual security level using 
the same criteria described above for those amortized cost financial assets subject to an allowance for credit losses including but 
not limited to; performance of the underlying assets in the security, borrower financial resources and investment in collateral, 
collateral type, credit ratings, project economics and geographic location as well as national and regional economic factors. 
The non-credit loss component of the unrealized loss within the Company's AFS portfolio is recognized as an adjustment to the 
individual security's asset balance with an offsetting entry to Accumulated other comprehensive incmne/(loss) in the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Real estate securities for which the fair value option has been elected are not evaluated for other-than-temporary 
impairment as changes in fair value are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. 

Results of Operations 

The Company conducts its business through the following segments: 
The real estate debt business focuses on originating, acquiring and asset managing commercial real estate debt 
investments, including first mortgages, subordinate mortgages, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. 
The real estate securities business focuses on investing in and asset managing rea l estate securities. Historically this 
business has focused primarily on CMBS, CMBS bonds, CDO notes, and other securities. 
The commercial real estate conduit business operated through the Company's TRS, which is focused on generating 
risk-adjusted returns by originating and subsequently selling fixed-rate commercial real estate loans into the CMBS 
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securitization market at a profit. The TRS may also hold certain mezzanine loans that don't qualify as good REIT 
assets due to any potential loss from foreclosure. 
The real estate owned business represents real estate acquired by the Company through foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of 
foredosure, or purchase. 

Comp arison of the Year Ended December 31, 2024 to the Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income is generated on om interest-earning assets less related interest-bearing liabilities and is recorded as part 
of om real estate debt, real estate secmities and TRS segments. 

The following table presents the average balance of interest-eaming assets less related interest-bearing liabilities, 
associated interest income and expense and corresponding yield earned and incmred for tbe years ended December 31 , 2024 and 
2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Average Interest Avg Yield/ Average Interest Avg Yield/ 
Carryine Income/ Financing 
Value<W Expense<2><J> Cost<4> 

Carryine Income/ . Financing 
Value<lJ Expense<2><3> Cost<4> 

Interest-ea rning assets: 

Real estate debt<5> 

Real estate conduit 

Real estate securities 

Total 

Interest-bearing liabilities: 

Repurchase Agreements -
commercial mortgage loans 

Other financing and loan 
participation - commercial 
mortgage loans 

Repurchase Agreements - real 
estate securities 

Collateralized loan obligations 

Unsecmed debt 

Total 
Net interest !income/spread 

Average leverage %<6> 

Weighted average levered yield(7) 

$ 5,176,062 $ 

37,081 

214,881 

502,298 

5,469 

17,128 

524,895 $ 5,428,024 $ 
======= 

$ 457,916 $ 41,516 

16,336 968 

216,082 13,214 

3,595, 162 275,289 

81,345 7,484 

$ 4,366,841 $ 338,471 

$ 186,424 

80.4% 

9.7 % $ 5,038,267 $ 530, 1 16 10.5 % 

14.7 % 16,408 2,244 13.7 % 

8.0 % 260,425 17,323 6.7 % 
9.7 % $ 5,315,100 549,683 10.3 % 

9.1 % $ 573,530 $ 54,564 9.5% 

5.9 % 59,519 5,478 9.2 % 

6.1 % 244,469 14,118 5.8 % 

7.7 % 3,165,612 223,686 7.1 % 

9.2 % 85,613 7,731 9.0 % 

7.8 % $ 4,128,743 $ 305,577 7.4 % 

1.9 % $ 244,106 2.9 % 

77.7% 

17.6% 20.6% 

(I) Based on amortized cost for real estate debt and real estate securities and principal amount for interest-bearing liabilities. Amounts are 
calculated based on daily averages for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

<
2
> Includes the effect of amortization of premium or accretion of discount and deferred fees. 

<3
> Excludes other income on the real estate owned business segment. 

<4> Calculated as interest income or expense divided by average carrying value. 
<5> The collateral sale of a Brooklyn hotel loan in April 2023, which allowed the company to recover its full investment, resulted in $15 .5 

million and $4.9 million in coupon and default interest income, respectively, recognized in the Company's real estate debt segn1ent 
during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

(6) Calculated by dividing total average interest-bearing liabilities by total average interest-earning assets. 
<
7
> Calculated by dividing net interest income/spread by the average interest-earning assets less average interest-bearing liabilities. 

Interest Income 

Interest income for the years ended December 31,2024 and 2023, totaled $526.1 million and $552.5 million, respectively, 
a decrease of $26.4 million. Tbe decrease was prin1arily due to the recognition of a non-recmring item of $20.4 million of 
interest income from the sale of a Brooklyn hotel asset in the second quarter of2023, coupled with an increase in the number of 
non-performing loans in 2024, which averaged $190.9 million in principal for the year ended December 31, 2024. As of 
December 31, 2024, our portfolio consisted of (i) 155 commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, (ii) 11 real estate 
securities, available for sale, measured at fair value, and (iii) three commercial mortgage Loans, held for sale, measured at fair 
value. As of December 31, 2023, our portfolio consisted of (i) 144 commercial mortgage loans, held for investment and (ii) 
seven real estate securities, available for sale, measmed at fair value. 
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Interest Expense 

Interest expense for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 totaled $338.5 million and $305.6 million, respectively, 
an increase of$32.9 million. The increase was primarily due to an increase of$429.6 million in the average carrying value of 
our collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs") coupled with an increase in deferred fee an1ortization due to tbe utilization of 
expected duration of our CLOs compared to contractual duration, partially offset by a decrease of $ 144.0 million in the average 
carrying values of our repurchase agreements - commercial mortgage loans and real estate securities. 

Revenue from Real Estate Owned 

Revenue from real estate owned for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $22.8 million and $17.0 million, 
respectively. The $5.8 million increase was primarily the result of rental income from obtaining possession of additional 
multifamily properties brought on as real estate owned, through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. 

Provisioni (Benejit) for Credit losses 

Provision for credit losses for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 totaled $35.7 million and $33.7 million, 
respectively. 

General benefit for credit losses was $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to a general provision 
of$21.4 million for the year ended December 3 1, 2023. The $21.7 million decrease in general reserve was primarily due to the 
portfolio turnover of older vintage loans with newly originated loans coupled with a more favorable macro-economic outlook 
compared to the preceding period. 

For the year ended December 3 1, 2024, the increase in specific reserve of $36.0 million was primarily related to two non­
performing loans collateralized by office properties located in Colorado and Georgia. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
the increase in specific reserve of$12.3 million, compared to the prior year, was primarily related to one office loan located in 
Oregon. 

Realized Gaini(Loss) on Extinguishment of Debt 

The Company did not realize a gain or loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2024. Realized gain 
on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2023 of $2.2 million was primarily related to the redemption of 
$ 17.5 million par value unsecured debt at a price equal to 75% of par value coupled with the repurchase of the Class E notes in 
our BSPRT 2021-FL7 CLO and $8.3 million of bonds of our BSPRT 20 l9-FL5 CLO partially offset by the redemption of 
BSPRT 2019-FL5. 

Realized Gain/(Loss) on Real Estate Securities, Available for Sale 

Realized! gain on real estate securities, available for sale for the year ended December 31, 2024 of$0.1 million was 
primarily related to the sale of six CMBS bonds. Realized gain on real estate securities, available for sale for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 of $0.1 million was primarily related to the sale of 12 CMBS bonds. 

Realized Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Investment 

Realized! gain on commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, for the year ended December 31, 2024 of$0.1 million 
was related to the disposition of two senior and one mezzanine commercial mortgage loans. The Company did not have any 
dispositions of commercial mortgage loans for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Realized Gaini(Loss) on Sale of Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

Realized! gain on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2024 
of$13.1 million was related to the sale of$271.2 million in principal amount of commercial real estate loans into the CMBS 
securitization market resulting in proceeds of$284.3 million. Realized gain on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2023 of $3.9 million was related to the sale of $ 1 I 8.1 million in 
principal amount of commerdal real estate loans into the CMBS securitization market resulting in proceeds of$122.1 million. 

Gaini(Loss) on Other Real Estate Investments 
Loss on other real estate investments for the year ended December 31 , 2024 was $8.0 million primarily due to sales and 

write offs related to the Walgreens Portfolio coupled with the onboarding of real estate owned, held for sale multifamily 
properties. This is compared to a loss of $7 .I million for the year ended December 31 , 2023 related to a sale of one real estate 
owned, held !for sale properly locaLed in New Rochelle, NY resulli11g in a loss of $ 1.2 million in addiLion Lo impainnenls of our 
real estate owned, held for sale assets of $1.9 million related to the St. Louis, MO office property and $4.0 million related to the 
Walgreens Portfolio. 

Unrealized Gaini(Loss) on Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

The Company did not have any commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value held in an unrealized gain 
or loss position as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2023, unrealized gain on commercial 
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mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value was $43.8 thousand primarily related to the reversal of unrealized gainJloss 
on sales of commercial real estate loans into the CMBS securitization market. 

Trading Gaini(Loss) 
The Company did not hold any trading securities as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023. Trading loss for the year ended 

December 31 , 2023 of $0.6 million was attributable to principal paydowns, changes in market values and gains on sales of 
residential adjustable-rate mortgage pass-through securities ("ARM Agency Securities" or "ARMs") issued and guaranteed by 
government-sponsored enterprises or by an agency of the federal government ARM. 

Net Result from Derivative Transactions 

Net result from derivative transactions for the year ended December 31 , 2024 of a $0.2 million loss was composed of a 
realized loss of $1.3 million due primarily to the termination and settlement of credit default swaps and treasury yields, partially 
offset by an unrealized gain of$1.1 million. This is compared to a net gain on our derivative portfolio of$0.9 million composed 
of a realized gain of $I.O million due primarily to the termination and settlement of interest rate swap positions partially offset 
by an unrealized loss of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31 , 2023. 

(Provision)/Beneflt for Income Tax 

Provision for income tax for the year ended December 31 , 2024 was $1.1 million compared to a benefit of$2.8 million for 
the year ended December 31,2023. The difference is due to changes in taxable income/loss in our TRS segment. 

Net (Income)/Loss Attributable to Non-controlling Interest 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest in our consolidated joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 totaled $3.5 m.illion and $0.7 million, respectively. 

Preferred Share Dividends 

Preferred share dividends were $27.0 million for the years ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023. 

Expenses from Operations 

Expenses from operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following (dollars in 
thousands): 

Year Ended 
December 31,2024 December 31,2023 

Asset management and subordinated performance fee 

Acquisition expenses 

Administrative services expenses 

Professional fees 

Share-based compensation 

Depreciation and amortization 

Other expenses 

Total expenses from operations 

$ 

$ 

---
25,958 $ 33,847 

996 1,241 

9,707 14,440 

14,508 15,270 

8,173 4,761 

5,630 7, 128 

2I ,472 II, I35 

86,444 $ 87,822 

For the year ended December 3I, 2024, we incurred asset management and subordinated performance fees and 
administrative services expenses of$26.0 million and $9.7 million, respectively, which are payable to our Advisor under our 
asset management agreement. For the year ended December 31 , 2024 compared to 2023, asset management and incentive fees 
decreased due to the decrease in net income and applicable equity used to calculate the performance fee, coupled with a 
decrease in administrative services expenses due to less time spent on asset workout. Refer to Note 11 - Related Party 
Transactions and Arrangements for a summary of the Company's Advisory Agreement with the Advisor and a description of 
how our fees are calculated. 

The decrease in operating expense was partially offset by (i) an increase in share-based compensation due to equity awards 
issued under the Company's 202I Incentive Plan during the year ended December 3I , 2024 and (ii) an increase in other 
expenses related to property operating expenses and third party management fees incurred in order to operate various real estate 
owned investments in our porttfolio. 
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended December 31, 2024 to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2024 

Net interest Income 

Net interest income is generated on our interest-earning assets less related interest-bearing liabilities and is recorded as part 
of our real estate debt, real estate securities and TRS segments. 

The following table presents the average balance of interest-earning assets less related interest-bearing liabilities, 
associated interest income and expense and corresponding yield earned and incurred for the three months ended December 31, 
2024 and three months ended September 30, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

T hree Months E nded 

December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 
---------- -------------------- ----------

Interest-earning assets: 

Real estate debt 

Real estate conduit 

Real estate securities 

Total 
Interest-bea r ing liabilities: 

Repurchase Agreements -
commercial mortgage loans 
Other financing and loan 
participation - commercial 
mortgage loans 
Repurchase Agreements - real 
estate securities 

Collateralized loan obligations 

Unsecured debt 

Total 
Net interest !income/spread 

Average leverage %<6> 

Weighted average levered yield<7> 

Inter est A vg Yield/ Average 
Carryinf 
Value<• 

Income/ Financing 
Expense<2><3> Cost<4><S) 

$ 5,022,042 $ 

12,732 

198,443 

122,976 

608 

3,738 
127,322 $ 5,233,217 $ ======= 

9.8 % 

19.1 % 

7.5 % 
9.7% 

Average 
Carryinf 
Value<• 

$ 5,296,465 

44,073 

218,223 

$ 5,558,761 ======== 
$ 181,560 $ 4,640 10.2 % $ 767,481 

12,865 197 6.1 % 12,865 

219,091 3,104 5.7 % 247,022 

3,873,849 70,784 7.3 % 3,418,656 

81,383 1,803 8.9 % 81,358 

$ 4,368,748 $ 80,528 7.4 % $ 4,527,382 

$ 46,794 2.3 % 

83.5% 81.4% 

21.7 % 

Interest 
Income/ 

Expense<2><3> 

$ 127,550 

1,761 

4,432 
$ 133,743 

$ 16,767 

197 

3,901 

67,122 

1,897 

$ 89,884 

$ 43,859 

Avg Yield/ 
Financing 
Cost<4><SJ 

9.6% 

16.0% 

8.1% 
9.6 % 

8.7% 

6.1 % 

6.3% 

7.9% 

9.3% 

7.9 % 

1.7 % 

17.0% 

(I) Based on amortized cost for real estate debt and real estate secm·ities and principal amount tor interest-bearing liabilities. Amounts are 
calculated based on daily averages for the three months ended December 31, 2024 and September 30, 2024, respectively. 

(Z) Includes tthe effect of amortization of premium or accretion of discount and deferred fees. 
(J) Excludes other income on the real estate owned business segment. 
<4> Calculated as interest income or expense divided by average canying value. 
(S) Annualized. 
<6> Calculated by dividing total average interest-bearing liabilities by total average interest-earning assets. 
(?) Calculated by dividing net interest income/spread by the avemge interest-earning assets less avemge interest-bearing liabilities. 

Interest Income 

Interest income for the three months ended December 31, 2024 and September 30,2024 totaled $127.8 million and $134.1 
million, respectively, a decrease of $6.3 million. The decrease was primarily due to an approximate 59 basis point decrease in 
daily average SOFR and SOFR equivalent rates coupled with a $274.4 million decrease in the average carrying value of our 
real estate debt. As of December 31, 2024, our portfolio consisted of (i) 1 55 commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, 
(ii) II real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value, and (iii) three commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value. As of September 30, 2024, our portfolio consisted of (i) 157 commercial mortgage loans, held for 
investment and (ii) ten real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense for the three months ended December 31, 2024 and September 30, 2024 totaled $80.5 million and $89.9 
million, respectively, a decrease of $9.4 million due primarily to a decrease of $585.9 million in the carrying value of our 
repurchase agreements- commercial mortgage loans, partially offset by an increase of$455.2 million in the avemge carrying 
value of our collateralized loan obligations. 
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Revenue from Real Estate Owned 

For the three months ended December 31 , 2024 and September 30, 2024, revenue from real estate owned was $8.7 milE ion 
and $5.4 million, respectively. The $3.3 million increase was primarily the result of rental income from onboarding multifamily 
properties brought on as real estate owned, through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, during the tiuee monti1s ended 
December 31 , 2024. 

(Provision)!Benejitfor Credit losses 

Provision for credit losses was $0.9 million during the three months ended December 31, 2024 compared to a benefit of 
$0.3 million during the ti1re.e months ended September 30, 2024. 

For the three months ended December 31 , 2024 and September 30, 2024, general benefit for credit losses was $1.6 milE ion 
and $0.8 million, respectively, an increase in benefit of$0.8 million primarily due to the portfolio turnover of older vintage 
loans with newly originated loans coupled with a more favorable macro-economic outlook compared to the preceding period. 

For the three months ended December 31 , 2024 and September 30, 2024, specific provision for credit losses was 
$2.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively. For the tirree months ended December 31, 2024, the specific provision was 
primarily related to a non-performing loan collateralized by a multifamily property located in Texas. For ti1e ti1ree months 
ended September 30, 2024, the specific provision was primarily related to foreclosures on multifamily properties located in 
Oklahoma and North Carolina. 

Realized Gaini (Loss) on Real Estate Securities, Available for Sale 

The Company did not realize a gain or loss on real estate securities, available for sale for tiw tlrree months ended 
December 3 1, 2024. Realized gain on real estate securities, available for sale for the three months ended September 30, 2024 of 
$0. 1 million was primarily related to the sale of two CMBS bonds. 

Realized Gaini (Loss) on Sale of Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Investment 

Realized! gain on commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, for the three months ended December 31 , 2024 of $0.1 
million was related to the disposition of two senior and one mezzanine commercial mortgage loans. The Company did not 
record any realized gains or losses on dispositions of commercial mortgage loans for the three months ended September 30, 
2024. 

Realized Gaini (Loss) on Sale of Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

The Company did not realize any gain or loss on conunercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value for the 
three months ended December 31 , 2024. Realized gain on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value for 
the three months ended September 30, 2024 of $6.2 million was related to t11e sale of $131.6 million in principal amount of 
commercial real estate loans into the CMBS securitization market resulting in proceeds of$137.8 million. 

Gain/(Loss) on Other Real Estate Investments 

Gain on other real estate investments for the three months ended December 3 1, 2024 was $0.5 million primarily due to the 
on boarding of real estate owned, held for sale, multifamily properties partially offset by losses on ti1e sales of tlrree, held for 
sale, multifamily properties and one, held for sale, retail property from Olllf Walgreens Portfolio. Tllis is compared to a loss of 
$2.2 nlillion for the tlrree months ended September 30, 2024 primarily due to write offs related to ti1e Walgreens Portfolio 
coupled witi1 ti1e onboarding of real estate owned, held for sale, multifamily properties. 

Unrealized Gaini(Loss) on Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

The Company did not have any commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value held in an unrealized gain 
or loss position as ofDecember 31, 2024. Unrealized loss on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair vaEue, 
for the three months ended September 30, 2024 was $0.6 nlillion which is attributable to the reversal of previous umealized 
gains due to sales into the CMBS securitization market. 
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Net Resultfrom Derivative Transactions 

Net result from derivative transactions for the three months ended December 31, 2024 of a $ I .0 million gain was composed 
primarily of unrealized gains on mark to market on credit default swaps, treasury note futures, and options. This is compared to 
a net loss on our derivative portfolio of $1.3 million composed of a realized loss of$1.6 million primarily related to the 
termination and settlement of credit default swaps and treasury note futu.res, partially offset by an unrealized gain of $0.3 
million for the three months ended September 30, 2024. 

(Provision)/Benefitfor Income Tax 

Provision for income tax for each of the three months ended December 31, 2024 and September 30, 2024, was $0.2 
million. 

Net (Jncome)/Loss Attributable to Non-controlling Interest 

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest in our consolidated joint ventures for the three months ended December 31, 
2024 and September 30,2024 totaled $0.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively. 

Expenses from operations 

Expenses from operations for the three months ended December 31, 2024 and September 30, 2024 consisted of the 
following (dollars in thousands): 

Asset management and subordinated performance fee 

Acquisition expenses 

Administrative services expenses 

Professional fees 

Share-based compensation 

Depreciation and amortization 

Other expenses 

Total expenses from operations 

Three Months Ended 

December 31, 2024 September 30, 2024 

$ 6,935 $ 4,906 

308 255 

2,342 3,801 

2,972 3,588 

2,153 2,134 

1,409 1,387 

10,197 5,709 

$ 26,316 $ 21 ,780 

For the three months ended December 31, 2024, we incurred asset management and subordinated performance fees and 
administrative services expenses of$6.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively, which arc payable to our Advisor under our 
asset management agreement. For the three months ended December 31, 2024 compared to September 30, 2024, asset 
management and incentive fees increased due to actual net income surpassing previously projected net income, while 
administrative services expenses decreased due to increases of non-reimbursable expenses. Refer to Note 11 - Related Party 
Transactions and Arrangements [or a summary of the Company's Advisory Agreement with the Advisor and a description of 
how our fees arc calculated. 

The increase in operating expense was also partially related to an increase in other expenses due to expenses related to 
property operating expenses and third party management fees incurred in order to operate various real estate owned investments 
in our portfolio. 
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 to the Year Em/e{/ December 31, 2022 

See Part II, Item 7. "Management' s Discussion and Analysis of financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our 
Annual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
Febmary 26, 2024, for a discussion of the comparison of the year ended December 31, 2023 to the year ended December 31, 
2022. 
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Portfolio 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our portfolio consisted of 155 and 144 commercial mortgage loans, held for 
investment, respectively. The commercial mortgage loans held for investment, net of allowance for credit Losses, as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, had a total carrying value of$4,908.7 mj))ion and $4,989.8 million, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2024, our commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value, were comprised of three loans with a 
total fair value of$87.3 million. As of December 31 , 2023, the Company did not hold any commercial mortgage loans, held for 
sale, measured at fair value. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, we had $203.0 million and $242.6 million, respectively, of 
real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our real estate owned, held 
for invesU11ent portfolio was composed of three properties, with carrying values of $113.2 million and $115.8 mjllion, 
respectively. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, we had twelve and twenty-three properties classified as real estate owned, 
held for sale, respectively, with combined carrying values of$222.9 million and $103.7 million, respectively. 

As of December 31 , 2024, we had three loans (one secured by a multifamily property and two secured by office 
properties), designated as non-performing status with a total amortized cost of$133.2 million. As of December 31,2023, we 
had two loans, designated as non-perfonning status with a total amortized cost of $78.2 million. As of December 31 , 2024, three 
loans designa ted as non-perfonning and put on cost recovery status were detennined to have a combined $31.2 million specific 
allowance for credit losses. During the year ended December 31 , 2023, no specific allowance for credit losses were recorded on 
the two non-perfonning loans, all of which were senior mortgage notes secured by multifamily properties. 

As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, our commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, excluding commercial mortgage 
loans on non-perfonning status, had a weighted average coupon of8.0% and 9.2%, respectively, and a weighted average 
remaining life of 1.1 years and 0.9 years, respectively. 
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The following charts summarize our commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, by coupon rate type, collateral type 
geographical region and state as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023: 

Rate Type- December 31 , 2024 
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An investments region classification is defined according to the below map based on the location of investments secured 
property. 

• 

2.4% 

3.4% 
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3.6% 

5.4% 
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The following charts show the par value by contractual maturity year for the investments in our portfolio as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

2025 
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2027 
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The following table shows selected data from our conunercial mortgage loans, held for investment in our portfolio as of 
December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Loan 
T ype 

Senior Debt 1 

Senior Debt 2 

Senior Debt 3 

Senior Debt 41 

Senior Debt 5 

Senior Debt 6 

Senior Debt 7 

Senior Debt 8 

Senior Debt 9 

Senior Debt I 0 

Senior Debt I I 

Senior Debt I 2 

Senior Debt 13 

Senior Debt 14 

Senior Debt 15 

Senior Debt I 6 

Senior Debt I 7 

Senior Debt 18 

Senior Debt I 9 
Senior Debt 2·0 

Senior Debt 2 I 

Senior Debt 2 2 

Senior Debt 2 3 

Senior Debt 24 

Senior Debt 2 5 

Senior Debt 2 6 

Senior Debt 2 7 

Senior Debt 2 8 

Senior Debt 2 9 

Senior Debt 3 0 

Senior Debt 3 I 

Senior Debt 3 2 

Senior Debt 3 3 

Senior Debt 34 

Senior Debt 3 5 

Senior Debt 3 6 

Senior Debt 3 7 

Senior Debt 3 8 

Senior Debt 3 9 

Senior Debt 40 

Senior Debt 41 

Senior Debt 42 

Senior Debt 43 

Senior Debt 44 

Senior Debt 45 

Senior Debt 4 6 

Senior Debt 4 7 

Senior Debt 48 

Senior Debt 4 9 

Senior Debt 50 

Senior Debt 5 I 

Senior Debt 52 

Risk 
Rac~Fg 

2 

2 

2 

2 

5 

2 

3 

2 

3 

2 

5 

2 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

2 

3 
2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

3 

5 

2 

3 
2 

2 

3 
2 

3 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

2 

l'rope rty 
Typ e 

Hospitality 

l lospitality 

I lospitality 

Office 

Office 

Manufactured 
Housing 

Office 

Office 

Office 

Multifamily 

Office 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

I l.ospitality 

Mixed Usc 

Multifami ly 

Multifami ly 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

M ultifamily 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

M ultifamily 

Multifamily 

M ultifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

S tate 

Louisiana 

Michigan 

New York 

Arizona 

Georgia 

Arkansas 

Texas 

Massachusetts 

Michigan 

Texas 

Colorado 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Louisiana 

Washington 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

North Carolina 

Texas 

Texas 

South Carolina 

Georgia 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Arizona 

Texas 

South Carolina 

Texas 

Texas 

Kentuclcy 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Pennsylvania 

Texas 

Florida 

North Carolina 

North Carolina 

Texas 

Georgia 

North Carolina 

North Carol ina 

Florida 

Arizona 

Texas 

Arizona 

Par 
Value 

21,477 

12,816 

4,805 

13,766 

23,444 

1,270 

16,703 

60,917 

25,559 

11,412 

44,913 

34,190 

54,650 

14,436 

19,5 19 

43,246 

25,700 

32,500 

74,858 

20,450 

35,466 

35,116 

16,222 

34,647 

67,500 

10,087 

26,584 

17,122 

54,832 

37,355 

67,17 1 

61,100 

47,394 

58,680 

14,933 

38,151 

69,415 

66,742 

18,500 

22,240 

31,428 

78,584 

81,247 

24,000 

37,605 

23,855 

10,978 

10,800 

82,000 

55,000 

39,571 

34,859 

Amorti.zed 
Cost 

41 

21,477 

12,816 

4,805 

13,766 

22,837 

1,270 

16,703 

60,861 

25,559 

11,412 

43,650 

34, 190 

54,650 

14,436 

19,519 

43,241 

25,700 

32.500 

74,843 

20,450 

35,462 

35,095 

16,222 

34,647 

67,500 

10,087 

26,584 

17,122 

54,832 

37,355 

67,171 

6 1, 100 

47,334 

58,680 

14,933 

38,151 

69,415 

66,742 

18,500 

22,240 

3 1,428 

78,414 

8 1,245 

24,000 

37,605 

23,855 

10,978 

10,798 

82,000 

55,000 

39,571 

34,859 

Fully 
Origination Extended 

Date 
(2) Ma~Mrity 

6/28/2018 

9117120 19 

7/9/2019 

11/2212019 

12117/2019 

4/2212020 

10/612020 

10/812020 

10/ 1412020 

112212021 

3/ 1/2021 

3/5/2021 

3116/2021 

3/ 1512021 

3125/2021 

4/1/2021 

4 /1512021 

6/30/2021 

3/3 112021 

4/22/2021 

4/ 1/2021 

712212021 

10/612021 

9120/2021 

9/20/2021 

912212021 

9/3012021 

9/30/2021 

11123/2021 

11116/2021 

10/2912021 

11/ 1012021 

11/9/2021 

12110/2021 

1111912021 

11122/2021 

11/3012021 

1113012021 

12/3012021 

1211612021 

12116/2021 

12/2 112021 

1211512021 

12117/2021 

5/ 1212022 

112812022 

111412022 

1/ 1912022 

2110/2022 

311512022 

3/ 14/2022 

312/2022 

9/9/2025 

10/912025 

7/9/2025 

6/912025 

119/2026 

5/9/2025 

1M SOFR Term+ 4.25% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.41% 

1M SOFR Term + 5.25% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.00% 

1M SOFR Term+ 2.25% 

5.50% 

10/9/2025 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 4.50% 

10/9/2025 5.15% 

4/912026 1M SOFR Term + 2.81% 

219/2026 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 4.55% 

3/9/ 2026 

3/912025 

5/9/2025 

5.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.10% 

1M SOFR Term + 4.00% 

1/912025 Adj. I M SOFR Term + 3.39% 

119/2025 Adj. 1M SOFR Tem1 + 3.60% 

4/912026 Adj. 1M SOFR Tenn + 2.95% 

5/9/2026 Adj. I M SOFR Term + 5.60% 

1/912026 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 3.70% 

4/9/2026 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

5/9/2026 Adj. 1M SOFR Tenn + 3.35% 

4/9/2026 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

3/912027 Adj. I M SOFR Term + 5.00% 

10/912026 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 3.75% 

1/9/2025 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 3.64% 

10/912026 Adj. IM SOFR Term + 3.25% 

10/912026 Adj. IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

10/912025 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 3.20% 

10/912026 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 5.25% 

121912025 Adj. IM SOFR Term + 3.10% 

1219/2026 Adj. 1M SOFR Tcm1 + 2.90% 

I J/912026 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 2.85% 

11/912026 Adj. I M SOFR Term + 3.35% 

11/9/2026 Adj. 1M SOFR Tem1 + 2.75% 

1/912027 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 3.45% 

119/2027 Adj. 1M SOFR Term + 3.20% 

1/9/ 2027 Adj. 1M SOFR Tem1 + 3.00% 

119/2027 Adj. IM SOFR Term + 2.88% 

1/9/2027 Adj. IM SOFR Tem1 + 2.88% 

1/912027 

11912027 

119/2027 

1/9/2027 

8/9/2026 

1/9/2027 

219/2027 

21912027 

219/2027 

219/2027 

219/2027 

3/9/2027 

3/9/2027 

3/9/2027 

1M SOFR Term + 3.50% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.96% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.20% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.45% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.00% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.10% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.55% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.30% 

IM SOFR Term + 5.30% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.20% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.50% 

IM SOFR Term+ 3.10% 

IM SOFR Term + 2.95% 

Effective Loan to 
Yield Value 

(6) (7) 

8.58% 

8.74% 

9.58% 

8.33% 

6.58% 

5.50% 

8.95% 

5.15% 

8.13% 

9.00% 

5.50% 

8.43% 

8.33% 

7.84% 

8.05% 

7.40% 

10.05% 

8.15% 

7.40% 

7.80% 

7.40% 

9.45% 

8.20% 

8.09% 

7.70% 

8.20% 

7.65% 

9.70% 

7.55% 

7.35% 

7.30% 

7.80% 

7.20% 

7.90% 

7.65% 

7.45% 

7.33% 

7.33% 

7.83% 

7.29% 

7.53% 

7.78% 

6.33% 

7.43% 

7.88% 

7.28% 

7.63% 

9.63% 

7.53% 

7.83% 

7.43% 

7.28% 

68.8% 

56.4% 

47.7% 

70.9% 

64.9% 

62.8% 

47.9% 

52.5% 

66.0% 

73.0% 

53.9% 

78.2% 

71.6% 

70.6% 

70.8% 

71.6% 

61.0% 

69.7% 

72.6% 

67.7% 

71.7% 

% 

76.9% 

66.0% 

77. 1% 

70.0% 

77.3% 

61.0% 

67.2% 

72.0% 

70.6% 

78.0% 

68.1% 

74.8% 

62.4% 

73.3% 

74.8% 

75.5% 

71.7% 

79.4% 

74.2% 

78.8% 

76.1% 

72.7% 

66.2% 

65.6% 

75.7% 

68.2% 

74.5% 

70.1% 

74.1% 

63.1% 
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Loan 
Type 

Senior Debt 53 

Senior Debt 54 

Senior Debt 55 

Senior Debt 56 

Senior Debt 57 

Senior Debt 58 

Senior Debt 59 

Senior Debt 60 

Senior Debt 61 

Senior Debt 62 

Senior Debt 63 

S~-nior Debt 64 

Senior Debt 65 

Senior Debt 66 

Senior Debt 6 7 

Senior Debt 68 

Senior Debt 69 

Senior Debt 7 0 

Senior Debt 71 

Senior Debt 72 

Senior Debt 73 

Senior Debt 74 

Senior Debt 7 5 

Senior Debt 7 6 

Senior Debt 77 

Senior Debt 78 

Senior Debt 79 

Senior Debt 8 0 

Senior Debt 8 I 

Senior Debt 8 2 

Senior Debt 8 3 

Senior Debt 84 

Senior Debt 8 5 

Senior Debt 8 6 

Senior Debt 8 7 

Senior Debt 8 8 

Senior Debt 8 9 

Senior Debt 90 

Senior Debt 91 

Senior Debt 92 

Senior Debt 9 3 

Senior Debt 94 

Senior Debt 9 5 

Senior Debt 9618> 

Senior Debt 9 7 

Senior Debt 98 

Senior Debt 99 

Senior Debt I 00 

Senior Debt 101 

Senior Debt I 02 

Senior Debt I 03 

Senior Debt 1 04 

Senior Debt I 05 

Senior Debt I 06 

Senior Debt 1 07 

Risk 
Ra<\ing 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 
2 

3 

4 

3 

3 

2 

2 

3 

3 

3 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

l'•·operty 
Type 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

l lospitality 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

llospitality 

Multifami ly 

Multifamily 

Manufactured 
Housing 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

llospitality 

Hospitality 

Industria l 

Multifamily 

llospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Hospitality 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifami ly 

Multifamily 

State 

North Carol ina 

North Carol ina 

Colorado 

Texas 

Georgia 

New York 

Nevada 

Virginia. 

Texas 

North Carol ina 

Texas 

Florida 

Texas 

Texas 

North Carolina 

Georgia 

District of Columbia 

Pennsylvania 

Alabama 

Texas 

North Carol ina 

South Carol ina 

South Carol ina 

Arizona 

Various 

Texas 

District of Columbia 

Florida 

New York 

Texas 

Florida 

Georgia 

South Carolina 

Texas 

Florida 

Texas 

Texas 

Texas 

Tennessee 

Texas 

Colorado 

Nevada 

California 

Florida 

Florida 

Texas 

Various 

Florida 

North Carolina 

Texas 

Texas 

Ohio 

Texas 

California 

Connecticut 

l'ar 
Value 

85,500 

31,900 

41,000 

49,088 

50,926 

15,750 

35,950 

56,616 

30,187 

57,159 

12,841 

18,724 

28,979 

16,967 

44,583 

66,750 

39,525 

27,865 

18,219 

31,600 

49,990 

50,800 

14,635 

55,500 

111,000 

14,750 

21,700 

23,905 

19,793 

78,996 

24,384 

12,420 

13,562 

38,750 

31,300 

42,750 

19,429 

22,500 

41,194 

36,380 

28,5 12 

25,750 

11,105 

50,750 

79,515 

111,953 

67,000 

75,000 

20,807 

40,000 

44,361 

17,524 

40,000 

116,500 

Amortized 
Cost 

42 

85,500 

3 1,900 

40,913 

48,895 

50,926 

15,718 

35,950 

56,579 

30,187 

57,159 

12,841 

18,724 

28,979 

16,967 

44,583 

66,750 

39,454 

27,683 

18,219 

3 1,600 

49,989 

50,800 

14,633 

55,468 

110,758 

14,718 

21.670 

23,845 

19,863 

78,866 

24,294 

12,355 

13,265 

38,664 

31,149 

42,656 

19,327 

22,500 

41,045 

36,339 

28,392 

25,668 

10,716 

50,603 

79,210 

111,542 

66,796 

74,858 

20,659 

39,863 

44, 173 

17,406 

39,855 

116,113 

0 .. t" Fully 
ngma 1on I'' ·t d d Date "x en e 

<2> Mamrity 

212412022 

3/29/2022 

5/20/2022 

7/2012022 

3/30/2022 

11/8/2022 

6/3/2022 

3/9/2027 

4/9/2027 

6/9/2027 

4/912027 

4/9/2027 

11/9/2027 

7/912025 

4/2912022 5/9/2027 

10/21/2022 11/9/2026 

812312022 7/912028 

5/212022 5/9/2027 

9/ 13/2022 9/912027 

5/2612022 6/912027 

512612022 

611/2022 

6/ 14/2022 

8/212022 

211712023 

9/20/2022 

1/3 112023 

12/2912022 

12/212022 

12/ 16/2022 

4/ 10/2023 

2/9/2023 

6/2812024 

6/3012023 

7n8/2023 

612812023 

8/ 112023 

81I0/2023 

6/912028 

6/912027 

6/912027 

8/9/2027 

9/912026 

10/9/2027 

1119/2027 

1/912028 

12/912027 

119/2027 

4/9/2026 

21912028 

7/9/ 2029 

7/9/2027 

8/9/2028 

7/9/2028 

8/912028 

8/912028 

8/ 17/2023 9/912028 

3/2 1/2024 10/9/2027 

10/ 18/2023 1119/2026 

10/ 1712023 11/912028 

10/ 17/2023 11/9/2026 

10/ 1212023 10/9/2028 

12/612023 12/912026 

11114/2023 1219/2028 

211412024 21912025 

2/5/2024 2/9/2029 

12/1512023 

3/1912024 

211212024 

219/2024 

2116/2024 

4/5/2024 

2129/2024 

317/2024 

317/2024 

4/24/2024 

4/29/2024 

4/3012024 

5/24/2024 

5/ 10/2024 

11912028 

10/612026 

8/9/2028 

8/912026 

3/9/2029 

419/2028 

3/9/ 2029 

3/912029 

3/9/2029 

5/9/2028 

5/912029 

5/9/2029 

6/9/2028 

5/9/2029 

l nte1·est Rate 
(4)(>) 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.15% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.30% 

I M SOFR Term + 7.05% 

1M SOFR Term + 6.75% 

1M SOFR Term+ 4.90% 

1M SOFR Term + 5.34% 

IM SOFR Term + 7.05% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.95% 

7.00% 

IM SOFR Term + 6.70% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.55% 

1M SOFR Term + 4.90% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.65% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.65% 

IM SOFR Term + 2.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.45% 

1M SOFR Term+ 5.00% 

IM SOFR Term + 6.31% 

1M SOFR Term+ 5.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 7.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.20% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.25% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.85% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.90% 

I M SOFR Term + 2.80% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.95% 

I M SOFR Term + 4.25% 

4.75% 

IM SOFRTerm + 3.20% 

IM SOFR Term + 5.45% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.85% 

IM SOFR Term+ 4.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 4.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.25% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.85% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.20% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.65% 

9.00% 

1M SOFR Term+ 4.50% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.95% 

11.99% 

1M SOFR Term + 5.50% 

IM SOFR Term t· 3.75% 

I M SOFR Term ~ 3.65% 

1M SOFR Term + 3.15% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.25% 

1M SOFR Term+ 2.70% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.90% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.77% 

1M SOFR Term+ 2.50% 

EITective Loan to 
Yit ld Value 

(6) (7) 

7.48% 

7.63% 

11.38% 

11.08% 

9.23% 

9.67% 

11.38% 

69.6% 

76.9% 

-% 
% 

61.1% 

57.7% 

62.4% 

8.28% 73.2% 

7.00% 70.9% 

11.03% 46.5% 

7.88% 67.7% 

9.23% 64.6% 

7.98% 71.0% 

7.98% 

7.08% 

7.78% 

9.33% 

10.64% 

10.08% 

11.83% 

8.53% 

8.08% 

8.58% 

8.18% 

9.23% 

7.13% 

8.28% 

8.58% 

4.75% 

7.53% 

9.78% 

9.18% 

9.50% 

9.00% 

8.59% 

8.18% 

7.53% 

8.50% 

7.98% 

9.00% 

8.83% 

8.28% 

11.99% 

% 

8.08% 

7.98% 

7.48% 

7.58% 

7.03% 

8.08% 

7.28% 

7.23% 

8.08% 

7.10% 

6.83% 

73.9% 

75.9% 

71.6% 

71.2% 

-% 
62.1% 

6.2% 

70.1% 

64.6% 

68.1% 

44.7% 

53.6% 

71.5% 

29.4% 

43.2% 

85.7% 

58.7% 

72.8% 

53.5% 

% 

62.4% 

48.9% 

61.4% 

55.1% 

63.6% 

50.0% 

84.4% 

41.6% 

42.4% 

8.6% 

% 

56.7% 

53.3% 

63.8% 

58.7% 

58.6% 

57.2% 

70.4% 

72.2% 

55.8% 

60.9% 

50.7% 
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Loan 
Type 

Senior Debt I 08 

Senior Debt 109 

Senior Debt I I 0 

Senior Debt Ill 

Senior Debt 112 

Senior Debt 113 

Senior Debt 114 

Senior Debt 115 

Senior Debt 116 

Senior Debt 11 7 

Senior Debt 118 

Senior Debt 119 

Senior Debt 120 

SeniorDebt l21 

Senior Debt 122 

Senior Debt 123 

Senior Debt 124 

Senior Debt 125 

Senior Debt 126 

Senior Debt 127 

Senior Debt 128 

Senior Debt 129 

Senior Debt 130 

Senior Debt 131 

Senior Debt 132 

Senior Debt 133 

Senior Debt 134 

Senior Debt 135 

Senior Debt 136 

Senior Debt 13 7 

Senior Debt 138 

Senior Debt 139 

Senior Debt 1410 

Senior Debt 141 

Senior Debt 142 

Senior Debt 143 

Senior Debt 144 

Senior Debt 1415 

Mezzanine Loan I 

Mezzanine Loan 2 

Mezzanine Loan 3 

Mezzanine Loan 4 

Mezzanine Loan 5<8> 

Mez?.anine Loan 6 

Mezzanine Loan 7 

Mezzanine Loan 8 

Mezzanine Loan 9 

Mezzanine Loan I 0 

Risk 
Ra

1
\ing 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 
2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

3 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

l'•·operty 
Type 

Hospitality 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Retail 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Retail 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Hospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

l lospitality 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

l Iospitality 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Mixed Usc 

Industrial 

Multifami ly 

Multifamily 

I lospitality 

Multifamily 

I Iospitality 

Hospitality 

l lospitality 

Multifami ly 

Multifamily 

Multifamily 

Industrial 

Multifamily 

Multifami ly 

Mixed Usc 

I lospitality 

Total/Weighted Average 

S tate 

Florida 

Various 

Florida 

Texas 

Texas 

Indiana 

Wisconsin 

Texas 

Oregon 

New Jersey 

Various 

North Carol ina 

California 

Texas 

North Carol ina 

Tennessee 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

New York 

Texas 

Texas 

New York 

Texas 

Florida 

New York 

Florida 

Georgia 

Georgia 

North Carol ina 

New York 

Tennessee 

South Carolina 

North Carolina 

Texas 

North Carolina 

Illinois 

New York 

Texas 

District of Columbia 

California 

New Jersey 

California 

New York 

New York 

New York 

Texas 

l'ar 
Value 

49,950 

23,084 

8,430 

22,219 

21,874 

17,781 

1,986 

7,500 

7,050 

3,263 

43,627 

24,474 

13,240 

17,000 

16,640 

21,420 

5,780 

38,570 

70,787 

21,797 

11,089 

14,130 

25,991 

21,795 

18,523 

13,621 

34,118 

29,808 

53,973 

28,685 

18,100 

58,685 

13,441 

24,359 

31,162 

14,409 

17,263 

16,378 

1,350 

7,900 

11,700 

4,000 

2,180 

1,264 

2,055 

7,527 

1,417 

$4,999,854 

Amortized 
Cost 

49,745 

23,148 

8,378 

22,092 

21,770 

17,713 

1,992 

7,481 

7,001 

2,853 

43,747 

24,321 

13,176 

17,067 

16,563 

21,326 

5,629 

38,471 

70,601 

21,728 

11 ,017 

14,072 

25,809 

21,690 

18,433 

13,488 

33,942 

29.663 

53,723 

28,475 

18,024 

58,412 

13,368 

24,239 

29,250 

14,337 

17, 144 

16.378 

1,348 

7,900 

11 ,684 

3,986 

2,171 

1,256 

2,044 

7,491 

1,409 

$4,986,750 

Fully 
Origination Extended 

Date 
<2> Mamrity 

5/9/2024 

6/6/2024 

6/3/2024 

617/2024 

5/3012024 

6/28/2024 

6/2012024 

6/2512024 

6/28/2024 

7/l/2024 

7/ l/2024 

6128/2024 

711 112024 

7/25/2024 

9116/2024 

9/ 18/2024 

7/30/2024 

9/6/2024 

9/6/2024 

9/6/2024 

817/2024 

8/9/2024 

10/912024 

6/9/2029 

6/9/2029 

6/912029 

6/9/2029 

6/9/2029 

7/9/2028 

7/912026 

7/9/2027 

7/9/2028 

7/912029 

8/912025 

7/9/2029 

7/912029 

8/9/ 2027 

10/912027 

10/912029 

8/9/2027 

9/912028 

9/9/2028 

9/9/2028 

8/912029 

8/9/2028 

10/912029 

11122/2024 12/9/2027 

I 1112/2024 I 1/9/2029 

I 1/6/2024 I 119/2029 

11/ 1912024 12/9/2029 

12/5/2024 12/912027 

111112024 11/912029 

11/8/2024 11/9/2029 

11/25/2024 12/9/2028 

12/4/2024 

12/612024 

12/9/2024 

1212012024 

12/2712024 

12/30/2024 

12/4120 17 

11/8/2022 

1/3112023 

6/3012023 

5/24/2024 

7/ 1/2024 

711 112024 

817/2024 

12/912025 

12/9/2027 

12/9/2028 

1/9/2028 

l/9/2028 

l/912030 

51612026 

11/9/2027 

11/9/2027 

7/9/2027 

619/2028 

7/9/2029 

7/9/2029 

8/9/2029 

11119/2024 12/9/2029 

12/412024 12/912025 

12/2712024 l/9/2028 

l nte1·est Rate 
(4)(>) 

IM SOFR Tem1 + 4.50% 

1M SOFR Term+ 4.43% 

I M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

1M SOFR Term+ 2.85% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.25% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.05% 

5.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.80% 

1M SOFR Term + 4.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 5.50% 

6.00% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.75% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.25% 

8.50% 

IM SOFR Term + 2.75% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.10% 

1M SOFR Term + 8.30% 

IM SOFR Term + 2.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.75% 

1M SOFR Term+ 2.75% 

I M SOFR Term + 5.25% 

IM SOFR Term + 4.00% 

IM SOFR Term + 3.75% 

1M SOFR Term+ 3.75% 

IM SOFR Term + 2.95% 

I M SOFR Term + 4.75% 

1M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

IM SOFR Term t 3.50% 

I M SOFR Term + 2.95% 

I M SOFR Term + 2.75% 

5.50% 

1M SOFR Term+ 5.35% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.50% 

I M SOFR Term+ 3.25% 

4.25% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.25% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.25% 

5.99% 

I M SOFR Term + 9.25% 

IM SOFR Term + 10.00% 

I M SOFR Term + 3.95% 

JM SOFR Term + 3.67% 

1M SOFR Term -t 11.90% 

15.00% 

1M SOFR Term + 12.75% 

I M SOFR Term + 8.23% 

16.00% 

IM SOFR Term + 10.51% 

Effective Loan to 
Yit ld Value 

(6) (7) 

8.83% 

8.76% 

7.28% 

7.18% 

7.58% 

7.38% 

5.50% 

8.13% 

8.83% 

9.83% 

6.00% 

8.08% 

8.58% 

8.50% 

7.08% 

7.43% 

12.63% 

7.08% 

7.08% 

7.08% 

62.8% 

44.6% 

56.0% 

64.5% 

68.8% 

68.2% 

73.0% 

80.0% 

53.1% 

10.3% 

67.3% 

69.3% 

61.9% 

90.0% 

78.1% 

59.4% 

31.3% 

71.0% 

72.7% 

71.3% 

9.58% 53.6% 

9.00% 63.7% 

8.08% 71.7% 

8.50% 29.2% 

7.28% 66.9% 

9.08% 75.8% 

7.28% 80.8% 

7.83% 67.7% 

7.28% 71.1% 

7.08% 63.5% 

5.50% 70.6% 

9.68% 

7.83% 

7.58% 

4.25% 

7.58% 

7.58% 

5.99% 

13.58% 

14.33% 

8.28% 

8.00% 

16.23% 

15.00% 

17.08% 

12.56% 

16.00% 

53.3% 

59.7% 

76.3% 

87.3% 

40.3% 

69.5% 

52.9% 

64.6% 

6.2% 

45.2% 

60.9% 

10.3% 

72.1% 

59.6% 

85.6% 

60.2% 

14.84% 44.3% 

7.97% 62.9% 

<•> For a discussion of risk ratings, see Note 3- Commercial Mortgage Loans in our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 
Form 10-K. 

<2> Date loan was originated or acquired by us. The origination or acquisition d!ate is not updated for subsequent loan modifications. 

(J) Fully extended maturity assumes all extension options are exercised by the borrower; provided, however, that our loans may be repaid 
prior to such date. 
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<4> Our floating rate loan agreements generally contain tl1c contractual obligation for the borrower to maintain an interest rate cap to protect 
against rising interest rates. ln a simple interest rate cap, the borrower pays a premium for a notional principal amount based on a capped 
interest rate (the "cap rate"). When the floating rate exceeds the cap rate, the borrower receives a payment from the cap counterparty 
equal to the difference between tl1e floating rate and tlle cap rate on the same notional principal amount for a specified period of time. 
When interest rates rise, the value of an interest rate cap will increase, there·by reducing the borrower's exposure to rising interest rates. 

(S) As of December 31, 2024, all of our commercial mortgage loans, held for investment which had been indexed at LIB OR were converted 
to SOFR utilizing the 11.448 basis points adjustment and the applicable spreads remain unchanged. The loans which have the SOFR 
adjustment are indicated with "Adj. I M SOFR Tenn." 

<6> Effective yield is calculated as the spread of the loan plus the greater of the applicable index or index floor. 

(?) LTV represents the ratio of the loan amount to the appraised value of the property at the time of origination. llowcver, for 
predevelopment construction loans at origination, LTV is not applicable and is therefore nil. 

(S) Commitment on the loan was unfunded as of December 31 , 2024. 

The following table shows selected data fTom our commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value as of 
December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Loan Type Property Type State Par Value Interest Rate Effective Yield Loan to Value<1> 

TRS Senior Debt 1 Mixed Use Maryland $ 70,000 6.99% 6.99% 55.8% 

TRS Senior Debt 2 Multifamily Pennsylvania 5,000 7.58% 7.58% 43.9% 

TRS Senior Debt 3 Multifamily Arizona 12,270 6.96% 6.96% 55.6% 

Total/Weighted Average $ 87,270 7.02% 7.02% 55.10% 

<•> Loan to value percentage (LTV) represents the ratio of the loan amount to the appraised value of the property at the time of origination. 

The following table shows selected data fTom our real estate owned, held for investment assets in our portfolio as of 
December 31 , 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Acquisition Primary P ro11er ty Real Estate Intangible 
Type Date Location(s) Type Owned, Net Lease Asset, Net Total 

Real Estate Owned 1 September 2021 Jeffersonville, GA Industrial $ 83, 142 $ $ 83,142 

Real Estate Owned 2 August 2023 Portland, OR Office 18,475 18,475 

Real Estate Owned 3 October 2023 Lubbock, TX Multifamily 11,543 II ,543 

Total $ 113,160 $ $ 113,160 

The following table shows selected data from our real estate owned, held for sale assets in our portfolio as ofDecember 31 , 
2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Acquisition Primary Property 
Type Date Location(s) Type Assets, Net Liabilities, Net 

Real Estate Owned, held for sale 1 Various Various Retail $ 14,472 $ 1,291 

Real Estate Owned, held for sale 2 Various Various Multifamily 211 ,024 4,528 

Total $ 225,496 $ 5,819 
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The following table shows selected data from our real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value as of 
December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Ty)JC Interest Rate Maturity Par Value Fair Value Effective Yield 

CMBS bond 1 I month SOFR + 2.78% 8/19/2035 $ 20,000 $ 20,021 7.12% 

CMBS bond2 1 month SOFR + 2.90% 10/ 19/2039 24,556 24,587 7.23% 

CMBS bondl3 1 month SOFR + 3.20% 5125/2038 43,333 43,388 7.53% 

CMBS bondl4 1 month SOFR + 2.36% 4116/2028 39,061 39,116 6.70% 

CMBS bond 5 I month SOFR + 2.27% 9/19/2038 9,663 9,685 6.61% 

CMBS bond 6 1 month SOFR + 3.11% 9119/2038 12,000 12,047 7.44% 

CMBS bondl7 I month SOFR + 1.36% 11/15/2036 15,887 15,648 5.70% 

CMBS bond 8 I month SOFR + 1.64% 4/15/2029 5,000 4,989 5.97% 

CMBS bond 9 I month SOFR + 2.99% 8/15/2039 3,800 3,812 7.32% 

CMBS bond 10 I month SOFR + 2.84% 8/15/2029 7,396 7,408 7.17% 

CMBS bond II I month SOFR + 2.94% 1/15/2030 22,309 22,272 7.27% 

Total/Weighted Average $ 203,005 $ 202,973 7.02% 
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Liquidity and Capita l Resources 

Overview 

Our expected material cash requirements over the next twelve months and thereafter are composed of (i) contractually 
obligated payments, including payments of principal and interest and contractually-obligated fundings on our loans; (ii) other 
essential expenditures, including operating and administrative expenses and dividends paid in accordance with REIT 
distribution requirements; and (iii) opportunistic investments, including new loans. 

Our contractually obligated payments primarily consist of payment obligations under the debt financing arrangements 
which are set forth below, and included in the table under Contractual Obligations and Cmmnitments. 

We may from time to time purchase or retnre outstanding debt securities and repurchase or redeem our equity securities. 
Such purchases, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, liquidity requirements and oU1er factors. 

We closely monitor our liquidity position and believe that we have sufficient current liquidity and access to additional 
liquidity to meet our financial obligations for the next 12 monilis and beyond. 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio and Total Leverage Ratio 

The following table presents our debt-to-equity and total leverage ratios: 

Net debt-to-equity ratio0> 

Total leverage ratio<2> 

December 31, 2024 

2.6x 

2.7x 

December 31, 2023 

2.3x 

2.5x 

(llRepresentts (i) total outstanding borrowings under secured financing arrangements, including collateralized loan obligations, repurchase 
agreements - commercial mortgage loans, repurchase agreements - real estate securities, asset-specific financing arrangements, and 
unsecured debt, less cash and cash equivalents, to (ii) total equity and total redeemable convcr1!ible preferred stock, at period end. 
Recourse net debt-to-equity ratio was 0.3x and 0.2x as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

(Z) Represents (i) total outstanding borrowings under secured financing arrangements, including collateralized loan obligations, repurchase 
agreements - commercial mortgage loans, repurchase agreements - real estate securities, asset-specific fmancing arrangements, and 
unsecured debt, to (ii) total equity and total redeemable convertible preferred stock, at period end. Recourse leverage ratio was 0.4x and 
0.4x as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Sources of Liquidity 

Our primary sources ofliquidity include unrestricted cash, capacity in our collateralized loan obligations available for 
reinvestment, and funds available and in progress on fmancing lines. 

Our current sources of near-term liquidity as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 are set forth in Ule following table (dollars in 
millions): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Unrestricted cash 

CLO reinvestment available0 l 

Financings available & in progress<2l 

Total 

$ 

$ 

O> See discussion below for further information on the Company's collateralized loan obligations. 

184 $ 338 

12 55 

339 1,131 

535 $ 1,524 
============ 

(Z) Represents cash available to invest at a market advance rate utilizing available capacity on fmancing lines. 

We expect to use additional debt and equity fmancing as a source of capital. Our board of directors currently intends to 
operate at a leverage level of between one to three times book value of equity. However, our board of directors may change this 
target without shareholder approval. We anticipate that our debt and equity financing sources and our anticipated cash 
generated from operations will be adequate to fund our anticipated uses of capital. 

We have an effective shelf registration statement for offerings of equity securities that is not limited om the amount of 
securities we may issue. We also have authorized an at-the-market sales program ("ATM") pursuant to which we may sell up to 
$200 million of shares of our common stock from time to tin1e. We have not sold any shares of common stock under the ATM 
to date. We also may access liquidity through our dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan ("DRIP"), which includes a 
direct stock purchase option. 
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In addition to our current mix of financing sources, we may also access additional forms of financings , including credit 
facilities, securitizations, public and private, secured and unsecured debt issuances by the Company or its subsidiaries, or 
through capital recycling initiatives whereby we sell certain assets in our portfolio and reinvest the proceeds in assets with m.ore 
attractive risk-adjusted returns. 

Collateralized Loan Obligations 

During the year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company raised $1.0 billion through the issuance of our CLO, BSPRT 
2024-FL11 Issuer, LLC. Additionally, as of December 31,2024, the Company had $12.2 million ofreinvesunent capital 
available across all outstanding collateralized loan obligations. The following table shows the par value outstanding for each 
CLO and the respective reinvestment end dates (dollars in millions): 

CLOName Debt Amount Reinvestment End Date - --
2021-FL6 Issuer $ 344.4 Ended 

2021-FL7 Issuer $ 392.8 Ended 

2022-FL8 Issuer $ 796.9 Ended 

2022-FL9 Issuer $ 519.5 Ended 

2023-FLlO Issuer $ 717.2 04/08/25 

2024-FLll Issuer $ 886.2 10/08/27 

Repurchase Agreements and Revolving Credit Facilities ('Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities'') 

The Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities are financing sources through which the Company may pledge one or more 
mortgage loans to the financing entity in exchange for funds typically at an advance rate tl1at typically range between 60% to 
75% of the principal amount of the mortgage loan being pledged. 

We expect to use the advances from these Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities to finance the acquisition or origination of 
eligible loans, including first mortgage loans, subordinated mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and participattion interests therein. 

The Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities generally provide that in the event of a decrease in the value of our collateral, the 
lenders can demand additional collateral. Should the value of our collateral decrease as a result of deteriorating credit quality, 
resulting margin calls may cause an adverse change in our liquidity position. 

The following tables summarize our Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities and our master repurchase agreements 
("MRAs") for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively: 
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As ofDeeember 31, 2024 

Amount Outstandin_g _ ---- Average Outstanding Balance 

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 

Repurchase Agreements 
and Revolving Credit 
Facilities - Commercial 
Mortgage Loans $ 412,556 $ 762,437 $ 183,761 $ 329,811 $ 382,313 $ 671 ,561 $ 799,861 $ 237,888 

Repurchase Agreements, 
Real Estate Securities 194,769 243,646 241 ,266 236,608 217,012 249,442 259,977 264,514 

Total $ 607,325 $1,006,083 $ 425,027 $ 566,419 $ 599,325 $ 921,003 $1,059,838 $ 502,402 

As of December 31,2023 

Amount Outstanding Average Outstanding Balance 

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 

Repurchase Agreements 
and Revolving Credit 
Facilities - Commercial 
Mortgage Loans $ 604,421 $ 695,039 $ 249,345 $ 299,707 $ 725,300 $ 796,659 $ 816,929 $ 278,168 

Repurchase Agreements, 
Real Estate Securities 107,934 176,993 240,010 174,055 217,389 209,025 349,878 263,769 

Repurchase Agreements, 
Real Estate Securities held 
as trading 121,000 113,000 149,387 117,159 57,242 

Total $ 833,355 $ 985,032 $ 489,355 $ 473,762 $1,092,076 $1,122,843 $1,224,049 $ 541,937 

As of December 31, 2022 

Amount Outstanding Average Outstanding Balance 

Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 Ql Q2 Q3 Q4 --
Repurchase Agreements 
and Revolving Credit 
Facilities - Commercial 
Mortgage Loans $ 522,890 $ 832,034 $ 699,408 $ 680,859 $ 813,144 $ 834,337 $ 709,679 $ 729,329 

Repurchase Agreements, 
Real Estate Securities 54,610 53,288 112,613 222,864 44,744 54,033 53,688 174,389 

Repurchase Agreements, 
Real Estate Securities held 
as trading 1,659,931 240,000 225,000 217, 144 3,055,413 1,818,495 230,011 220, 102 

Total $2,237,431 $1,125,322 $1,037,021 $1,120,867 $3,913,301 $2,706,865 $ 993,378 $1,123,820 

The use of our warehouse lines is dependent upon a number of factors including but not limited to: origination volume, 
loan repayments and prepayments, our use of other fmancing sources such as collateralized loan obligations, our liquidity needs 
and types ofloan assets and underlying collateral that we hold. 

During the twelve months ended December 31 , 2024, the maximum monthly average outstanding balance was $1.1 bilhon, 
of which $0.8 billion was related to repurchase agreements on our commercial mortgage loans and $0.3 billion for repurchase 
agreements on our real estate securities. 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, the maximum monthly average outstanding balance was $1.2 billion, 
of which $0.9 billion was related to repurchase agreements on our commercial mortgage loans and $0.3 billion for repurchase 
agreements on our real estate securities. 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, the maximum monthly average outstanding balance was $5.3 bilE ion, 
of which $1.1 billion was related to repurchase agreements on our commercial mortgage loans and 4.2 billion for repurchase 
agreements on our real estate securities. 

Distributions 

In order to maintain our election to qualify as a REIT, we must currently distribute, at a minimum, an amount equal to 90% 
of our taxable income, without regard to the deduction for distributions paid and excluding net capital gains. The Company 
must distribute 100% of its taxable income (including net capital gains) to avoid paying corporate U.S. federal income taxes. 
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Distributions on our common stock arc payable when declared by our board of directors. 

Dividends payable on each share of Series H convertible prefened stock ("Series H Prefened Stock") is generally equal to 
the quarterly dividend that would have been paid had such share of prcfcncd stock been converted to a share of common stock, 
except to the extent common stock dividends have been reduced below certain specified levels. To the extent dividends on 
shares of preferred stock are not authorized and declared by our board of directors and paid by the Company monthly, the 
dividend amounts will accrue. 

Holders of shares of the Company's 7.50% Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock ("Series E Preferred Stock") 
are entitled to receive, when, as and if autl10rized by our board of directors and declared by the Company, out of funds legally 
available for the payment of dividends, cumulative cash dividends at the rate of7.50% of tl1e $25.00 per share liquidation 
preference per annum (equivalent to $1.875 per annum per share). 

In December 2024, the Company's board of directors declared the following: (i) a fourth quarter 2024 dividend of $0.355 
per share on the Company's common stock (equivalent to $1.42 per armum), (ii) a fourth quarter 2024 dividend of $106.22 per 
share on the Company's Series H Preferred Stock, and (iii) a fourth quarter 2024 dividend of $0.46875 per share on the 
Company's Series E Preferred Stock, all of which were paid in January 2025 to holders of record as of December 31,2024. 

Under tile Company's dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan ("DRIP"), the Company may elect to supply 
shares for reinvestment via newly issued shares of common stock under the DRIP or via shares of common stock acquired by 
the DRIP administrator on tile open market. For tile year ended December 31 , 2024, 0 and 163,952 shares of common stock 
were issued by the Company and purchased in the open market by the DRIP administrator and allocated to DRIP participants, 
respectively, under the dividend reinvestment component of DRIP. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the Company paid an aggregate of$117.9 million and $ 118.0 million, 
respectively, of common stock distributions. 

Cash Flows 

The following table sets forth changes in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash for tile years ended December 31, 2024 
2023, and 2022, respectively 

Cash flows from operating act:ivilies 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

$ 

$ 

For the Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 
57,233 $ 197,387 $ 152,515 

(155,475) 380,807 3,097,265 

(48,581) (424,994) (3,227,492) __ ___;______;._~ 
(146,823) $ 153,200 =$==2=2=,2=88= 

During the year ended December 31 , 2024, cash inflows of $57.2 mUllion from operating aclivitics were primarily driven 
by (i) net income of $92.4 mi1lion and (ii) certain non-cash expenses, partially offset by net cash outlay of $74.1 million related 
to originations, sales and repayment of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023 , cash inflows of $197.4 million from operating activities were primarily driven 
by (i) net income of$144.5 million, (ii) net proceeds of$19.5 million related to originations, sales and repayment of 
commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair and (iii) certain non-cash expenses. 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

During the year ended December 31, 2024 cash outflows of$155.5 million from investing activities were primarily driven 
by (i) tile origination and purchase of commercial mortgage loans, held for investment for $1.8 billion, (ii) tile purchase of real 
estate securities, available for sale for $79.5 million and (iii) tile purchase of equity metl1od investment in real estate for 
$ 13.4 million. Outflows were partially offset by (i) proceeds from principal repayments of$ 1.5 billion received on commercial 
mortgage loans, held for investment, (ii) proceeds received from the sale or paydown of real estate securities, available for sale 
o[ $ 120.0 million, (iii) proceeds from the sale of real estate owned, held for sale assets of $34.4 million and (iv) proceeds from 
the sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for investment of $33.4 million. 

During the year ended December 31 , 2023, cash inflows of $380.8 million from investing activilics were primarily driven 
by (i) proceeds from principal repayments of $1.1 billion received on commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, (ii) 
proceeds from the sale or paydown of real estate securities, available for sale of $418.8 million, (iii) proceeds from tl1e sale of 
real estate owned, held for sale assets of $39.8 million and (iv) $17.7 million received from principal collateral on mortgage 
investments. Inflows were partially offset by (i) tile origination and purchase of commercial mortgage loans, held for 
investment for $936.3 million and (ii) the purchase of real estate securities, available for sale for $223.8 million. 
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Cash Flows f rom Financing Activities 

During the year ended December 31, 2024 cash outflows of $48.6 million from financing activities were primarily driven 
by (i) repayments on our other ftnancings of $23.7 million, (ii) $144.9 million of distributions paid to shareholders, (iii) 
$16.2 million of distributions paid to non-controlling interest, (iv) payments of deferred fi.nancing costs of $9.3 million and (v) 
$4.9 million of common stock repurchases. Outflows were partially offset by (i) net borrowings on collateralized loan 
obligations of $59.1 million, (ii) net borrowings on repurchase agreements for real estate securities of$62.6 million and (iii) net 
borrowings on repurchase agreements and revolving credit facilities for commercial mortgage loans of$30.1 million. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash outflows of $425.0 million from financing activities were primarily driven 
by (i) net repayments on repurchase agreements for real estate securities of $266.0 million, (ii) net repayments on repurchase 
agreements and revolving credit facilities for COilUllcrcial mortgage loans of$381.2 million, (iii) net repayments on our other 
financings of $39.8 million, (iv) $144.3 million of distributions paid to shareholders, (v) repayments on unsecured debt of 
$13.4 million, (vi) payments of deferred financing costs of $12.9 million and (vii) $12.5 million of common stock repurchases. 
Outflows were partially offset by net borrowings on collateralized loan obligations of$448.1 million. 

Election as a REIT 

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code commencing with the 
taxable year ended December 31, 2013. As a REIT, if we meet certain organizational and operational requirements and 
distribute at least 90% of our "REIT taxable income" (detennined before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net 
capital gains) to our stockholders in a year, we will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent of the income that we 
distribute. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and 
property, and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income. 

Contractual O bligations and Commitments 

Our contractual obligations, excluding interest obligations (as amounts are not fixed or determinable), as of December 31, 
2024 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands): 

More than 5 
Less than 1 year I to 3 years 3 to 5 years years Total 

Unfunded loan commitments (I) $ 76,163 $ 292,151 $ 3,195 $ $ 371,509 

Repurchase agreements -
commercial mortgage loans 76,073 253,738 329,811 

Repurchase agreements - real estate 236,608 236,608 securities 

CLOs <2> 3,657,120 3,657,120 

Mortgage note payable 23,998 23,998 

Unsecured debt 81 ,395 81 ,395 
Other financing and loan 
participation - commercial mortgage 12,865 12,865 
loans 

Total $ 412,842 $ 545,889 $ 16,060 $ 3,738,515 $ 4,713,306 

(I) The allocation of our unfunded loan commitments is based on the earlier of the commitment expiration date or the loan maturity date. 

(Z) Excludes $532.4 million ofCLO notes, held by the Company, which are eliminated in Collateralized loan obligations in the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 , 2024. 

In addition to its cash requirements, the Company pays a quarterly dividend and has an existing share repurchase 
authorization. As of December 31, 2024, the Company's quarterly cash dividend was $0.355 per share of common stock (which 
was paid on an as-converted basis on the Company's shares of Series H Preferred Stock), and $0.46875 per share on the 
Company's shares of Series E Preferred Stock. The payment of future dividends is subject to declaration by the Board of 
Directors. The Company's Board of Directors also has authorized a $65 million share repurchase program, of which 
$31.1 million remained available as of December 31, 2024. The authorization does not obligate the Company to acquire any 
specific number of shares. 
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Related Party Arrangements 

Benefit Street Partners L.L. C. 

Amended Advisory Agreement 

Refer to "Note 11 -Related Party Transactions and Arrangements" for a summary of the Company's Advisory Agreement 
with the Advisor and amoUilts paid to the Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement for the years endedl December 31,2024 
and December 31 , 2023. 

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the "Committee") of the Company's board of directors, which 
consists solely of the Company's independent directors, negotiated, approved and recommended that the board of directors 
approve, the amended Advisory Agreement. The Committee engaged independent legal counsel to assist tbe Committee in 
negotiating the amended Advisory Agreement. 

Pursuant to the amended Advisory Agreement, the Advisor provides the daily management for the Company and the 
Operating Partnership, including an investment program consistent with the investment objectives and policies of the Company 
as detennined and adopted from time to time by the board of directors. The initial term of the amended Advisory Agreement 
was three-years and was automatically renewed for an additional one-year period on January 19, 2025 and will continue to 
automatically renew for additional one-year periods unless either party elects not to renew. 

The Company may tennioate the amended Advisory Agreement for a Cause Event (as defmed in the amended Advisory 
Agreement) without payment of a termjoation fee. Following the expiration of a term, and upon 180 days' prior written notice, 
the Company may, without cause, elect not to renew the amended Advisory Agreement upon the determination by two-thirds of 
the Company's independent directors that (i) there has been unsatisfactory performance by the Advisor or (ii) that the asset 
management fee and annual subordinated performance fee payable to the Advisor are not fair, subject to certain conilitions. In 
such case, the Company shall be obligated to pay a termination fee. 

During the tenn of the amended Advisory Agreement, the Advisor shall not, directly or indirectly, manage or advise 
another REIT that is engaged in the business o ff the Company in any geographical region in which the Company has a 
significant investment, or provide any services related to fixed-rate conduit lending to any other person, subject to certain 
conditions. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We had no off balance sheet arrangements as of December 31 , 2024 and tl1rough tl1e date of tl1e filing of this Form 10-K. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

Distributable Earnings and Distributable Earnings to Common 

Distributable Earnings is a non-GAAP measure, which the Company defines as GAAP net income (loss), adjusted for (i) 
non-cash CLO amortization acceleration and amortization over the expected useful life of the Company's CLOs, (ii) umealized 
gains and losses on loans and derivatives, inclu:ding CECL reserves and impairments, net of realized gains and losses, as 
described further below, (iii) non-cash equity compensation expense, (iv) depreciation and amortization, (v) subordinated 
performance fe.e accruals/(reversal), (vi) realized gains and losses on debt extinguishment and CLO calls, and (vii) certain other 
non-cash items. Further, Distributable Earnings to Common, a non-GAAP measure, presents Distributable Earnings net of (i) 
perpetual preferred stock dividend payments and (ii) non-controlling interests in joint ventures. 

As noted above, we exclude unrealized gains and losses on loans and other investments, including CECL reserves and 
impairments, from our calculation of Distributable Earnings and include realized gains and losses. The nature of these 
adjustments is described more fhlly in the footnotes to our reconciliation tables. GAAP loan loss reserves and any property 
impainnent losses have been excluded from Distributable Earnings consistent with other unrealized losses pursuant to our 
existing definition of Distributable Earnings. We expect to only recognize such potential credit or property impaim1ent losses in 
Distributable Earnings if and when such amounts are deemed nonrecoverable upon a realization event. Tllis is generally at the 
time a loan is repaid, or in the case of a foreclosure or other property, when tl1e underlying asset is sold. Ammmts may also be 
deemed non-recoverable if, in our determination, it is nearly certain the carrying amowlls will not be collected or realized. The 
realized loss amount reflected in Distributable Earnings will generally equal the difference between the cash received and tbe 
Distributable Earnings basis of the asset. The timing of any such loss realization in our Distributable Earnings may differ 
materially from the timing of the corresponding loss reserves, charge-offs or impairments in our consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
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The Company believes that Distributable Earnings and Distributable Earnings to Common provide meaningful information 
to consider in addition to the disclosed GAAP results. The Company believes Distributable Earnings and Distributable Earnings 
to Common are useful fmancial metrics for existing and potential future holders of its common stock as historically, over time, 
Distributable Earnings to Common has been an indicator of common dividends per share. As a REIT, the Company generally 
must distribute annually at least 90% of its taxable income, subject to certain adjustments, and therefore believes dividends are 
one of the principal reasons stockholders may invest in its common stock. Further, Distributable Earnings to Common helps 
investors evaluate performance excluding the effects of certain transactions and GAAP adjustments that the Company docs not 
believe are necessarily indicative of current loan portfolio performance and the Company's operations and is one of the 
performance metrics the Company's board of directors considers when dividends are declared. 

Distributable Earnings and Distributable Earnings to Common do not represent net income (loss) and should not be 
considered as an alternative to GAAP net income (loss). The methodology for calculating Distributable Earnings and 
Distributable Earnings to Common may differ from the methodologies employed by other companies and thus may not be 
comparable to the Distributable Earnings reported by other companies. 

The following table provides a reconciliation ofGAAP net income to Distributable Earnings and Distributable Earnings to 
Common for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 (dollars in thousands): 

GAAP net income (loss) 
Adjustments: 

CLO amortization acceleration<!) 

Unrealized (gain)lloss on financial instrumcnts<2> 

Unrealized (gain)lloss - ARMs 

(Reversal ot)lprovision for credit losses 

Non-cash compensation expense 

Depreciation and amortization 

Subordinated performance fee(3) 

Realized (gain)!loss on debt extinguishment I CLO call 

Realized gainl(loss) adjustment on loans and RE0<4l 

Loan workout chargcsl(loan workout recoveries is> 
Distributable Earnings 
7.5% series E cumulative redeemable preferred stock dividend 

Non-controlling interests in joint ventures net (income) I loss 
Non-controliling interests in joint ventures adjusted net (income) I loss DE 
Adjustments 

Distributable Earnings to Common 

Average common stock & common stock equivalents<6l 

GAAP net incomel(loss) ROE 

Distributable earnings ROE 

GAAP net incomel(loss) per share, diluted 

GAAP net incomel(loss) per share, fully converted<7J 

Distributable earnings per share, fully converted0 l 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

$ 92,403 $ 144,509 $ 14,215 

(5,521) 

6,933 7,185 

415 

35,699 33,738 

8,173 4,762 

5,630 7,128 

(7,551) 6,171 

(2,201) 

(40,605) ( 1,571) 

(5,105) 

$ 100,682 $ 189,510 

(19,367) (19,367) 

3,475 (602) 

(3,717) (31) 

$ 81,073 $ 169,510 

1,363,621 1,403,558 

5.6% 8.9% 

5.9% 12.1% 

$ 0.82 $ 1.42 

$ 0.87 $ 1.42 

$ 0.92 $ 1.92 

(438) 

17,010 

43,557 

36,115 

3,485 

5,408 

(8,380) 

5,104 

$ 116,076 

(19,367) 

216 

(1,415) 

$ 95,510 

1,456,871 

(0.3)% 

6.6% 

$ (0.38) 

$ (0.06) 

$ 1.07 

O> Before Q 1 2024, we adjusted GAAP income for non-cash CLO amortization acceleration to effectively amortize the issuance costs of 
our CLOs over the expected lifetime of the CLOs. We assume our CLOs will be outstanding for approximately four years and amortized 
the fmancing costs over approximately four years in our distributable earnings as compared to effective yield methodology in our GAAP 
earnings. Starting in Ql 2024, we amortized the issuance costs incurred on our CLOs over the expected lifetime of the CLOs in our 
GAAP presentation, making our previous adjustment no longer necessary. 

(Z) Represents umealized gains and losses on (i) commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value, (ii) other real estate 
investments, measured at fair value and (iii) derivatives. 

(l) Represents accrued and unpaid subordinated performance fcc. In addition, reversal of subordinated performance fcc represents cash 
payment obligations during the period. 
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<·1>Representts amounts deemed nonrecoverable upon a realization event, which is generally at the time a loan is repaid, or in the case of a 
foreclosure or other property, when the underlying asset is sold. AmOlmts may also be deemed non-recoverable if, in our determination, 
it is nearly certain the carrying amounts will not be collected or realized upon sale. Amount may be different than the GAAP basis. As of 
December 31, 2024, the Company has $ I 1.9 million of GAAP loss adjustments that would mn through distributable eamings if and 
when cash losses are realized. 

(S) Represents loan workout charges the Company incurred, which the Company deemed likely to be recovered. Reversal of loan workout 
charges represent recoveries received. During the second quarter of2023, the Company recovered $5. I million ofloan workout charges, 
in aggregate, related to the loan workout charges incurred in 2022. 

(6) Represents the average of all classes of equity except the Series E Preferred Stock. 

(?) Fully Converted assumes conversion of our series of convertible preferred stock and full vesting of our outstanding equity compensation 
awards. 

Item 7 A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 

Credit Risk 

Our investments are subject to a high degree of credit risk. Credit risk is the exposure to loss from loan defaults. Default 
rates are subject to a wide variety of factors, including, but not limited to, borrower frnancial condition, property performance, 
property management, supply/demand factors, construction trends, consumer behavior, re·gional economics, interest rates, the 
strength of the U.S. economy, and other factors beyond our control. All loans are subject to a certain probability of default. We 
manage credit risk through the underwriting process, acquiring our investments at the appropriate discount to face value, if any, 
and establislting loss assumptions. We also carefully monitor the performance of the loans, as well as external factors that may 
affect their value. 

Capital Market Risk 

We are exposed to risks related to the debt capital markets, and our related ability to finance our business through 
borrowings under repurchase obligations or other debt instruments. As a REIT, we are required to distribute a significant 
portion of our taxable income annually, which constrains our ability to accumulate operating cash flow and therefore requires 
us to utilize debt or equity capital to finance our business. We seek to mitigate these risks by monitoring the debt capital 
markets to in fonn our decisions on the amount, Lirning and terrns of capital we raise. 

Market uncertainty and volatility may cause fl uctuation in market value of certain asset classes within our portfolio. We 
have and may continue to receive margin calls from our lenders as a result of the decline in the market value of the assets 
pledged by us to our lenders w1der our repurchase agreements and warehouse credit facilities, and if we fad to resolve such 
margin calls when due by payment of cash or delivery of additional collateral, the lenders may exercise remedies including 
demanding payment by us of our aggregate outstanding financing obligations and/or taking ownership of th e loans or other 
assets securing the applicable obligations and liquidating them at inopportune prices. 
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Interest Rate Risk 

Our market risk arises primarily from interest rate risk relating to interest rate fluctuations. Many factors including 
governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations and other factors that 
arc beyond our control contribute to interest rate risk. To meet our short and long-term liquidity requirements, we may borrow 
funds at fixed and variable rates. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes in 
earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, from time to time, we may enter 
into interest rate hedge contracts such as swaps., collars and treasury lock agreements in order to mitigate our interest rate risk 
with respect to various debt instruments. While hedging activities may insulate us against adverse changes in interest rates, they 
may also limit our ability to participate in benefits of lower interest rates with respect to our portfolio of investments with fixed 
interest rates. We do not have any foreign denominated investments, and thus, we are not exposed to foreign currency 
fluctuations. 

As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, our portfolio included 149 and 141 variable rate investments, respectively, based on 
LIBOR and SOFR (or "indexing rates") for various terms. As of June 2023, the Company has fully transitioned all loans 
formerly on LIBOR indexing rates to SOFR indexing rates. The following table quantifies the potential changes in interest 
income net of interest expense should interest rates increase by 50 basis points or decrease by 50 or I 00 basis points, assuming 
that our current balance sheet was to remain constant and no actions were taken to alter our existing interest rate sensitivity. The 
changes in the portfolio for each basis points increase/decrease is a change from the base scenario. 

Estimated Percentage Change in Interest Income Net oflnterest Expense 

Change in Indexing Rates 

(-) 100 Basis Points 

(-)50 Basis Points 

Base Interest !Rate 

(+)50 Basis Points 

Real Estate Risk 

December 31, 2024 December 31,2023 

(1.09)% 

(1.47)% 

-% 
2.38% 

(6.15)% 

(3.03)% 

-% 
3.01 % 

The market values of commercial mortgage assets are subject to volatility and may be affected adversely by a number of 
factors, including, but not limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions (which may be adversely affected by 
industry slowdowns and other factors); local real estate conditions; changes or continued weakness in specific industry 
segments; and demographic factors. In addition, decreases in property values reduce the value of the collateral and the potential 
proceeds available to a borrower to repay the underlying loans, which could also cause us to suffer losses. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The information required by this Item 8 is hereby incorporated by reference to our Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning on page F -1 of this Aimual Report on Form 10-K. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We maintaill disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assmance that information 
required to be disclosed in reports we fLle and submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange 
Act") is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and that 
such information is accwnulatcd and cornmw1icated to om management, including om ChicfExccutive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the 
disclosure controls and procedmes, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and management necessarily was 
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures in reaching that 
level of reasonable assurance. 

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, management, with the participation of our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Almual Report on 
Form 1 0-K. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, as of 
December 31, 2024, that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide the reasonable assurance described 
above. 
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management's Annual Reporting on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(1) and 15d-15(t) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial 
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent 
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes. in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedwres may deteriorate. 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024. In 
making that assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (20 13). 

Based on its assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, our internal control over fmancial 
reporting was effective. 

Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC"), audited the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024. Their report dated February 26, 2025, which is included 
herein, expressed an unqualified opinjon on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

During the quarter ended December 31 , 2024, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

During the quarter ended December 3 1, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted, modified, or terminated a 
"Rule 10b5-l trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-l trading arrangement," as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of 
Regulation S-K. 

Item 9C. Disclosure Regardiing Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. 

Not applicable. 
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PART Ill 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The Board of Directors maintains a Code of Ethics that is applicable to our directors, officers, our Advisor and employees 
of the Advisor performing substantial services for the Company. It covers topics including, but not limited to, conflicts of 
interest, confidentiality of information, full and fair disclosure, reporting of violations and compliance with laws and 
regulations. 

The Code of Ethics is available on the Company's website at www.fbrtreit.com by clicking on "Governance- Governance 
Documents- Code of Ethics." We intend to disclose on this website any amendment to, or waiver of, any provision of this 
Code of Ethics applicable to our directors and executive officers that would otherwise be required to be disclosed under the 
rules of the SEC. You may also obtain a copy of the Code of Ethics by writing to our secretary at: Franklin BSP Realty Trust, 
Inc., I Madison Avenue, Suite 1600, New York, New York 10010, Attention: Micah Goodman, Secretary. A waiver of the 
Code of Ethics for our Chief Executive Officer may be made only by the Board of Directors or the appropriate committee of the 
Board and will be promptly disclosed to the extent required by law. A waiver of the Code of Ethics for all o ther person may be 
made only by our Chief Executive Officer and shall be discussed with the Board or a committee of tl1e Board as appropriate. 

The other information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy 
Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed pursl\.lant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

The information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement 
for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be Oled pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

Except as set forth below, the information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material 
appearing in the Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under 
the Exchange Act. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

The following table provides information about the Company's common stock that may be issued under our equity 
compensation plans as of December 31, 2024: 

Plan Category 

Equity compensation plans approved by 
security holders 
Equity compensation plans not approved 
by security holders 

Total 

Number of Securities to 
be Issued Upon Exercise 
of Outstanding Options, 
Warrants and Rights <•> 

1,278,698 

1,278,698 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price of 

Outstanding Options, 
Warrants, and Rights 

Number of Securities 
Remaining A vail able foJ· 
Futu1·c Issuance Undc1· 

Equity Compensation Plans <Zl 

3,706,994 

3,706,994 

<•> Represents unvested and outstanding restricted stock units issued under the Franklin BSP Real~y Trust, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. 
One share of the Company's common stock will be issued for each restricted stock unit that vests. 

<21The munber of securities remaining available for future issuance consists of shares issuable under the Fmnklin BSP Realty Tmst, Inc. 
2021 Equity Incentive Plan, which was adopted and approved by our Board of Directors prior to the listing of our common stock on the 
NYSE. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

The information required by tl1is item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement 
for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

The information required by this item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in the Proxy Statement 
for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed pursuant to Regulation l4A under the Exchange Act. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) Financial Statement Schedules 

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-l of this report. 

(b) Exhibits 

See U1e Index to Exhibit below. 
INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

The following exhibits are included in this Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31 , 2024 (and are 
numbered in accordance with ltem60l of Regulation S-K). 

Exhibit 
No. 

3.1 

3.2 

3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

3.6 

3.7 

3.8 

4.1 

4.2 

4.3 

10.1 

l02t 

lOJt 

10.4 

10.5 

I0.6 

Description 

Articles of Amendment and Restatement, effective March 10, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Registrant's Almual Report on Form I 0-K for the year ended December 3I. 2020 filed with the SEC on March II. 202I). 

Articles of Alnendment to the Articles of Alnendment and Restatement (inc01;porated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8. 2021). 

Articles Supplemenlazy of Franklin BSP Really Trust. Inc .. effective October 19. 2021, relating to Series E Cumulative 
Redeemable Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on October 21, 2021). 

Articles Supplementazy of Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc., dated June 21, 2022, relating to Series H Convertible Preferred 
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed wEth the SEC on June 24. 
2022). 

Amendment No. I to Articles Supplementazy of Franklin BSP Realty Tmst, Inc .. effective Januazy 19. 2023. relating to Series 
II Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed witl1 the SEC 
on Januazy 20. 2023). 

Amendment No.2 to Articles Supplcmentazy of franklin BSP Realty Tmst. Inc., effective Januazy I 0. 2024. relating to Series 
H Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on Januazy 12. 2024) 

Amendment No. 3 to Articles Supplcmcntazy of Franklin BSP Realty Tmst Inc .. effective Januazy 16 2025 relating to Series 
H Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC 
on Januazy 17. 2025). 

Alnended and Restated Bylaws of Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit3.1 to the Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 16. 2022) 

Alnended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership. L.P .. dated 
as of December 31. 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed wiili 
the SEC on January 6. 2015). 

Alnendment No. I to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Benefit Street Partners Realty 
Operating Partnership, L.P .• dated as of Febmazy 9, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31. 20I6 filed with the SEC on March 29. 20I7). 

Description of Securities of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 no tl1e Registrant's Almual Report on 
Form I 0-K for the year ended December 31. 2022 filed with the SEC on March 16. 2023). 

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incomorated by reference to Exhibit I 0.4 to the Registrant's 
Quarterly Report on Fonn L0-0 for ilie quarter ended September 30. 2016 filed witl1 ilie SEC on November 14. 20 16). 

Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's 
Registration Statement on Fom1 S-8 filed with the SEC on November 12, 2021). 

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 2021 Equity Tncentive Plan. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 
25. 2022)_ 

Alnended and Restated Advisory Agreement dated as of January 19 2018 by and among Benefit Street Partners Realty 
Trust. Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership. L.P. and Benefit Street Partners. L.L.C (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Registrant's Cuuent Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on Januazy 23. 20 18). 

Amendment No. I to Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement, dated August 18. 2021, by and among Benefit Street 
Partners Realty Trust. Inc .. Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership. L.P. and Benefit Street Partners L.L.C. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 18. 
2021). 

Indenture. dated as of March 25.2021, by and among BSPRT 2021 -FL6 Issuer, Ltd., BSPRT 2021 -FL6 Co-Issuer, LLC. 
Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership, LP., as advancing agent. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. 
note administrator and custodian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on March 30, 2021). 
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10.7 

10.8 

10.9 

10.10"1 

10.11 

10.12 

19.1 * 
21* 

23.1* 

23.2* 

31.1 * 

31.2* 

32* 

97 11" 

101* 

104 

Indenture. dated as of December 21 202 1, by and among BSPRT 2021-FL? Issuer Ltd, BSPRT 2021-FL7 Co-Issuer, LLC. 
Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating Partnership. L.P., as advancing agent, and U.S. Bank National Association. as trustee. 
note administrator and custodian (incoq>orated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on December 21, 2021. 

Indenture. dated as of February IS. 2022. by and among BSPRT 2022-FL8Issuer. Ltd .. BSPRT 2022-FL8 Co-Issuer. LLC. 
Benefit Street Partners Realty Operat1ng Partnership. L.P .. as advancing agent, and U.S. Bank National Association. as trustee. 
note administrator and custodian (incoq>orated by reference to Exhibit I 0.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the SEC on February 18. 2022). 
Indenture dated as of June 29 2022. by and among BSPRT 2022-FL9 Issuer LLC Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating 
Partnership, L.P .. as advancing agent, U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association. as tmstee and note administrator. and 
U.S. Bank National Association as custodian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July I, 2022). 

Form of Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement under Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incoq>orated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant' s Quarterly Report on Fonn 10-0 for the quarter ended March 31 
2023. filed with the SEC on May 3. 2023). 
Indenture. dated as of September 28. 2023. by and among BSPRT 2023-FLI 0 Issuer_ LLC. Benefit Street Partners Realty 
Operating Partnership, L.P .. as advancing agent U.S. Bank Trust Company National Association, as trustee and note 
administrator, and U.S. Bank National Association as custodian (incoq>orated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's 
CtUTent Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 3. 2023) 

Indenture, dated as of September 26, 2024, by and among BSPRT 2024-FLI I Issuer_ LLC, Benefit Street Partners Realty 
Operating Partnership, L.P .. as advancing agent, U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee and note 
administrator, and U.S. Bank National Association as custodian (incoq>orated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's 
Current Report on Fom1 8-K filed with the SEC on September 27, 2024) 

Insider Trading Policy 
Subsidiaries of the Registrant 

Consent ofPricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP 

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rl!.lle 13a - 14Ca) or ISCd) 
- 14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of2002. 

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule l3a - l4(a) or IS( d) 
- 14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002. 

Written statements of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350. as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002. 
Compensation Recovery Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 of the Registrant's Annual Rep01t on Fonn 10-K 
for the fiscal year ended December 3 l , 2023. filed with the SEC on Febmary 26. 2024). 

XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from Benefit Street Partners Realty Tmst, Inc.'s 
Annual Report on Form 1 0-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 fonnatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, 
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). (iii) the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity. (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Cover Page Interactive Data File Cfom1atted as in line XBRL and contained in Exhibit I 01) 

* Filed herewith. 

t Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Date: February 26, 2025 

Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

By /s/ Richard J. Byrne 

Richard J. Byrne 

ChiefExecutive Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates jndicated. 

Name Capacity Date 

/s/ Richard J. Byrne 

Richard J. Byrne 

Is/ Jerome S. Baglien 

Jerome S. Baglien 

/s/ Elizabeth K. Tuppeny 

Elizabeth K. Tuppeny 

/s/ Pat Augustine 

Pat Augustine 

/s/ Joe Dumars 

Joe Dumars 

/s/ Jamie Handwerker 

Jamie Handwerker 

/s/ Peter McDonough 

Peter McDonough 

/s/ Buford Ortale 

Buford Ortale 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

Lead Independent Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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ReJlort oflndeJlendent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

Opinions on the Financial Statements am/Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FrankLin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive 
income, of changes in stockholders' equity and. of cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes and financial 
statement schedule listed in the accompanying index as of December 31 , 2024 (collectively referred to as the "consolidated 
financial statements"). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control -Integrated Framework (20 13) issued by the Conunittee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fa irly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in confonnity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, 
the Company maintained, in a llmaterial respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 , 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO. 

Basis for Opinions 

The Company's management iis responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financia l reporting, included 
in Management's Annual Reporting on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility 
is to express opinions on the Company' s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. 
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included perfonning procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. 
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the an1ounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal 
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effe.ctiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. Our audins also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circllll1stances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company' s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over fmancial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to pennil 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company' s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent li1nitations, internal control over fmancial reporting may not prevent or detect 1nisstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
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Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated fmancial 
statements that was conununicated or required to be c01mnunicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accowlts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Allowance for Credit Losses - Commercial Mortgage Loans Held for Investment 

As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated fmancial statements, the allowance for credit losses on the Company's 
conunercial mortgage loans, held for investment was $78.1 million as of December 31 , 2024, inclusive of the general and 
specific allowances for credit losses of $46.9 million and $31.2 million, respectively. The general allowance for credit losses for 
the Company's loans carried at amortized cost, such as loans held for investment, represents a lifetime estimate of expected 
credit losses. The Company's model to detennine the general allowance for credit losses principally utilizes historical loss rates 
derived from a commercial mortgage-backed securities database with historical losses provided by a third party, forecasting the 
loss parameters based on a projected macroeconomic scenario using a probability-based statistical approach over a reasonable 
and supportable forecast period of twelve months, followed by an immediate reversion to average historical losses. For loan s 
held for investment which management identifies reasonable doubt as to whether the collection of contractual components can 
be satisfied, a specific allowance for credit losses analysis is perfonned and management may elect to use the fair value oftl1e 
collateral at the reporting date as a practical expedient. The specific allowance for credit losses is assessed on an individual 
basis for such loans by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, less costs to sell to the book value of the 
respective loan. The estimated fair value of underlying collateral requires judgments, which may include assumptions regarding 
capitalization rates and discount rates or other factors deemed relevant by management. 

The principal considerations for our determination that perfonning procedures relating to the allowance for credit losses for 
commercial mortgage loans, held for investment is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when 
developing the allowance for credit losses; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgement, subjectivity, and effort in perfonning 
procedures and evaluating (a) management's projected macroeconomic scenario used when developing the general allowance 
for credit losses and (b) management's assumptions related to capitalization rates and discount rates used when developing the 
fair value estimate of the underlying collateral used in the specific allowance for credit losses; and (iii) the audit effort involved 
the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge. 

Addressing the matter involved perfonning procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the 
allowance for credit losses for commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, including controls over management' s 
projected macroeconomic scenario used in the general allowance for credit losses and assumptions used in developing the fair 
value estimate of the underlying collateral used in the specific allowance for credit losses. These procedures also included, 
among others, (i) testing management's process for developing the allowance for credit losses for commercial mortgage loans, 
held for investment; (ii) testing the completeness and accuracy of data used in developing the allowance for credit losses; 
and(iii) the involvement of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating (a) the appropriateness of 
the model used by management for the general allowance for credit losses and the methodology used by management for the 
specific allowance for credit losses, (b) the reasonableness of the projected macroeconomic scenario when estimating the 
general allowance for credit losses, and (c) the reasonableness of management's assumptions related to capitalization rates and 
discmmt rates used when estimating the fair value of the underlying collateral used when developing the specific allowance for 
credit losses. 

Is/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Atlanta, Georgia 
February 26, 2025 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2023 . 
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Table of Contents 

Report oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows of Franklin BSP 
Realty Trust, Inc. (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
"consolidated fmancial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated fmancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally 
accepted accmmting principles. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company' s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting ftrm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent wiith respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, eviidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the fmancial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Is/ Ernst & Y mmg LLP 

We served as the Company' s auditor from 2017-2022. 

New York, New York 
March 16, 2023 

Except for Note 16, as to which the date is 
February 26, 2025 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

December 31, 2024 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 
Restricted cash 
Commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, net of allowance for credit losses of$78,083 
and $47,175 as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectiveiy<1> 

Commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value<2> 

Real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value, amortized cost of$202,894 and 
$243,272 as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively(3l 

Receivable for loan repaymen~4> 
Accrued interest receivable 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 
Intangible lease asset, net of amortization 
Real estate owned, net of depreciation 

Real estate owned, held for sale 
Equity method investment 

Total assets $ 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Collateralized loan obligations $ 
Repurchase agreements and revolving credit facilities - commercial mortgage loans 

Repurchase agreements - real estate securities 
Mortgage note payable 
Other fmancings 
Unsecured debt 
Derivative instruments, measured at fair value 
Interest payable 

Distributions payable 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Due to affiliates 
Intangible lease liability, held for sa le 

Total liabilit ies $ 

Commitments a nd Contingencies 
Redeemable convertible preferred stock: 

Redeemable convertible preferred s tock Series H, $0.01 par value, 20,000 authorized and 17,950 
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively $ 

Total redeemable convertible preferred stock $ 

Equity: 
Preferred stock, $0 0 I par value; I 00,000,000 shares authorized, 7.5% Cumulative Redeemable 
Preferred Stock, Series E, 10,329,039 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively 

$ 

Co111111on stock, $0.0 l par value, 900,000,000 shares authorized, 83,066,789 and 82,751,913 
issued and outstanding as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively 

Additional paid- ii1 capital 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders' equity $ 

Non-controlling interest 
Total equity $ 

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and equity $ 

( I ) Includes pledged assets of$268.7 million and $299.7 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

(
2
) Includes pledged assets of$61.1 million and zero as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

(J) Includes pledged assets of$180.7million and $167.9 million as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively. 

184,443 
12,421 

4,908,667 

87,270 

202,973 

157,582 

42,225 
17,526 
39,834 

113,160 

222,890 
13,395 

6,002,386 

3,628,270 
329,81 1 

236,608 
23,998 
12,865 
81 ,395 

713 
12,844 

36,237 
14,443 
14,106 
1,291 

4,392,581 

89,748 

89,748 

258,742 

818 

1,600,997 
79 

(348,074) 
1,512,562 

7,495 
1,520,057 
6,002,386 

December 31 , 2023 

$ 337,595 
6,092 

4,989,767 

242,569 

55,174 

42,490 
19,213 
42,793 

115,830 

103,657 

$ 5,955,180 

$ 3,567,166 
299,707 
174,055 

23,998 
36,534 
81,295 

15,383 

36,133 
13,339 
19,316 
12,297 

$ 4,279,223 

$ 89,748 

$ 89,748 ----

$ 258,742 

820 

1,599,197 
(703) 

(298,942) 
$ 1,559,114 

27,095 
$ 1,586,209 
$ 5,955,180 

(
4
) Includes $ 157.0 million and $55.1 million of cash held by the servicer related to the CLOs as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial s tatements. 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

Income 

Interest income 

Less: Interest expense 

Net interest income 

Revenue from real estate owned 
Total income 
Expenses 

Asset management and subordinated perfonnancc fcc 

Acquisition expenses 

Administrative services expenses 

Professional fees 

Share-based compensation 

Depreciation and amortization 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 
Other incomc/(Ioss) 

(Provision)/benefit for credit losses 

Realized gain/(loss) on extinguishment of debt 

Realized gainl(loss) on real estate securities, available for sale 

Realized gain/(loss) on sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale 

Realized gain/(loss) on sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for 
investment 

Realized gain/(loss) on sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value 

Gain/(loss) on other real estate invcsunents 

Unrealized gain/(loss) on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value 

Trading gain/(loss) 

Unrealized gainl(loss) on derivatives 

Realized gain/(loss) on derivatives 

Total other income/(loss) 

Income/(loss) before taxes 

(Provision)/benefit for income lax 

Net incomc/(loss) 

Net (incomc)/loss attributable to non-controlling interest 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

Less: Preferred stock dividends 

Net incomc/(loss) attributable to common stock 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

526,076 $ 

338,47 I 

187,605 

22,849 

210,~.!_ 

25,958 $ 

996 

9,707 

14,508 

8,173 

5,630 

21,472 

86,444 $ 

(35,699) $ 

143 

138 

13,125 

(7,983) 

552,506 $ 

305,577 

246,929 

17,021 

263,~_$_ 

357,705 

160,526 

197,179 

9,655 
206,834 

33,847 $ 26,157 

1,241 1,360 

14,440 12,928 

15,270 22,566 

4,761 2,519 

7,128 5,408 

11,135 6,572 

87,822 $ 77,510 -----=---

(33,738) $ 

2,201 

80 

3,873 

(7,089) 

(36,1 J 5) 

(5, 167) 

(354) 

2,358 

(692) 

44 (511) 

(605) (119,220) 

1,050 (140) (15,840) 

(1,261) 998 60,033 
------

(30,487) $ (34,376) $ (115,508) 
-----''----_:_---'-

93,523 141,752 13,816 

Q,120) - 2,7_57_ -- 399 

92,403 $ 144,509 ,;$==~1.;,4,~2,;,15;., 

3,475 706 216 ----
95,878 $ 145,215 =$===1=4=,4=31= 
26,993 26,993 41,741 

68,885 $ 118,222 $ (27 ,31 0) 
==~~===='= 

Basic earnings per share $ 0.82 $ 1.42 $ (0.38) 

(0.38) 

71 ,628,365 
71,628,365 

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.82 $ 1.42 $ 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 81 ,846, 170 82,307,970 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 81 ,846, 170 82,307,970 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

Net ineome/(loss) $ 92,403 $ 144,509 $ 14,215 

Amounts related to available for sale real estate securities: 

Change in net unrealized gain/(loss) 

Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net income/(loss) 

Amounts related to cash flow hedges: 

Change in net unrealized gain/(loss) 

Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net income/(loss) 

Comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to non-controlling interest 

Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 

$ 447 

335 

$ 782 

$ 

$ 

3,475 

$ 96,660 

$ (330) 

(763) 

$ (1,093) 

$ 

$ 

706 

$ 144,122 

771e accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

$ 390 

$ 390 

$ (220) 

282 

$ 62 

216 

$ 14,883 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(In thousands, except sha re data) 

Common Stock Accumulated 
Additional Other Total Non-

Number of Pa r Pa id -In Comprehensive Accumulated Prefe rred Preferred Stockholders' Controlling 
Sha res Value Capital Income/(Loss) Deficit E F Equity Interest Total Equi ty 

Balance, December 31, 2021 $43,965,928 s 441 $ 903,264 $ (62) $ (167,179) $ 258,742 $ 710,431 $ 1,705,637 $ 5,764 $ 1,711,401 

Common stock repurchases (1,4 16,369) ( 14) (16,565) - - - - (16,579) - ( 16,579) 

Common stock issued through distribution reinvestment plan 73,501 I 999 - - - - 1,000 - 1,000 

Share-based compensation 5 16,887 - 2,5 19 - - - - 2,519 - 2,519 

Offering costs - - - - - (91) 
--

- - (91) - (91) --
Series F Preferred stock converted into common stock 39,733,299 397 7 10,034 - - - (710,43 1) 

Series C Preferred stock converted into common stock 119,538 I 1,996 1,997 1,997 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. - - - - 14,431 - - 14,431 - 14,431 
- -

Net ( income)lloss attributable to non-controlling interest 2 16 2 16 

Distributions declared - - - - ( 146,386) - - ( 146,386) - (146,386) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - - 452 - - - 452 - 452 

Contributions/( distributions) in non-controlling interest, net - - - - - - - 9,428 9,428 

Balance, December 31,2022 82,992,784 $ 826 $ 1,602,247 $ 390 $ (299,225) $ 258,742 $ - $ 1,562,980 $ 15,408 $ 1,578,388 

Common stock repurchases ( I ,026, I 05) (10) (12,495) - - - - (12,505) - (12,505) 
-- -

Common stock issued through distri bution reinvestment plan 61,866 I 768 769 769 

Share-based compensation 481, 189 - 4,76 1 - - - - 4,761 - 4,761 
- -

Shares canceled for tax withholding on vested equi ty rewards (57,02 1) 
- - (812) - - - - (812) - (812) 

Series I Preferred stock converted into common stock 299,200 3 4,997 - - - - 5,000 - 5,000 

Offering costs - - (269) - - - - (269) - (269) 

Net income/(loss) attributable to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. - - - - 145,215 - - 145,215 - 145,2 15 

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - (706) (706) 

Distributions declared ( 144,932) (144,932) (144,932) 

Other comprehensive income/( loss) - - - (1,093) - - - (1,093) - (1,093) 

Contributions/( distributions) in non-controlling interest, net - - - - - - - - 12,393 12,393 

Balance, December 31, 2023 82,751,913 $ 820 $ 1,599,197 $ - (703) $ (298,942) $ 258,742 $ - $ - 1,559,114 $ 27,095 $ 1,586,209 

Common stock repurchases (391,863) (4) (4,863) - - - - (4,867) - (4,867) 
-- - - -

Share-based compensation 819,710 - 2 8,17 1 - - - - 8, 173 - 8,173 

Shares canceled for tax withholding on vested equity rewards (1 12,97 1) - (1,508) - - - - (1,508) - (1,508) 

Net income/( loss) attributable to Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. - - - - 95,878 - - 95,878 - 95,878 

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controll ing interest - - - - - - - (3,475) (3,475) 

Distributions declared - - - - (145,010) - - ( 145,010) - ( 145,010) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - - 782 - - - 782 - 782 

Contributions/( distributions) in non-controlling interest, net - - - - - - - - (16, 125) (16, 125) 

Balance, December 31, 2024 83,066,789 818 1,600,997 79 (348,074) 258,742 1,512,562 7,495 1,520,057 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(In thousands) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net income/(loss) 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities: 

Premiwn amortization and (discmmt accretion), net 

Accretion of deferred commitment fees 

Amortization of deferred financing costs 

Share-based compensation 

Realized (gain)/loss on extinguishment of debt 

Realized (gain)/loss on swap terminations 

Realized (gain)/loss on sale of available for sale securities, measured at fair value 

Realized (gain)/loss on sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value 

Realized (gain)/loss on sale of conunercial mortgage loans, held for investment 

Unrealized (gain)/loss on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at 
fair value 

Unrealized (gain)/losscs on derivative instruments 

(Gain)/loss on other real estate investments 

Trading (gain)/loss 

Depreciation and amortization 

Straight line rental income 

Provisionl(bcncfit) for credit losses 

Origination of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value 

Proceeds from sale or repayment of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 

Accrued interest receivable 

Prepaid expenses and other assets 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Due to affiliates 

Interest payable 

Net cash provided by operating activities 
Cash flows from investing activities: 

Origination and purchase of commercial mortgage loans, held for investment 

Principal repayments received on commercial mortgage loans, held for investment 

Principal repayments received on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value 

Purchase of equity method investments 

Proceeds from sale of real estate owned, held for sale 

Purchase of real estate owned and capital expenditures 

Proceeds from sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale 

Proceeds from sale of commercial mortgage loans, held for investment 

Purchase of real estate securities 

Proceeds from sale or paydown of real estate securities 

Principal collateral on mortgage investments 

Proceeds from salc/(purchasc) of derivative instruments 
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities 

$ 

$ 

$ 

For the Years Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

92,403 $ 144,509 $ 14,215 

(9,622) $ (13,072) $ (12,619) 

(6,584) (7 ,577) (9,450) 

13,035 

8,173 

(143) 

(13,125) 

(138) 

(1,050) 

7,983 

5,630 

(3,518) 

35,699 

(358,445) 

284,300 

6,756 

(2,857) 

6,485 

(5,210) 

7,779 

4,761 

(2,201) 

(80) 

(3,873) 

(44) 

140 

7,089 

605 

8,412 

(3,785) 

33,738 

(102,500) 

121,976 

(906) 

700 

(5,081) 

3,887 

6,308 

2,519 

5,167 

(55,301) 

354 

5I I 

15,840 

692 

119,220 

5,329 

{1 ,359) 

36,ll5 

(366,692) 

384,808 

(563) 

(5,520) 

5,027 

(2,109) 

(2,539) 2,910 10,023 

57,~..L 197,387 $ 152,515 

$ (1,759,291) $ (936,271) $ (2).27,723) 

1,507,438 

(13,395) 

34,375 

(324) 

33,420 

(79,503) 

120,042 

1,065,538 

39,755 

(1, 151) 

(223,768) 

418,791 

1,258,393 

532 

2,045 

(663) 

9,344 

(220,630) 

3,731 ,716 

17,702 545,416 

1,763 211 (1 ,165) 
----'----
$ (155,475) _$_ 380,807 _!_3,097,265 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(In thousands) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Payments for common stock repurchases 

Shares canceled for tax withholding on vested equity awards 

Payments of offering costs 

Borrowings on collateralized loan obligations 

Repayments of collateralized loan obligations 

Borrowings on repurchase agreements and revolving credit facilities- commercial 
mortgage loans 

Repayments of repurchase agreements and revolving credit facilities - corruncrcial 
mortgage loans 

Borrowings on repurchase agreements - real estate securities 

Repayments of repurchase agreements - real estate securities 

Borrowings on other financings 

Repayments on other financings 

Repayments of unsecured debt 

Payments of deferred tinancing costs 

Cash collateral received on interest rate swaps 

Proceeds from interest rate swap settlements 

Distributions to non-controlling interest 

Contributions from non-controlling interest 

Distributions paid to common and preferred shareholders 

Net cash used in financing activities: 

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash: 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 

Restricted cash, beginning of period 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents, end ofpcriod 

Restricted cash, end of period 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end ofperiod 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: 

Cash payments for income taxes 

Cash payments for interest 

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash flow information: 

Common stock issued through distribution reinvestment plan 

Distribution payable 

Conm1crcialmortgagc loans transferred from held for sale to held for investment 

Loans transferred to real estate owned 

Modification accounted for as repayment and new loan 

$ 

$ 

For the Years Ended December 31, 
2024 2023 2022 

(4,867) $ (12,505) $ (16,579) 

(1,508) (812) 

914,125 

(854,979) 

892,675 

(862,571) 

222,845 

(160,292) 

(23,669) 

(9,309) 

(16, 189) 

(269) 

689,294 

(241,223) 

600,164 

(981 ,317) 

1,630,639 

(662,410) 

1,918,631 

(2,257 ,372) 

870,014 18,457,406 

(1,135,967) (22,196,183) 

59,707 

(99,474) 

(13,367) 

(12,905) 

(1 ,987) 

38,537 

(139) 

(50,000) 

(15,232) 

56,767 

8,478 

(745) 

64 125 

(144,906) (144,347) (139,415) 
(48,581) ..!.... (424,994) $ (3,227,492) 

(146,823) 153,200 22,288 

343,687 - 190,487 168,199 
$ 196,864 $ 343,687 $ 190,487 

====== 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

337,595 

6,092 

343,687 $ 

184,443 

12,421 

196,864 $ 

1,035 $ 

324,568 

$ 

36,237 

307,546 

42,235 

179,314 

11 , 173 

190,487 $ 

337,595 

6,092 

343,687 $ 

325 $ 

295,130 

769 $ 

36,]33 

77,305 

154,929 

13,270 

168,199 

179,314 

11 ,173 

190,487 

1,199 

144, 195 

1,963 

36,317 

9,296 

115,978 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(In thousands) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Seller-based iinancing on sales of real estate owned, held for sale 

Reclassification of assets held for investment to !held for sale 

Reclassification of liabilities held for investment to held for sale 

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock 

Exchange of preferred stock 

2024 2023 2022 
94,917 

114,512 

13,664 

5,000 712,428 

94,748 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FRANKLIN BSP REALTY TRUST, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2024 

Note 1 - Organization and Business Operations 

Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc., (the "Company") is a real estate finance company that primarily originates, acquires and 
manages a diversified portfolio of commercial real estate debt investments secured by properties located within and outside the 
United States. The Company is a Maryland corporation and has made tax elections to be treated as a real estate investment trust 
(a "REIT") for U.S. federal income tax purposes since 2013. 

The Company believes that it has qualified as a REIT and intends to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and 
taxation as a REIT. Substantia lly all of the Company's business is conducted through Benefit Street Partners Realty Operating 
Partnership, L.P. (the "OP"), a Delaware limited partnership. The Company is the sole general partner and directly or indirectly 
holds all of the units of limited partner interests in the OP. In addition, the Company, through one or more subsidiaries which 
are treated as a taxable REJT subsidiary (a "TRS"), is indirectly subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. 

The Company has no employees. Benefit Street Partners L.L.C. serves as the Company's advisor (the "Advisor") pursuant 
to an advisory agreement, as amended on August 18, 2021 (the "Advisory Agreement"). The Advisor, an investment adviser 
registered with the SEC, is a credit-focused alternative asset management firm. 

Established in 2008, the Advisor's credit platform manages funds for institutions and high-net-worth investors across 
various credit funds and complementary strategies including high yield, levered loans, private/opportunistic debt, liquid credit, 
structured credit and commercial real estate debt. These strategies complement each other as they all leverage the sourcing, 
analytical, compliance, and operational capabilities that encompass the p·latfonn. The Advisor manages the Company's affairs 
on a day-to-day basis. The Advisor receives compensation fees and reimbursements for services related to the investment and 
management of the Company's assets and the operations ofthe Company. The advisor is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Franklin 
Resources, Joe., which together with its various subsidiaries operates as "Franklin Templeton." 

The Company primarily focuses on originating, acquiring and asset managing conimercial real estate debt investments, 
including first mortgage loans, subordinated mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. Secondarily, the 
Company's real estate securities business focuses on investing in and asset managing real estate securities. Historically this 
business has focused primarily on commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"), commercial real estate collateralized loan 
obligation bonds and single asset single borrower bonds (collectively "CMBS bonds"), collateralized debt obligations ("CDOs") 
and other securities. The Company also originates conduit loans which the Company intends to sell through its TRS into CMBS 
securitization transactions. The Company also owns real estate that was either acquired by the Company through foreclosure, 
deed-in-lieu of foreclosure or that was purchased for investment. 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting 

The Company's consolida ted financial statements and related footnotes have been prepared on the accmal basis of 
accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and 
pursuant to the requirements for reporting on Fonn 10-K and Regulation S-X, as appropriate. 

Reclassifications 

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified in order to conform to the current period presentation. 

For the twelve months ended December 31 , 2023 and 2022, $3.8 million and $1.4 million, respectively, related to rental 
income was reclassified from Prepaid expenses and other assets to Straight line rental incmne in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows. 

Use of Estimates 

GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities as 
of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reported periods. Changes in 
the economic environment, fmancialmarkets and any other parameters u sed in determining these estimates could cause actual 
results to differ materially. 
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the OP and its subsidiaries. All 
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In determining whether the Company has a 
controlling financial interest in a joint venture and the requirement to consolidate the accounts of that entity, management 
considers factors such as ownership interest, authority to make decisions and contractual and substantive participating rights of 
the other partners or members, as well as whether the entity is a variable interest entity ("VIE") for which the Company is the 
primary beneficiary. 

The Company has determined the OP is a VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Substantially all of the 
Company's assets and liabilities are held by the OP. 

The Company consolidates all entities that it controls through either majority ownership or voting rights. In addition, the 
Company consolidates all VIEs of which the Company is considered the primary beneficiary. VIEs are entities in which equity 
investors (i) do not have the clharacteristics of a controlling financial interest and/or (ii) do not have sufficient equity at risk for 
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The entity that 
consolidates a VIE is its primary beneficiary and is generally the entity with (i) the power to direct the activities that most 
significantly affect the VIE's economic performance and (ii) the right to receive benefits from the VIE or the obligation to 
absorb losses of the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. Non-controlling interest represents the equity of consolidated joint 
ventures that are not owned by the Company. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs") 
issued and securitized by whoJiy owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Company has detennined the CLOs are VIEs of 
which the Company's subsidiary is the primary beneficiary. The assets and liabilities of the CLOs are consolidated in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") AccOtmting 
Standards Codification ("ASC") 810, Consolidation. 

Acquisition Expenses 

For commercial mortgage loans, held for investment the Company capitalizes certain direct costs relating to loan 
origination activities. The cost is amortized over the life of the loan and recognized in Interest income in the consolidated 
statements of operations. Acquisition expenses paid on future funding amounts are expensed within the Acquisition expenses in 
the consolidated statements of operations. 

Cash am/ Cash Equivalents 

Cash consists of amounts deposited with high quality financial institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Company up to an insurance limit. Cash equivalents include short-tem1, liquid investments in money market 
funds with original maturities of90 days or less when purchased. Cash and cash equivalent balances may, at a limited number 
of banks and financial institutions, exceed insurable amounts. The Company believes it mitigates risk by investing in or through 
major fmancial institutions and primarily in funds that are currently U.S. federal government insured up to applicable account 
limits. 

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash pledged as margin on repurchase agreements and derivative transactions. The 
duration of this restricted cash generally matches the duration of the related repurchase agreements or derivative transaction. 

Commercial Mortgage Loans 

Held for Investment - Commercial mortgage loans that are held for investment purposes and are anticipated to be held until 
maturity, are carried at cost, net of unamortized acquisition expenses, discounts or premiums and unfunded commitments. 
Commercial mortgage loans, held for investment purposes, are carried at amortized cost less an allowance for credit losses. 
Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis and related discounts, premiums and acquisition expenses on investments are 
amortized over the life of the invesunent using the effective interest method. Amortization or accretion is reflected as an 
adjusunent to interest income in the consolidated statements of operations. Guaranteed loan commitment fees payable by the 
borrower upon maturity are accreted over the life of the investment using the effective interest rate method. The accretion of 
guaranteed loan commitment fees is recognized in Interest income in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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Held for Sale - Commercial mortgage loailiS that are intended to be sold in the foreseeable future are reported as held for 
sale and are recorded at the lower of cost or fair value with changes recorded through the statements of operations. Unamortized 
loan origination costs for commercial mortgage loans held for sale that are carried at the lower of cost or fair value are 
capitalized as part of the carrying value of the loans and recognized upon the sale of such loans. Amortization of origination 
costs ceases upon trai1sfer of commercial mortgage loans to held for sale. 

Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value- The fair value option provides ail option to irrevocably elect fair value as au 
alternative measurement for selected frnancial assets, frnancialliabilities, and written loan comminnents. The Company has 
elected to measure commercia l mortgage loans held for sale in the Company's TRS under the fair value option. These 
commercial mortgage loans are included in the Commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value in the 
consolidated balance sheets. Interest income received on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value is 
recorded on the accrual basis of accounting and is included in interest income in the consolidated statements of operations. 
Costs to originate these investments are expensed when incurred. 

Real estate ownetl 

The Company classifies its real estate owned as long-lived assets held for invesnnent or as long-lived assets held for sale. 
Held for investment assets arc stated at cost, as adjusted for any impairment loss, less accumulated depreciation. Held for sale 
assets are stated at fair value, less costs to sell. 

The Company continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of 
the real estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impainnent are present, 
management assesses whether the respective carrying values will be recovered from the undiscotmted future operating cash 
flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition for assets held for use, or from the estimated fair values, 
less costs to sell, for assets held for sale. In the event that the expected undiscounted future cash flows for assets held for use or 
the estimated! fair value, less costs to sell, for assets held for sale do not exceed the respective asset carrying value, management 
adjusts such assets to the respective estimated fair values and recognizes an impairment loss. Estimated fair values are 
calculated based on the following information, depending upon availability, in order of preference: (i) recent market prices from 
third-party purchasers (ii) market prices for comparable properties, or (iij) the present value of undiscounted cash flows, 
including estimated sales value (which is based on key assumptions such as estimated market rents, lease-up periods, estimated 
lease terms, and capitalization and discount rates) less estimated selling costs. 

Real estate owned, held for investment - Amounts capitalized to real estate owned, held for invesnnent consist of the cost of 
acquisition or construction, any tenant improvements or major improvements, betterments that extend the useful life of the 
related asset, and transaction costs associated with the acquisition of the asset. All repairs and maintenance are expensed as 
incurred. Additionally, the Company capitalizes interest while the development, or redevelopment, of a real estate owned asset 
is in progress. No developments or redevelopments of real estate owned assets are in progress as of December 31 , 2024. 

The Company' s real estate owned, held for investment assets are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method 
over the following useful lives: 

Building 

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 

Site Improvements 

Intangible Lease Assets and Liabilities 

40 years 

15 years 

5-25 years 

Lease Term 

Real estate owned, held for sale - Real estate owned is classified as held for sale in the period in which the following six 
criteria under ASC Topic 360, "Property, Plant, and Equipment" are met: (i) we commit to a plan and have the authority to sell 
the asset; (ii) the asset is available for sale in its current condition; (iii) we have initiated an active marketing plan to locate a 
buyer for the asset; (iv) the sale of the asset is both probable and expected to qualify for full sales recognition within a period of 
12 months; (v) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reflective of its curre11t fair value; and (vi) we do 
not anticipate changes to our plan to sell the asset. Held for sale assets are carried at the lower of depreciated cost or estimated 
fair value, less estimated costs to sell. 

Real estate owned assets are not depreciated or amortized while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other 
expenses attdbutable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be accrued. Upon the disposition 
of a real estate owned asset, the Company calculates realized gains and losses as net proceeds received less the carrying value 
of the real estate owned asset. Net proceeds received are net of direct selling costs associated with the disposition of the real 
estate owned asset. 
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intangible Lease Assets and Liabilities of Acquired Properties 

The estimated fair values of above-market and below-market in-place leases are recorded based on the present value (using 
an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the differe11ce between (i) the contractual amounts 
to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii) management' s estimate of market rates for the corresponding in-place leases, 
measured over a period equal to the remaining tenns of the leases, taking into consideration the probability of renewals for any 
below-market leases. The capitalized above-market and below-market lease values are recorded as intangible lease assets or 
liabilities and amortized as an adjustment to rental revenues over the remaining terms of the respective leases. 

The estimated fair values of in-place leases include an estimate of the direct costs associated with obtaining the acquired or 
"in place" tenant and estimates of opportunity costs associated with lost rentals that are avoided by acquiring an in-place lease. 
The amount capita lized as direct costs associated with obtaining a tenant include commissions, tenant improvements, and other 
direct costs and are estimated based on management's consideration of current market costs to execute a similar lease. These 
direct lease origination costs are included in deferred lease costs in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are 
amortized over the remaining terms of the respective leases. The value of opportunity costs is calculated using the contractual 
amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases over a market absorpti on period for a similar lease. These lease intangibles 
are included in intangible lease assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are amortized over the remaining 
terms of the respective leases. 

Credit Losses 

The allowance for credit losses, required under ASU 2016-13, is deducted from the amortized cost basis of loans that are 
held-to-maturity in the consolidated balance sheets. 

General allowance for credit losses 

The general allowance for credit losses for the Company's financial instruments carried at amortized cost and off-balance 
sheet credit exposures, such as loans held for investment and unfunded loan COimnihnents represents a lifetime estimate of 
expected credit losses. Factors considered by the Company when determining the general provision for credit losses reserve 
include loan- specific characteristics such as loan-to-value ("LTV") ratio, vintage year, loa n tenn, property type, occupancy and 
geographic location, financial performance of the borrower, expected payments of principal and interest, as well as internal or 
external information relating to past events, current conditions and forward looking information through the use of projected 
macroeconomic scenarios over the reasonable and supportable forecasts. 

The general allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics exist for 
multiple financial instruments. If similar risk characteristics do not exist, the Company measures the general allowance for 
credit losses on an individual instrument basis. The determination of whether a particular fmancial instrument should be 
included in a pool can change over time. If a financial asset's risk characteristics change, the Company evaluates whether it is 
appropriate to continue to keep the fmancial instrument in its existing pool or evaluate it individually. 

In measuring the general allowance for credit losses for financial instrun1ents such as loans held for investment and 
unftmded loan commitrnents that share similar risk characteristics, the Company primarily applies a probability of default 
("PD")/ Ioss given default ("LGD") model for instruments that are collectively assessed, whereby the provision for credit losses 
is calculated as the product of PO, LGD and exposure at default ("EAD"). The Company's model to determine the general 
allowance for credit losses principally utilizes historical loss rates derived from a commercial mortgage backed securities 
database with historical losses from 2002 to 20.21 provided by a reputable third party, forecasting the loss parameters based on a 
projected macroeconomic scenario using a probability-based statistical approach over a reasonable and supportable forecast 
period of twelve months, followed by an immediate reversion to average historical losses. 

Specific allowance for credit losses 

For financial instruments where the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty based on the Company's assessment at the 
reporting date and the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral, the 
Company may elect to use as a practical expedient the fa ir value of the collateral at the reporting date when determining the 
provision for credit losses. 
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For loans held for investment which the Company identifies reasonable doubt as to whether the collection of contractual 
components can be satisfied, a loan specific allowance for credit losses analysis is perfonned. Determining whether a specific 
allowance for credit losses for a loan is required entails significant judgment from management and is based on several factors 
including (i) the underlying collateral performance, (ii) discussions with the borrower, (iii) borrower events of default, and (iv) 
other facts that impact the borrower's ability to pay the contractual amOtmts due tmder the terms of the loan. If a loan is 
determined to have a specific allowance for credit losses, the specific allowance for credit losses is recorded as a component of 
our Current Expected Credit Loss ("CECL") reserve by applying the practical expedient for collateral dependent loans. The 
CECL reserve is assessed on an individual basis for such loans by comparing the estimated fair value of the underlying 
collateral, less costs to sell, to the book value of the respective loan. The estimated fair value of the tmderlying collateral 
requires judgments, which include assumptions regarding capitalization rates, discount rates, leasing, creditworthiness of major 
tenants, occupancy rates, availability and cost of financing, exit plans, loan sponsorship, actions of other lenders, and other 
factors deemed relevant by the Company. Actual losses, if any, could ultimately differ materially from these estimates. The 
Company only expects to write-off specific provisions if and when such amounts are deemed non-recoverable. Non­
recoverability is generally determined at the time a loan is settled, or in the case of foreclosure, when the m1derlying asset is 
sold. Non-recoverability may also be concluded if, in the Company's determination, it is deemed certain that all amounts due 
will not be collected. If a loan is detennined to be impaired based on the above considerations, management records a write-off 
through a charge to the allowance for credit losses and the respective loan balance. 

Risk Rating 

In developing the provision for credit losses for its loans held for investment, the Company performs a comprehensive 
analysis of its loan portfolio and assigns risk ratings to loans that incorporate management's current judgments about their credit 
quality based! on all known and relevant internal and external factors that may affect collectability, using similar factors as those 
in developing the provision for credit losses. This methodology results in loans being segmented by risk classification into risk 
rating categories that are associated with estimated probabilities of default and principal loss. Risk rating categories range from 
"I" to "5" with "I" representing the lowest risk of loss and "5" representing the highest risk of loss with the ratings updated 
quarterly. At the time of origination or purchase, loans held for investment are ranked as a " 2" and will move accordingly going 
forward based on the ratings which are defined as follows: 

1. Very Low Risk- Investment exceeding fw1damental performance expectations and/or capital gain expected. Trends and 
risk factors since time of investment are favorable. 

2. Low Risk- Performing consistent with expectations and a full return of principal and interest expected. Trends and risk 
factors are neutral to favorable. 

3. Average Risk- Performing investments requiring closer monitoring. Trends and risk factors show some deterioration. 

4. High Risk!Delinquen.t!Defaulted!Potential for Loss- Underperfonning investment with the potential of some interest 
loss but still expecting a positive return on investment. Trends and risk factors are negative. 

5. Impaired/Loss Likely- Underperforming investment with expected loss of interest and some principal. 

The Company also considers qualitative and environmental factors, including, but not limited to, economic and business 
conditions, nature and volume of the loan portfolio, lending terms, volume and severity of past due loans, concentration of 
credit and changes in the level of such concentrations in its detem1ination of the provision for credit losses. 

Changes in the provision for credit losses for the Company's financial instruments are recorded in (Provision)lbenejitfor 
credit losses in the consolidated statements of operations with a corresponding offset to the financial instmment's amortized 
cost recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, or as a component of Accounts payable and accrued expenses for unfunded 
loan commitments. 

The Company has elected to not measme a provision for credit losses for accrued interest receivable as balances are written 
off in a timely manner when loans, real estate securities or preferred equiity investments are designated as non-performing and 
placed on non-accrual or cost recovery status within 90 days of becoming past due. 
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The Company designates loans as non-performing when (i) full payment of principal and coupon interest components 
become 90-days past due ("non-accrual status") or (ii) the Company has reasonable doubt as to whether the collection of 
contractual components can be satisfied ("cost recovery status"). When a loan is designated as non-performing and placed on 
non-accrual status, interest is only recognized as income when payment has been received. Loans designated as non-perfomling 
and placed on non-accrual status are removed from their non-perfonning designation when collection of principal and coupon 
interest components have been satisfied. When a loan is designated as non-performing and placed on cost recovery status, the 
cost-recovery method is applied to which receipt of principal or coupon interest is recorded as a reduction to the amortized cost 
until collection of all contractual components are reasonably assured. 

Real Estate Securities 

Available For Sale 

The Company's real estate securities are classified as available for sale ("AFS") and carried at fair value. Changes in fair 
value of available for sale real estate securities are recognized in the con sol ida ted statements of comprehensive income. Related 
discounts, premiums and acquisition expenses on investments are amorti7.ed or accreted over the life of the investment using the 
effective interest method. Amortization and accretion are reflected as an adjustment to interest income in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The Company uses the specific identification method in determining the cost relief for real estate 
securities sold. Realized gains and losses from the sale of available for sale securities are included in the consolidated 
statements of operations. 

AFS real estate securities wllich have experienced a decline in the fair value below their amortized cost basis (i.e., 
impairment) are evaluated each reporting period to detennine whether the decline in fair value is due to credit-related factors. 
Any impairment that is not credit-related is recognized in accumulated oll.her comprehensive income, while credit-related 
impainnent is recognized as an allowance in the consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding adjustment in the 
consolidated statements of operations. If the Company intends to sell an impaired real estate security or more likely than not 
will be required to sell such a security before recovering its amortized cost basis, the entire impairment amount is recognized in 
the consolidated statements of operations with a corresponding adjustment to the security's amortized cost basis. 

The Company analyzes the AFS real estate securities portfolio on a periodic basis for credit losses at the individual security 
level using the same criteria described above for those amortized cost fmancial assets subject to a provision for credit losses 
including, but not linlited to: perfonnance of the underlying assets in the security, borrower financial resources and investment 
in collateral, collatera l type, credit ratings, project econonlics and geographic location as well as national and regional econonlic 
factors. 

The non-credit loss component of the unrealized loss within the Company's AFS portfolio is recognized as an adjustment 
to the individual security' s asset balance with an offsetting entry to Accumulated other co.mprehensive income/(l.oss) in the 
consolidated balance sheets. 

Equity Method Investments 

The Company's investments are accounted for under the equity method when (i) requirements for consolidation are not 
met, and (ii) we have significant influence over the operations of the investee. Under this method, the investments are initially 
recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted for the Company's share of net income or loss and cash contributions or distributions 
made during the reporting period. 

Net income or loss is allocated based on the ownership interest that is controlled by the Company. The agreements may 
designate different percentage allocations among investors for profits and losses; however, our recognition generally follows 
the entity's distribution priorities, which may change upon the achievement of certain investment return thresholds. 

Repurchase Agreements 

Commercial mortgage loans and real estate secmities sold under repurchase agreements have been treated as collateralized 
financing transactions because the Company maintains effective control over the transferred securities. Commercial mortgage 
loans and real estate securities financed through repurchase agreements remain in the consolidated balance sheets as an asset 
and cash received from the purchaser is recorded as a liability. Interest paid in accordance with repurchase agreements is 
recorded in Interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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The deferred financing costs related to the Company's various Master Repurchase Agreements as well as certain prepaid 
subscription costs are included in Prepaid expenses and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Deferred fmancing cost 
on the Company's CLO are netted against the Company's CLO payable in Collateralized loan obligations un the consolidated 
balance sheets. Deferred financing costs are amortized over the tenns of the respective financing agreement using the effective 
interest rate method and included in Interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Unamortized deferred 
financing costs are generally realized in Realized gain/(loss) on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of 
operations when the associated debt is refinanced or repaid before maturjty. 

Offering and Related Costs 

The Company has from time to time offered, shares of the Company's common stock or one or more series of its preferred 
stock, in private placements exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of I 933, as amended. In connection 
with these offerings, the Company incurred various offering costs. These offering costs include but are not limited to legal, 
accmmting, printing, mailing and filing fees, and diligence expenses of broker-dealers. Offering costs for the common stock are 
recorded in the Company's stockholders' equity. Offering costs for the pTeferred stock were expensed in the consolidated 
statement of operations. 

Equity Incentive Plan 

The Company maintains the Franklin BSP Realty Trust, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive P lan (the "2021 Incentive Plan"), 
pursuant to which the Company has granted and may grant in the future, from time to time, equity awards to the Company' s 
directors, officers and employees (if it ever has employees), employees of the Advisor and its affiliates, or certain of the 
Company's consultants, advisors or other service providers to the Company or an affiliate of the Company. The 202 I Incentive 
Plan, which is administered by the Compensation Conunittee of the board of directors, provides for the grant of awards of s:hare 
options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share units., deferred share units, unrestricted shares, dividend 
equivalent rights, perfonnance shares and other performance-based awards, other equity-based awards, long-tenn incentive plan 
units and cash bonus awards. 

Since 2022, the Company has been issuing annual awards of restricted stock units ("RSUs") under the 2021 Incentive Plan 
to its officers, and certain other personnel of the Advisor who provide services to the Company. These awards are service-based 
and vest in equal rumual installments beginning on the armiversary of the date of grant over a period of three years for RSUs. 
One share of the Company's common stock is issued for each RSU that vests. In addition, the Company issues annual awards 
of restricted stock under the 2021 Incentive Plan to its directors, which vest in full on the earlier of the first anniversary of the 
grant date and the date immediately prior to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the subsequent year, subject to continuing 
service. The RSUs grant non-forfeitable dividend equivalent rights equal to the cash dividend paid in the ordinary course on a 
conunon share to the Company's common shareholders, while holders of restricted stock receive cash dividends in the ordinary 
course in the same manner as other conm1on shares. Upon tennination for any reason, all unvested RSUs and restricted stock 
will be forfeited by the grantee, who will be given no further rights to such awards. The fair value of the RSUs and restricted 
stock are expensed over the vesting period and included in Share-based compensation in the consolidated statements of 
operations. 

Distribution R einvestment Plan 

The Company maintains a dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP") pursurult to which stockholders may reinvest dividends 
into shares of the Compru1y's common stock. Shares of common stock purchased through the DRIP for dividend reinvestments 
are supplied either directly by the Company as newly issued shares or via purchases by the DRIP administrator of shares of 
common stock on the open market, at the Company' s option. If the shares are purchased in the open market, the purchase price 
is the average price per share of shares purchased; if the shares are purchased directly from the Company, the purchase price is 
generally the average of the daily high and low sales prices for a share of common stock reported by the NYSE on the dividend 
payment date authorized by the Company's board of directors. The Company may suspend, modify or tenninate the DRIP at 
any time in its sole discretion. 
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The Company has conducted its operations to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with its 
taxable year ended December 31, 2013. As a REIT, if the Company meets certain organizational and operational requirements 
and distributes at least 90% of its "REIT taxable income" (determined before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net 
capital gains) to its stockholders in a year, it will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent of the income that it 
distributes. However, even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to certain state and local taxes on 
income in addition to U.S. federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income. The Company, through its TRSs, is 
indirectly subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. The Company's TRSs are not consolidated for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, but are instead taxed as C corporations. For financial reporting purposes, the TRSs are consolidated and a 
provision for current and deferred taxes is established for the portion of earnings recognized by the Company with respect to its 
interest in its TRS. Total income tax (provision)lbenefit for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were 
$( 1.1) million, $2.8 million, and $0.4 million, respectively. 

The Company uses a more-likely-than-not threshold for recognition and derecognition of tax positions taken or to be taken 
in a tax return. The Company has assessed its tax positions for all open tax years beginning with December 31, 2017 and 
concluded that there were no uncertainties to be recognized. The Company's accounting policy with respect to interest and 
penalties related to tax uncertainties is to classify these amounts as provision for income taxes. 

The Company utilizes the TRSs to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax and to avoid penalty for the holding 
of assets not qualifying as real estate assets for purposes of the REIT asset tests. Any income associated with a TRS is fully 
taxable because the TRS is subject to federal and state income taxes as a domestic C corporation based upon its net income. 

Derivatives and Hellging Activities 

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes and may undertake a 
strategy to limit these risks through the use of derivatives. The Company uses derivatives primarily to economically hedge 
against interest rates, CMBS spreads and macro market risk in order to minimize volatility. The Company may use a variety of 
derivative instruments that are considered conventional, including but not limited to: Treasury note futures and credit 
derivatives on various indices including CMBX and CDX. 

The Company recognizes all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company does not designate 
derivatives as hedges to qualify for hedge accounting for financial reporting purposes and therefore any net payments under, or 
fluctuations in the fair value of these derivatives have been recognized currently in Unrealized (gain)lloss on derivative 
instruments in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company records derivative asset and liability 
positions on a gross basis with any collateral posted with or received from counterparties recorded separately within Restricted 
cash in the consolidated balance sheets. Certain derivatives that the Company has entered into are subject to master netting 
agreements with its counterpar ties, allowing for netting of the same transaction, in the same currency, on the same date. 

Per Share Data 
The Company's Series H convertible preferred stock (the "Series H Preferred Stock") and Series I convertible preferred 

stock (the "Series I Preferred Stock") (when it was outstanding) are each considered a participating security and the Company 
calculates basic earnings per share using the two-class method. The Company' s dilutive earnings per share calculation is 
computed using the more dilutive result of the treasury stock method, assuming the participating security is a potential common 
share, or the two-class method, assuming the participating security is not converted. The Company calculates basic earnings per 
share by dividing net income applicable to common stock for the period by the weighted-average number of shares of common 
stock outstanding for that period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur from shares 
outstanding if potential shares of common stock with a dilutive effect have been issued in connection with the 2021 Incentive 
Plan or upon conversion of the outstanding shares of the Company's Seriies H Preferred Stock and Series I Preferred Stock 
(when it was outstanding), except when doing so would be anti-dilutive. 

Reportable Segments 

The Company has determined that it has four reportable segments based on how the chief operating decision maker reviews 
and manages the business. The four reporting segments are as follows: 

• The real estate debt business focuses on originating, acquiring and asset managing commercial real estate debt 
investments, including first mortgages, subordinate mortgages, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. 

• The real estate securities business focuses on investing in and asset managing real estate securities. Historically tllis 
business has focused primarily on CMBS, CMBS bonds, CDO notes, and other securities. 
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• The commercial real estate conduit business operated through the Company's TRS, which is focused on generating risk­
adjusted retums by originating and subsequently selling fixed-rate commercial real estate loans into the CMBS 
securitization market at a profit. The TRS may also hold certain mezzanine loans that don't qualify as good REIT ass,ets 
due to any potential loss from foreclosure. 

• The real estate owned business represents real estate acquired by the Company through foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure, or purchase. 

See Note 16 - Segment Reporting for further information regarding the Company's segments. 

Redeemable Convertible Preferred S tock 

The Company' s outstandung classes of redeemable convertible preferred stock are classified outside of permanent equity in 
the consolidated balance sheets. 

Series H Preferred Stock 

The Series H Preferred Stock ranks senior to our common stock and on parity with the Company's 7.50% Series E 
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock ("Series E Preferred Stock") with respect to priority in dividends and in the 
distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company. The liquidation preference of 
each share of Series H Preferred Stock is the greater of (i) $5,000 plus accrued and unpaid dividends, and (ii) the amotmt that 
would be received upon a conversion of the Series H Preferred Stock of the common stock. 

Dividends on the Series H Preferred Stock, which are typically declared and paid quarterly, accrue at a rate equal to the 
greater of(i) an annual amount equal to 4.0% of the liquidation preference per share and ( ii) the dividends that would have been 
paid had such share of Series H Preferred Stock been converted into a share of common stock on the first day of such quarter, 
subject to proration in the event the share of Series H preferred stock is not outstanding for the full quarter. Dividends are paid 
in arrears. Dividends will accumulate and be cumulative from the most recent date to which dividends had been paid. 

On January 16,2025, the Articles Supplementary relating to the Series H Preferred Stock was amended such that the 
mandatory conversion date was extended by one year, to January 21 , 2026. Unless earlier converted, the Series H Preferred 
Stock will automatically convert into common stock at a rate of299.2 shares of common stock per share of Series H Preferred 
Stock (subject to adjustments as described in the Articles Supplementary for the Series H Preferred Stock) on January 21, 2026. 
The holder of the Series H Preferred Stock has the right to convert up to 4,487 shares of Series H Preferred Stock one time in 
each calendar month through December 2025, upon 10 business days' advance notice to tl1e Company. 

Holders of the Series H Preferred Stock (voting as a single class with holders of common stock) are entitled to vote on each 
matter submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Company upon which the holders of common stock are entitled to vote. 
The number of votes applicable to a share of outstanding Series H Preferred Stock will be equal to the number of shares of 
common stock a share of Series H Preferred Stock could have been converted into as of the record date set for purposes of such 
stockholder vote (rounded down to the nearest whole number of shares of common stock). In addition, the affirmative vote of 
the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series H Preferred Stock, voting as a single class with other shares of 
parity preferred stock, is required to approve the issuance of any equity securities senior to the Series H Preferred Stock and to 
take certaiJ1 actions materially adverse to the holders of the Series H Preferred Stock. 

Series I Preferred Stock 

On January 19,2023, all of the 1,000 outstanding shares of the Series I Preferred Stock converted by their terms into 299.2 
shares of common stock per share of Series I Preferred Stock. 

Perpetual Preferred Stock-Series E Preferred Stock 

The Series E Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and is not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption. The 
Series E Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to rights to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets upon its 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up, senior to the common stock and on a parity with the Series H Preferred Stock. The 
liquidation preference is $25.00 per share, plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid dividends. 

Holders of shares of the Series E Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when, as and if authorized by our board of 
directors and declared by the Company, out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends, cumulative cash divide111ds 
at the rate of 7.50% of the $25.00 per share liquidation preference per annum (equivalent to $1.875 per alUlum per share). 
Dividends on the Series E Preferred Stock are cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears. 

Dividends on the Series E Preferred Stock will accumulate whether or not the Company has earnings, whether or not there 
are funds legally available for the payment of those dividends and whether or not those dividends are declared. 
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The Company may, at its option, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' written notice, redeem the Series E 
Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of $25.00 per share, plus 
any accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon to, but not including, the date fixed for redemption. Upon a change of control of 
the Company, in the event the Company does not redeem the Series E Preferred Stock, a holder of Series E Preferred Stock will 
have the right to convert to common stock upon the terms set forth in the applicable Articles Supplementary. 

The Series E Preferred Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "FBRT PRE." 

Recently Issue(/ Accounting Pronouncements 

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures," or ASU 2023-07. ASU 2023-07 enhances the disclosures required for reportable segments on an annual 
and interim basis. The amendments require expanded disclosures around significant segment expenses and identification of the 
Company's chief operating decision maker. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company adopted and implemented the 
amendments and related disclosure requirements. Refer to Note 16- Segment Reporting for details. 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures," or ASU 2023-09. ASU 2023-09 requires additional disaggregated disclosures on tJ1e entity's effective tax rate 
reconciliation and additional details on income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective on a prospective basis, with the option for 
retrospective application, for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and early adoption is penn itted. We do not 
expect the adoption of ASU 2023-09 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU, 2024-0 I "Compensation- Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope Application 
ofProfits Interest and Similar Awards," or ASU 2024-0l. ASU 2024-01 improves clarity and operability without changing the 
guidance. ASU 2024-0 I is effe.ctive on a prospective basis, with the option for retrospective application, for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2024 and early adoption is pennitted. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2024-01 to have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2024, the F ASB issued ASU 2024-02 "Codification Improvements- Amendments to Remove References to the 
Concepts Statements," or ASU 2024-02. ASU 2024-02 amended certain definitions in the FASB guidance. ASU 2024-02 is 
effective on a prospective basis, with ilie option for retrospective application, for annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2024 and early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2024-02 to have a material impact on our 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 3 - Commercial Mortgage Loans 

The following table presents a summary of the Company's commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, carrying 
values by class (dollars in thousands): 

Senior loans 

Mezzanine loans 

Total gross carrying value of loans 

General allowance for credit losses 

Specific allowance for credit losses 

Less: Allowance for credit losses 

Total commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, net 

December 31, 2024 

$ 4,947,462 

39,288 

4,986,750 

46,865 

31,218 

December 31, 2023 

$ 5,017,569 

19,373 

5,036,942 

47,175 

78,083 47,175 

$ 4,908,667 $ 4,989, 767 
============= 

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the activity in the Company's commercial mortgage loans, held for 
investment carrying values, was as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Amortized cost, beginning of period 

Acquisitions and originations 

Principal repayments 

Dispositions 

Principal charge-off 

Deferred fees and other items<1
) 

Amortization/accretion of fees and other items<l) 

Transfer to real estate ownedc2>CJ) 

Cost recovery 

Amortized cost, end of period 

Allowance for credit losses, beginning of period 

General (provision)/benefit for credit losses 

Specific (provision)lbenefit for credit losses 

Write offs from specific allowance for credit losses 

Allowance for credit losses, end of period 

Total commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, net 

For the Years Ended 

December 31, 2024 

$ 5,036,942 

1,908,927 

(I ,607,977) 

(33,203) 

(4,801) 

(13,326) 

9,604 

(307,546) 

(1,870) 

$ 4,986,750 

$ (47,175) 

310 

(36,019) 

4,801 

$ (78,083) 

December 31, 2023 

$ 5,269,776 

941 ,513 

(I ,076,532) 

$ 

$ 

(5,242) 

13,016 

(103,863) 

(1,726) 

5,036,942 

(40,848) 

(20,551) 

(12,334) 

26,558 

$ (47,175) 

$ 4,908,667 =======~==$====4,~9=89~,7=6=7= 

(I) Other items primarily consist of purchase discounts or premiums and deferred origination expenses. 

<2> In February 2024, the Company, through deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, acquired a multifamily property located in San Antonio, TX, and 
assumed the senior mortgage note which the Company originated in November 2021. At the time of the deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, the 
amortized cost of the loan was $42.2 million and contractual interest was satisfied. Subsequently thereailer, the property was sold to a 
third party. In connection with the sale, the senior mortgage note was assumed by the buyer and immediately modified, resulting in a 
$5.9 million principal paydown. As a result, the modification was accounted for as a new loan for Gi\AP purposes and the sale of the 
real estate owned transaction resulted in a net gain of $6.0 thousand recorded in Gainl(loss) on other real estate investments in the 
consolidated statement of operations. 

(J) For additional details on properties obtained through foreclosure or deed-in- lieu of foreclosure sec Note 5 - Real Estate Owned. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company's total commercial mortgage loan, held for investment, portfolio was 
comprised of 155 and 144 loans, respectively. 
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Loan Portfolio by Collateral Type and Geographic Region 

The following tables presents the composition by loan collateral type and region of the Company's commercial mortgage 
loans, held for investment, portfolio (dollars in thousands): 

Loan CoUateral Type 

Multifamily 

Hospitality 

Industrial 

Office 

Retail 

Other 

Total 

Loan Region 

Southeast 

Southwest 

Mideast 

New England 

Far West 

Great Lakes 

Rocky Mountain 

Various0 > 

Total 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2024 

Par Value Percentag_e 

3,574,267 71.5 % 

730,590 14.6 % 

340,195 6.8 % 

185,303 3.7 % 

45,613 0.9 % 

123,886 2.5 % 
4,999,854 100.0% 

December 31, 2024 

Par Value Percentage 

1,945,668 38.9 % 

1,877,501 37.6 % 

304,522 6.1 % 
177,417 3.5 % 

171,775 3.4 % 

118,882 2.4 % 

114,425 2.3 % 

289,664 5.8 % 
4,999,854 100.0% 

December 31, 2023 

Par Value Percenta~ 

$ 3,876,108 76.8% 

670,274 13.3% 

73,724 1.5% 

269,924 5.4 % 

34,000 0.7% 

121 ,006 2.3 % 
$ 5,045,036 100.0% 

December 31,2023 

Par Value Percentage 

$ 1,989,175 39.4% 

1,920,491 38.1 % 

455,739 9.0% 

63,274 1.3% 

113,554 2.3% 

161 ,059 3.2% 

74,934 1.5% 

266,810 5.2% 

$ 5,045,036 100.0% 

0>Representts loans secured by a portfolio of properties located in various regions of the United States. 

Allowance for Crellit Losses 

The following table presents the changes in the Company's allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

General Allowance for Credit Losses 

Specific 
AUowanee for Total Allowance 
Credit Losses Funded Unfunded Total for Credit Losses 

December 31,2022 $ 14,224 $ 26,624 $ 280 $ 26,904 $ 41,128 

Changes: 

Provision/(Benefit) 12,334 20,551 853 21,404 33,738 

Write offs (26,558) (26,558) 

December 31,2023 $ $ 47,175 $ 1,133 $ 48,308 $ 48,308 
Changes: 

Provision/(Benclit) 36,019 (310) (10) (320) 35,699 

Write offs (4,801) (4,801) 

December 31, 2024 $ 31,218 $ 46,865 $ 1,123 $ 47,988 $ 79,206 
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Specific Allowance for Cretlit Losses 

The Company elected to apply a practical expedient for collateral dependent assets in which the allowance for credit losses 
is calculated as the difference between the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, less estimated cost to sell, and the 
amortized cost basis of the loan. As such, these loans receivable are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis using 
significant unobservable inputs and are classified as Level3 assets in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the underlying 
collateral is determined using the market approach, the income approach, or a combination thereof. The significant 
unobservable input used for the income approach is the exit capitalizatiolll rate assumptions, which ranged from 5.00% to 
9.50%. The significant unobservable input used for the market approach is the estimated fair value less cost to sell based on a 
negotiated price from an anticipated buyer. 

In June 2022, the Company originated a first mortgage loan with a commitment of$60.8 million secured by two 
multifamily properties in North Carolina. The loan was identified by management as non-performing and placed on non-accrual 
status, with an amortized cost of$58.0 million as of March 31, 2024. The Company recorded a specific allowance for credit 
losses of$0.7 million on this loan for the quarter ended March 31, 2024. In May 2024, the Company, through deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure, acquired the properties which are recorded in Real estate owned, held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets. 
Sec Note 5 - Real Estate Owned for additional details. 

In March 2021, the Company originated a first mortgage loan with a commitment of .$48.5 million secured by an office 
property in Colorado. The Joan was identified by management as non-perfonning and placed on cost recovery status, with an 
amortized cost of$43.7 million as of December 31,2024. The Company recorded a specific allowance for credit losses of 
$26.7 million on this loan for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

In December 2019, the Company originated a first mortgage loan with a commitment of $33.0 million secured by an omce 
property in Georgia. The loan was identified by management as non-performing and placed on cost recovery status, with an 
amortized cost of $22.8 million as of December 31, 2024. The Company recorded a spcci fie allowance for credit losses of 
$1 .3 tnillion on this Joan for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

In July 2019, the Company originated a first mortgage loan with a commitment of$20.9 million secured by a hospitality 
property in Texas. During the third quarter of2024, the loan was paid off resulting in a loss of$0.4 million. The Company 
recorded a specific allowance for credit losses of $0.4 million during the third quarter of 2024, and subsequently wrote off this 
specific allowance for credit losses in the same quarter. 

In November 2021, the Company originated a first mortgage loan with a commitment of $66.7 million secured by a 
multifamily property in Texas. The loan was identified by management as non-performing and placed on cost recovery status, 
with an amortized cost of $66.7 million as of December 31, 2024. The Company recorded a specific allowance for credit losses 
of$3.2 million on this loan for the year ended December 31,2024. 

General Allowance for Credit Losses 

The Company recorded a decrease in its general allowance for credit losses during the year ended December 31, 2024 of 
$0.3 million. The primary driver for the lower reserve balance is due to a more favorable macro-economic outlook since the end 
of the prior year. The Company recorded an increase in its general allowance for credit losses during the year ended December 
31, 2023 of $21.4 million. The primary driver for the higher reserve balance is due to a more pessitnistic and conservative 
macro-econmnic outlook since the end of the prior year slightly offset by a decrease in the overall portfolio of commercial 
mortgage loans, held for investment as of December 31, 2023. Changes in the provision for credit losses for the Company's 
financial instruments are recorded in (Provision)lbenefitfor credit losses in the consolidated statements of operations with a 
corresponding offset to the fmancial instrument's amortized cost recorded in the consolidated balance sheet, or as a component 
of Accounts payable and accrued expenses for unfunded loan commitments. 

Past Due Status 

The following table presents a summary ofthc loans amortized cost basis as of December 31, 2024 (dollars in thousands): 

Less than 90 90 or more days 
Current days past due past duec1> Total 

As of December 31, 2024 $ 4,536,095 $ 291,059 $ 159,596 $ 4,986, 750 
========= 

( I) Comprised of four mortgage loans, two of which were collateralized by office properties and the other two by multifamily properties. 
Both office properties have been designated as non-performing and placed on cost recovery status. 
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The following table presents the amortized cost basis of our non-performing loans as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 
(dollars in thousands): 

Non-performing loan amortized cost at beginning of year, January 1 

Addition of non-performing loan amortized cost 

Less: Removal of non-performing loan amortized cost 

Non-1Jcrforming loan amortized cost at end of period(1J 

December 31,2024 December 31,2023 

$ 78,185 $ 117,379 

561 ,144 118,647 

506,099 157,841 

$ 133,230 $ 78,185 
================ 

(IJ As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had three and two loans, respectively, designated as non-performing. As of 
December 3 1, 2024, U1c Uuec non-performing loans were placed on cost recovery status, two of which were collateralized by office 
properties with a specific allowance for credit losses of$26.7 million and $1.3 million, and the other by a multifamily property with a 
specific allowance for credit losses of $3.2 mill ion. As of December 31, 2023, the two non-performing loans were placed on non-accmal 
status and were collateralized by multifamily properties. No specific allowances for credit losses were detennined for the two loans 
designated as non-performing as of December 31, 2023. 

Loan Cretlit Characteristics, Quality ami Vintage 

As part of the Company's process for monitoring the credit quality of its commercial mortgage loans, excluding those held 
for sale, measured at fair value, it performs a quarterly loan portfolio assessment and assigns risk ratings to each of its loans. 
The loans are scored on a scale of I to 5 as described in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. 

Commercial mortgage loans, held for investment in the consolidated balance sheets, are assigned an initial risk rating of2. 
As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the weighted average risk rating of loans was 2.3 and 2.3, respectively. 

The following tables present the par value and amortized cost of our commercial mortgage loans, held for investment as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, by the Company' s internal risk rating and year of origination (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

Amortized Cost by Year of Origina tion 

Total 
Risk Number Total Par Amortized % of 

Rating of Loans Value 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior Cost Por·tfolio 

I $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ -% 

2 124 3,803,752 1,563,540 558,172 792,872 763,395 62,131 52,867 3,792,977 76.1 % 

3 27 1,004,387 79,210 88,821 262,228 515,065 42,263 16,378 1,003,965 20.1 % 

4 56,616 56,579 56,579 1.1 % 

5 3 135,099 110,392 22,837 133,229 2.7% 

Total 155 $ 4,999,854 $1,642,750 $ 646,993 $1,111,679 $1,388,852 $ 104,394 $ 92,0S2 $ 4,986,750 100.0% 

Allowance for credit losses (78,083) 

Total carrying value, net $ 4,908,667 

December 31, 2023 

Amortized Cost by Year of Origination 

Total 
Risk Number Total Par Amortized %of 

Rating of Loans Value 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Cost Portfolio 

I $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ -% 

2 11 1 3,897,680 694,228 1,256,509 1,724,734 105,477 73,743 35,734 3,890,424 77.2 % 

3 27 875,449 2,379 273,097 468,244 74,729 56,362 874,811 17.4 % 

4 6 271 ,907 141,740 87,126 42,840 271 ,707 5.4 % 

5 -% 

Total 144 $5,045,036 $ 696,607 $1,671,346 $2,280,104 $ 1!80,206 $ 116,583 $ 92,096 $ 5,036,942 100.0 % 

Allowance for credit losses (47,175) 

Total carrying value, net $ 4,989,767 
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Commercial Mortgage Loans, Held for Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

As of December 31 , 2024, the contractual principal balance outstanding of commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, 
measured at fair value was $87.3 million which was comprised of three loans. As of December 31 , 2024, none of the 
Company's commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value were in default or greater than ninety days past 
due. As of December 31, 2023 the Company did not hold any commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value. 

The following tables present the composition by loan collateral type and region of the Company's commercial mortgage 
loans, held for sale, measured at fair value (dollars in thousands): 

December 31,2024 

Loan Collateral Type Par Value Percentage 

Multifamily $ 17,270 19.8 % 

Mixed Use 70,000 80.2% 

Total $ 87,270 100.0% 

December 31, 2024 

Loan Region Par Value Percentage 

Mideast $ 75,000 85.9% 

Southwest 12,270 14.1 % 

Total $ 87,270 100.0% 
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Note 4 - Investment Securities 

Real Estate Securities, Available For Sale, Measured at Fair Value 

The following is a summary of the Company's real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value as of 
December 31,2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

CMBS Bonds 
Weighted 
Average 

Weighted Contractual 
Number of Benchmark Average Maturity 

Bonds Interest Rate Interest Rate (years) Par Value Fair Value 
1 Month 

December 31, 2024 11 SOFR 7.06% 9.8 $ 203,005 $ 202,973 
1 Month 

December 31, 2023 7 SOFR 8.12% 12.2 $ 243,340 $ 242,569 

The Company dassified its CMBS bonds as available for sale and reports them at fair value in the consolidated balance 
sheets with changes in fair value recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) in the consolidated balance 
sheets. 

The following table shows the amortized cost, unrealized gain/(loss) and fair value of the Company's CMBS bonds by 
investment type as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 

December 31, 2023 

$ 

$ 

Amortized Cost Unrealized Gain Unrealized (Loss) Fair Value 

202,894 =$=====2=95= $ (216) =$====2=0=2,=9=73= 
243,272 $ 74 $ (777) =$====2=4=2,=5=69= 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company held II CMBS bonds with an amortized cost basis of $202.9 million and a net 
unrealized gain of$0.1 million, four of which were held in a gross unrealized loss position of$0.2 million. As of December 31, 
2023, the Company held seven CMBS bonds with an amortized cost basis of$243.3 million and a net unrealized loss of$0.7 
million, five of which were held in a gross unrealized loss position of $0 .. 8 million. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, zero 
positions had! an unrealized loss for a period greater than twelve months. As of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, the fair value of 
the Company's CMBS bonds that were in an unrealized loss position for less than twelve months was $50.3 million and 
$184.2 million, respectively. 
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Note 5 - R eal Estate O wned 

Real Estate Owned, Held for I nvestment 

The following table summarizes the Company's real estate owned, held for investment assets as of December 31, 2024 and 
2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Acquisition Date 

September 2021 <I> 

August 2023 

October 2023 

Sec notes below. 

Acquisition Date 

September 2021 (I) 

August 2023 

October 2023 

As of December 31, 2024 

Property 
Type 

Industrial 

Primary 
Location(s) 

Jeffersonville, GA 

Office Portland, OR 

Multifamily Lubbock, TX 

L a nd 

$ 3,436 

16,479 

1,618 

$21,533 

Building a nd 
Improvemen ts 

$ 84,259 

2,065 

10,076 

$ 96,400 

As of December 31, 2023 

Proper ty Primary Building and 
Type Location (s) Land lmprovemcn ts 

Industrial Jeffersonville, GA $ 3,436 $ 84,259 

Office Portland, OR 16,479 2,065 

Multifamily Lubbock, TX 1,618 10,076 

$21,533 $ 96,400 

F urniture, 
F ixtures a nd Accumulated R eal Estate 
Equipment Depreciation Owned , net 

$ 2,928 $ (7,481) $ 83, 142 

(69) 18,475 

185 (336) 11,543 

$ 3,113 $ (7,886) $ 113,160 

Furniture, 
Fixtures and Accumulated Real Estate 
Equipment Depreciation Owned , net 

$ 2,928 $ (5,179) $ 85,444 

(13) 18,531 

185 (24) 11,855 

$ 3,113 $ (5,216) $ 115,830 

<I> The Company and an affiliate of the Company entered into a joint venture agreement and fonncd a joint venture entity, Jeffersonville 
Member, LLC (the "Jeffersonville N ") to acquire a triple net lease property in Jeffersonville, GA. Refer to Note 11 -Related Party 
Transactions and Arrangements for details. 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $2.7 million and $3.3 million, respectively. 

Real Estate Ownetl, Held f or Sale 

The following table summarizes the Company's Real estate owned, held for sale assets and liabilities as of December 31 , 
2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Property Type 
RetaiJ0 l 

Mu1tifamily<2) 

Property Type 
RetaiJ0 l 

Primary Location(s) 

Various $ 

Various 
$ 

Primary Location(s) 

Various $ 

As of December 31, 2024 

Assets, Net Liabilities, Net 
14,472 $ 1,291 

2ll,024 4,528 

225,496 $ 5,819 

As of December 31, 2023 

Assets, Net Liabilities, Net 

103,657 $ 12,297 
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( I) In November 2022, the Company and an affiliate of the Company entered into a joint venture agreement and. formed a joint venture 
ent.ity, RSPRT Walgreens Portfolio, T.LC (the "Walgreens N ") to assume a group of 24 retail properties with various locations 
throughout the United States (the "Walgreens Portfolio"). Refer to Note 11 - Related Party Transactions and Arrangements. During the 
year ended December 31 , 2024, the Company recorded a loss of $10.7 million related to the portfolio, consisting of a $9.7 million write­
down of assets and a $1.0 million loss on the sale of 19 properties. As of December 31, 2024, the Company's real estate owned, held for 
sale assets include the remaining four retail properties in the Walgreens Portfolio. The respective write-downs and losses on sale are 
recorded within Gain! (loss) on other real estate investments in the Company's consolidated tinancial statements of operations. 

(
2
) During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company obtained II multifamily properties, in various locations throughout the United 

States, through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure and subsequently sold three of the properties. The Company recognized a net 
gain of $2.7 million included within Gain/ (loss) on other real estate investments in the Company's consolidated tinancial statements of 
operations related to the foreclosure and sale of these properties. As of December 31, 2024, the Company's real estate owned held for 
sale assets includes eight multifamily prope1ties that previously collateralized five commercial mortgage loans. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has designated certain properties included within the real estate owned 
business segment as held for sale in accordance with ASC 360. The properties are currently being marketed and sales are 
probable to occur within one year. 
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Intangible Lease Assets and Liabilities, Heltlfor Investment 

The following table summarizes the Company's identified intangible lease assets (primarily in-place leases) and liabilities 
(primarily below-market leases) recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (dollars in 
thousands): 

Identified intangible assets: 

Gross amount 

Accumulated amortization 

Total, net 

Rental Income 

$ 

$ 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

49,285 $ 49,285 

(9,451) (6,492) 

39,834 $ 42,793 

Rental income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $22.8 million and $17.9 million, respectively. Rental 
income is included in Revenue from real estate owned in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The following table summarizes the Company's schedule offutme minimum rents on its real estate owned, held for 
investment properties, to be received under the lease (dollars in thousands): 

Future Minimum Rents 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 and beyond 

December 31,2024 

$ 10,425 

9,633 

9,248 

9,248 

9,248 

81,691 

Total future minimum rent $ 129,493 

Amortization Expense 

Intangible lease assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining tenn of the lease. The weighted 
average life of the intangible assets as of December 31, 2024 is approximately 13.8 years. Amortization expense for the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled $3.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively. 

Amortization of acquired below (above) market leases, net of acquired above-market leases, resulted in a decrease to rental 
revenues of$0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

The following table summarizes the Company's expected amortization of other identified intangible assets, net over the next 
five years, exclusive of intangible assets that are held for sale, assuming no further acquisitions or dispositions (dollars in 
thousands): 

Amortization Expense - Other identified intangible assets 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

December 31, 2024 

2,880 

2,880 

2,880 

2,880 

2,880 
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Below is a swnmary of the Company's Repurchase facilities and revolving credit facilities- commercial mortgage loans 
("Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities"), Mortgage note payable, Other financing and Unsecured debt as of December 31 , 
2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Repo and revolving credit facilities -
commercial mortgage loans<2>: 
JPM Repo Facility<3> $ 

Atlas Repo Facilit/4> 

WF Repo Facility<3
> 

Barclays Revolver Facility<8> 

Barclays Rcpo Facility<9> 

Churchill Repo Facility 

Total/Weighted average 

Mortgage note payable: 

Debt related to our RE0<5> 

Other Financing 

Other Financings<6> 

Unsecured Debt<7) 

Jtmior Note I 

Junior Note II 

Jtmior Note III 

Total/Weighted average 

See notes below. 

$ 

Capacity 

500,000 $ 

350,000 

400,000 

100,000 

500,000 

225,000 

2,075,000 $ 

N/A $ 

N/A $ 

N/A $ 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A $ 

As of December 31,2024 

E nding 
Weighted 

Amount interest Average Term 
Outstanding Expense<1> Interest Rate Maturity 

96,123 $ 11,308 6.73% 07/2026 

81 ,810 5,869 7.00 % 01 /2026 

6,246 N/A 10/2025 

75,805 965 9.25 % 09/2026 

76,073 13,642 6.28% 03/2025 

139 N/A N/A 

329,811 $ 38,169 7.27 % 

23,998 $ 2,032 7.52% 10/2025 

12,865 $ 1,070 6.00% 07/2028 

17,085 $ 1,630 8.35% 10/2035 

39,588 3,602 7.92 % 12/2035 

24,722 2,251 7.92% 09/2036 

81,395 $ 7,483 8.01% 
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As of December 31, 2023 

Ending 

RCJlO and revolving credit facilities -
Weighted 

Amount Interest Average 
commercial mortgage loans<2l: __ capacity Outstanding Expense<'> Interest Rate 

JPM Repo Facility(Jl $ 500,000 $ 108,574 $ 22,401 7.90 % 

Atlas Repo Facilit/4) 600,000 52,864 6,603 7.68 % 

WF Repo FaciJity<3l 400,000 71,730 9,580 7.85 % 

Barclays Revolver Facilit/8) 250,000 940 N/A 

Barclays Repo Facility<9l 500,000 66,539 11,616 7.22 % 

Churchill Rcpo Facility 225,000 30 N/A 

Total/Weighted average $ 2,475,000 $ 299,707 $ 51,170 7.70 % 

Mortgage note 1>ayable: 

Debt related to our RE0(5) N/A $ 23,998 $ 1,982 8.48 % 

Other Financing 

Other Financings<6l N/A $ 36,534 $ 5,330 7.36 % 

Unsecured Debt<7l 

Junior Note I N/A $ 17,047 $ 1,940 9.15 % 

Junior Note II N/A 39,550 3,519 8.95 % 

Junior Note III N/A 24,698 2,199 8.95 % 

Total/Weighted average N/A $ 81,295 $ 7,658 8.99% 

(I) Represents year to date expense and includes amortization of deferred financing costs. 

Ter·m 
Maturit)_• _ 

07/2026 

03/2024 

10/2025 

09/2024 

03/2025 

N/A 

10/2024 

Various<6l 

10/2035 

12/2035 

09/2036 

(l ) The Company may pledge one or more mortgage loans to the financing entity in exchange for funds typically at an advance rate of 
between 60% to 75% of the principal amount of the mortgage loan being pledged. These loans are all floating rate at the Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate (" SOFR") plus an applicable spread. Additionally, the Repo and Revolving Credit Facilities generally provide 
that in the event of a decrease in U1e value of the Company's collateral, the !.enders can demand additional collateral. As of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, the Company is in compliance with all debt covenants. 

<3lTherc are two one-year extension options. 

<4> On January 4, 2024, the Company extended the maturity date to January 5, 2026, with a one-year extension option. Additionally, the 
committed financing was decreased from $600 million to $350 million. 

(S) Relates to a mortgage note payable in Jeffersonville N , a consolidated joint venture. The loan has a principal amount ofS 112.7 million 
of which $88.7 mil lion of the loan is owned by the Company and was eliminated in our consol idated financial statements (see Note 5-
Real Estate Owned). On October I, 2024, U1e Company extended the maturity date to October 25, 2025, with a one-year extension 
option remaining. 

<6> Comprised of one and two note-on-note fmancings via participation agreements for the year ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. From inception of the loan, the Company's outstanding loans could increase as a result of future fundings, leading to an 
increase in amount outstandnng via the participation agreement. The weighted average contractual maturity date of these loans for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 was August 2025. 

(?)The notes are currently redeemable, in whole or in part, without penally, at the Company's option. Interest paid on unsecured debt totaled 
$7.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, respectively. 

<&> on September 19, 2024, the Company extended the maturity date to September 19, 2026, with a one-year extension option. Additionally, 
the committed financing was decreased from $250 million to $100 million. 

<9> As of December 31 , 2024, there are two one-year extension options. On February 21, 2025, the Company extended the maturity date to 
March 14, 2028, with a one-year extension option remaining. 
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Repurchase Agreements - Real Estate Securities 

The Company has entered into various Master Repurchase Agreements (the "MRAs") that allow the Company to sell real 
estate securities while providing a fixed repurchase price for the same real estate securities in the future. The repurchase 
contracts on each security under an MRA generally mature in 30-90 days and terms are adjusted for current market rates as 
necessary. 

Below is a summary of the Company's MRAs as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

As of December 31, 2024 
Amount Interest Collateral Weighted Average Weighted Average 

Counterparty Outstanding Expense Pledged<1> Interest Rate Days to Maturity 

JP Morgan Securities LLC $ 78,198 $ 6,609 $ 68,501 5.40% 8 

Wells Fargo Securities, LLC 65,388 960 82,644 5.41 % 14 

Barclays Capital Inc. 66,057 4,452 74,042 5.10% 21 

Lucid Prime Fund 26,965 1,209 30,865 5.24% 16 -- -
Total/Weighted Average $ 236,608 $ 13,230 $ 256,052 5.30% 15 

As of December 31,2023 
Amount Interest Collateral Weighted Average Weighted Average 

Counterparty Outstanding Expense Pledged<1> Interest Rate Days to Maturity 

JP Morgan Securities LLC $ 113,111 $ 6,717 $ 127,602 6.29% 15 

Wells Fargo Securities, LLC 8,994 235 9,975 6.14% 5 

Barclays Capital Inc. 51,950 3,371 58,250 6.19% 5 

Total/Weighted Average $ 174,055 $ 10,323 $ 195,827 6.25% 11 

(I) Includes $75.4 million and $27.9 million ofCMBS notes, held by the Company, which is eliminated through consolidation of the related 
CLOs on the Company's consolidated balance sheets as ofDecember 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Collateralize.d Loan Obligation 

The following tables represent the terms of the notes issued by 2021-FL6 Issuer, 2021-FL 7 Issuer, 2022-FL8 Issuer, 2022-
FL9 Issuer, 2023-FL I 0 Issuer and 2024-FL II Issuer (collectively the "CLOs"), as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respeclively: 

December 31, 2024 

Number Benchmark Weighted 
Principal 

Balance of 
of Loans Interest Average Par Va lue Collate..alized Maturity 

CLO Facility in pool<•> Rate<4> Spread Par Value Outstanding<2> Mortgage Assets Dates 

2021-FL6 Issuer 38 Term SOFR 1.64% $ 584 ,500 $ 344,411 $ 454,686 3/15/2036 

2021-FL 7 Issuer 30 Term SOFR 1.90% 722,250 392,826 563,852 12/21 /2038 

2022-FL8 Issuer 35 AVG SOFR 1.77% 960,000 796,927 914,752 2/15/2037 

2022-FL9 Issuer 38 Term SOFR 2.94% 670,637 519,537 647,683 5/15/2039 

2023-FL 1 0 Issuer3> 41 Term SOFR 2.59% 717,243 717,243 892,536 9/15/2035 

2024-FL I I Issuer 27 Tenn SOFR 1.99% 886,176 886,176 1,016,286 7/15/2039 

$ 4,540,806 $ 3,657,120 $ 4,489,795 

December 31, 2023 

Principal 
Number Benchmark Weighted Balance of 
of Loans interest Average Par Value Collateralized Maturity 

CLO Facility in pool<•> rate<4> Spread Par Value Outstanding<2> Mortgage Assets Dates 

2021 -FL6 Issuer 54 Term SOFR 1.43% $ 584 ,500 $ 558,040 $ 673,289 3/15/2036 

2021-FL 7 Issuer 40 Term SOFR 1.64% 722,250 720,000 864,079 12/21 /2038 

2022-FL8 Issuer 46 AVG SOFR 1.72% 960,000 960,000 1,184,931 2/15/2037 

2022-FL9 Issuer 51 Term SOFR 2.80% 670,637 670,639 800,638 5/15/2039 

2023-FLlO Issuer 27 Term SOFR 2.57% 717,243 689,294 895,525 9/ 15/2035 

$ 3,654,630 $ 3,59 7,973 $ 4,418,462 

<•> Loan assets may be pledged towards one or multjplc CLO pool. 
( l ) Excludes $532.4 million and $495.0 million, respectively, ofCLO notes, held by the Company, which are eliminated in Co!lateralized 

loan obligations in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

<3> During the first quarter of 2024, the Company sold the BSPRT FLIO AS retained tranche with a principal balance of$27.9 million. 

(<I) On March 5, 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority of the U.K. (the "FCA") announced that LIBOR tenors relevant to 2019-FL5 Issuer, 
2021- FL6 Issuer, and 2021 -FL7 Issuer would cease to be published or no longer be representative after June 30, 2023. The Alternative 
Reference Rates Committee (the "ARRC") interpreted this announcement to constitute a benchmark transition event. The benchmark 
index of I M LIBOR interest rate converted from LIBOR to compounded SOFR, plus a benchmark adjustment of 11.448 basis points 
with a lookback period equal to the number of calendar days in the applicable interest accrual period plus two SOFR business days, 
conforming with the indenture agreement and recommendations from the ARRC. Compotmded SOFR for any interest accrual period 
shall be the "30-Day Average SOFR" as published by the Federal Resetve Bank of New York on each benchmark detennination date. 
On July 13, 2023, the Company converted the indices for 2021-FL6 Issuer and 2021-FL 7 Issuer to IM Tenn SOFR + 11.448 basis points 
and the applicable spreads remain unchanged. 
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On September 26,2024, BSPRT 2024-FLll Issuer, LLC, a wholly-owned indirect SUibsidiary of the Company, entered into 
an indenture with the OP, as advancing agent, U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee and note 
administrator, and U.S. Bank National Association, as custodian and in other capacities, which governs the issuance of 
approximately $1.0 billion principal balance secured floating rate notes, of which $886.2 million were purchased by third party 
investors and! $ 138.3 million were purchased by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the OP. In addition, concurrently with the 
issuance of the notes, BSPRT 2024-FL11 Issuer, LLC also issued 72,995 preferred shares, par value of $0.001 per share and 
with an aggregate liquidation preference and notional amount equal to $1,000 per share, which were not offered as part of 
closing the indenture. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, BSPRT 2024-FLll Issuer, LLC is a disregarded entity. 

The below table reflects the total assets and liabilities of the Company's outstanding CLOs. The CLOs arc considered VTEs 
and are consolidated into the Company's consolidated fmancial statements as of December 31,2024 and 2023, respectively, as 
the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The Company is the primary beneficiary of the CLOs because (i) the 
Company has the power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the VIE's economic performance and (ii) the right 
to receive benefits fTom the VIEs or the obligation to absorb losses of the VIEs that could be significant to the VIE. The VIE's 
arc non-recourse to the Company. 

Assets (dollars in thousands) 

Cash and cash equivalents<•l 

Commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, nct<2l 

Accrued interest receivable 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 

Notes payable<3X4l 

Accrued interest payable 

Total Liabilities 

December 31, 2024 

$ 157,991 

4,378,427 

December 31, 211)23 

$ 55,914 

$ 4,379,760 

21,580 _$ _____ 23...:.,_92_7_ 

$ 4,557,998 $ 4,459,601 
============ 

$ 4,189,479 $ 4,092,971 

13,194 $ 15,171 
------------~--

$ 4,202,673 $ 4,108,142 
============ 

<•l Includes $157.0 million and $55.1 million of cash held by the setvicer related to CLOs as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

<2
> The balance is presented net of allowance for credit losses of$34.5 million and $32.6 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

(J) Includes $532.4 million and $495.0 million ofCLO notes, held by the Company, which are eliminated in Collateralized loan obligalion 
in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

<
4
> The balarnce is presented net of deferred financing cost and discount of$28. 8 million and $30.8 million as of December 31 , 2024 and 
2023, respectively. The deferred financing costs are amortized over the expected Jjfctime of ea.ch CLO. 
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The Company uses the two-class method in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share. Net income/(loss) is allocated 
between our common stock and other participating securities based on their participation rights. Diluted net income per share 
has been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding and other dilutive securities. 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations and the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data): 

Numerator 

Net income/(loss) 

Net (income)/loss from non-controlling interest 

Less: Preferred stock dividends 

Net income/(loss) attributable to common stock 

Less: Participating securities' share in earnings 

Net income/(loss) attributable to common shareholders (for basic and diluted 
earnings per share) 

Denominator 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share<1> 

Basic earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

$ 92,403 144,509 $ 14,215 

3,475 706 216 

26,993 26,993 41,741 

68,885 118,222 (27 ,310) 

1,806 1,162 

$ 67,079 $ 117,060 $ (27,310) 

Year Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

81,846,170 82,307,970 71,628,365 

81,846,170 82,307,970 71 ,628,365 

$ 0.82 $ 1.42 $ (0.38) 

$ 0.82 $ 1.42 $ (0.38) 

(J) The effect of the weighted average dilutive shares excluded restricted shares and restricted stock units for the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023 and 2022 of253,436, 191 ,324, and 476,653, respectively, as the effect was anti-dilutivc. Additionally, the effect of the 
weighted average dilutivc shares excluded the common equivalent of convertible preferred shares for the years ended December 31, 
2024, 2023 and 2022 of 5,370,498, 5,385,254, and 17,521 ,845 shares respectively, as the effect was anti-dilutive. 
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Note 9 - R edeemable Convertible Preferred S tock and E quity T ransactions 

The following table presents the summary of the Company's outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock, 
perpetual preferred stock, and common stock as of December 31,2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except share and per share 
amounts): 

Balance as of Shares Outstanding as of 
Fourt h 

Quarter 2024 
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, Dividend Per 

2024 2023 2024 2023 Share <•> 
Redeemable Convertible Prefer red 
Stock: 

Series H Preferred Stock <2> $ 89,748 $ 89,748 17,950 17,950 $ 106.22 

Perpetual Preferred Stock: 

Series E Preferred Stock $ 258,742 $ 258,742 10,329,039 10,329,039 $ 0.46875 

Common Stock : 

Common Stock - at par value <3X4l $ 818 $ 820 83,066,789 82,751,913 $ 0.355 

( I) As declared by the Company's board of directors. 

(z) On January 16, 2025, the Series H Preferred Stock was amended such that the mandatory conversion date was extended by one year, to 
January 21 , 2026. Unless earlier converted, the Series J I Preferred Stock will automatically com vert into common stock at a rate of299.2 
shares of common stock per share of Series H Preferred Stock (subject to adjustments as described in the Articles Supplementary for the 
Series H Preferred Stock) on January 21, 2026. The holder of the Series H Preferred Stock has the right to convert up to 4,487 shares of 
Series II Preferred Stock one time in each calendar month through December 2025, upon I 0 business days' advance notice to the 
Company. 

(J) Common stock includes shares issued pursuant to the Company's DIUP and unvested restricted! shares. 

<4> During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 391 ,&63 shares of common stock at a net average price of $12.42 
per share, for a total of$4.9 million. All of these shares were retired upon settlement, reducing the total outstanding shares as of 
December 31, 2024. See discussion in the "Stock Repurchases" section below. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid an aggregate of $117.9 million and $118.0 
million, respectively, of common stock distTibutions comprised of quarterly common dividends of $0.355 per share. 

Stock Repurchases 

The Company's board of directors has authorized a $65 million share repurchase program of the Company's common 
stock. The Company's share repurchase program authorizes share repurchases at prices below the most recently reported book 
value per share as determined in accordance wiith GAAP. Repurchases made under the program may be made through open 
market, block, and privately negotiated transactions, including Rule lObS-I plans, as permitted by securities laws and other 
legal requirements. The timing, manner, price and amount of any purchases by the Company will be detenni.ned by the 
Company in its reasonable business judgment and consistent with the exercise of its legal duties and will be subject to economic 
and market conditions, stock price, applicable legal requirements and other factors. The share repurchase program does not 
obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock. The Company's share repurchase program will 
remain open until at least December 31, 2025, or until the capital committed to the applicable repurchase program has been 
exhausted, whichever is sooner. Repurchases under the Company's share repurchase program may be suspended from time to 
time at the Company's discretion without prior notice. As of December 31 , 2024, the Company had $31.1 million remaining 
under the share repurchase program. 

The following table is a stunmary of the Company's repurchase activity of its common stock during the year ended 
December 31, 2024 (in thousands, except share ammmts): 

Beginning of period, authorized repurchase amount 

Repurchases paid 

Remaining as of December 31, 2024 

Year Ended December 31, 2024 

Shares 

391 ,863 

$ 

$ 

Amount <•l<ll 

35,917 

(4,867) 

31 ,050 
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<•> For the year ended December 31 , 2024, the net average purchase price was 12.42 per share. 

<2
> Amount includes commissions paid associated with share repurchases. 

Dividend Reinvestment and Direct S tock Purchase Plan 
The Company has adopted a dividend reinvestment and direct stock purchase plan ("DRIP") tmder which we registered and 

reserved for issuance, in the aggregate, 63,000,000 shares of common stock. Under the dividend reinvesunent component of 
this plan, the Company's common stockholders can designate all or a portion of their cash dividends to be reinvested in 
additional shares of common stock. The direct stock purchase component allows stockholders, subject to the Company's 
approval, to purchase shares of common stock directly from us. For the year ended December 31, 2024, 0 and 163,952 shai"es 
of common stock were issued by the Company and purchased in the open market, respectively, by the DRIP administrator and 
allocated to DRIP participants. under the dividend reinvestment component of DRIP. 

At-the-Market Sales Agreement 

On November 8, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment to rt.hc sales agreement dated Aprill4, 2023 as amended 
the ("Sales Agreement") establishing its $200 million at-the-market offering progrdm (the "ATM program") with a financiall. 
syndicate as sales agents (the "Agents"). Pursuant to the Sales Agreement, the Company may offer and sell shares of the 
Company's common stock, from time to time, and at various prices, through the Agents. Sales of the common stock, if any, 
made through the Agents may be made in "at the market" offerings (as defined in Rule 415 under the Secur ities Act of 1933, as 
amended), by means of ordina ry brokers' transactions on the New York Stock Exchange or otherwise, at market prices 
prevailing at the time of sale, in block transactions, in negotiated transactions, in any manner permitted by applicable law or as 
otherwise as may be agreed by the Company and any Agent. 

As of December 31 , 2024, the Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the ATM program, and common 
stock with an aggregate sales price of$200 million remains available for issuance. 

Note 10- Commitments and Contingencies 

Unfunded Commitments Under Commercial M ortgage Loans 

As of December 31 , 2024, the Company had the below unfunded commitments to the Company's borrowers (dollars in 
thousands): 

Funding Expiration December 31, 2024 December 31 , 2023 

2023(1) $ $ 9,694 

2024 117,411 

2025 76, 163 131,579 

2026 156,907 28,525 

2027 135,244 684 

2028 and beyond 3,195 

$ 371,509 $ 287,893 

<•>The balance relates to four loans that were subject to modification as of December 31, 2023. 

The borrowers are generally required to meet or maintain certain metrics in order to qualify for the unfunded commitment 
ammmts. 

Litigation and Regulatory Matters 

The Company is not presently named as a defendant in any material litigation arising outside the ordinary course of 
business. However, the Company is involved in routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, none of which the 
Company believes, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material impact on the Company's financial condition, 
operating resTUlts or cash flows. 
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Note 11 - Related Party Transactions and Arrangements 

Advisory Agreement Fees and Reimbursemen ts 

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Company is required to make the following payments and reimbursements to the 
Advisor: 

The Company reimburses the Advisor' s costs of providing services pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, except the 
salar ies and benefits paid by the Advisor to the Company's executive officers. 

The Company pays the Advisor, or its affiliates, a monthly asset management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.5% of 
stockholders' equity as calculated pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. 

The Company will pay the Advisor an annual subordinated performance fee calculated on the basjs of total return to 
stockholders, payable monthly in arrears, such that for any year in which total return on stockholders' capital (as 
defined in t11e Advisory Agreement) exceeds 6.0% per annum, our Advisor will be entitled to 15.0% of the excess total 
return; provided that in no event will the armual subordinated perfonnance fee payable to our Advisor exceed 10.0% of 
the aggregate total return for such year . 

The Company reimburses the Advisor for insourced expenses incurred by the Advisor on the Company's behalf related 
to selecting, evaluating, originating and acquiring investments in an amount up to 0.5% of the principal amowlt funded 
by the Company to originate or acquire commercial mortgage loans and up to 0.5% of the anticipated net equity 
funded by the Company to acquire real estate securities investments. 

The table below shows the costs incurred due to arrangements with our Advisor and its affiliates during the years ended 
December 3 I , 2024, 2023 and 2022 and the associated payable as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Year E nded December 31, 

Acquisition expenses ( J) $ 

Administrative services expenses 
Asset management and 
subordinated performance fee 

Other related party expenses (Z)(J) 

Total related party fees and 

2024 

996 

9,707 

25,958 

1,301 

37,962 reimbursements $ 
======~= 

2023 

$ 1,24 1 $ 

14,440 

33,847 

1,192 

$ 50,720 $ 

Payable as of December 31, 

2022 2024 2023 

1,360 $ $ 

12,928 2,342 3,447 

26,157 9,417 15,014 

875 2,347 855 

41,32(1) $ 14,106 $ 19,316 

(J) Total acquisition fees and expenses paid during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were $10.0 million, $5.8 million and 
$ 11.7 million respectively, of which $9.0 million, $4.6 illlllion and $10.3 million were capitalized in Commercial morlgage loans, held 
for investmenl and Real estaJe securities, available/or sale, measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets for the years ended 
December 3 1, 2024, 2023 and 2022. 

<2> These are related to reimbursable costs incurred related to the increase in loan origination activities and are included in Other expenses in 
the consolidated statements of operations. 

(J) As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related party payables include $2.3 million and $0.7 m illion, respectively, of payments made by 
the Advisor to third party vendors on behalf of the Company. 

The payables as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 in the table above are included in Due to affiliates in the consolidated 
balance sheets. 

Other Transactions 

In the third quarter of 2021 , the Company and an affiliate ofthe Company entered into the Jeffersonvi11e JV to acquire a 
$139.5 million triple net lease property in Jeffersonville, GA. The Company has a 79% interest in the Jeffersonville JV, while 
the affiliated fund has a 21% interest. The Company invested a total of $109.8 million, made up of $88.7 million in debt and 
$21.1 million in equity, representing 79% of the ownership interest in the Jeffersonville JV. The affiliated fund made up the 
remaining $29.8 nlillion composed of a $24.0 million mortgage note payable and $5.8 nliHion in non-controlling interest. The 
Company has majority control of Jeffersonville JV and, therefore, consolidates the accmmts of Jeffersonville JV in its 
consolidated financial statements. The Company's $88.7 mi llion mortgage note payable to Jeffersonville N is eliminated in 
consolidation (see Note 7 - Debt). 
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Pursuant to the Company's 2021 Incentive Plan, in the first quarter of2024, the Company issued awards of restricted stock 
tmits to its officers and certain other personnel of the Advisor who provide services to the Company tmder the Advisory 
Agreement. 

As of December 31 , 2024, our commcrciaE mortgage loans, held for investment, includes an aggregate of$39.6 million 
carrying value ofloans to affiliates of our Advisor. The Company recognized $7.5 million and $10.0 million in interest income 
from these loans for the year ended December 31 , 2024 and 2023 respectively, in the consolidated statements of operations. 

In the second quarter of2022, the Company fully funded a $149.7 million first mortgage consisting of the Walgreens 
Portfolio: 24 retail properties with various locations throughout the United States. The Company entered into a joint venture 
agreement and formed the Walgreens JV to acquire 75.618% ownership interest in the Walgreens Portfolio, while the affiliated 
fund has 24.242% interest. 

On December 20, 2024, the Company, three affiliates of the Company, and an unrelated third party entered into the 55 
Rivcrwalk Aker!BSP Venture LLC (the "55 Riverwalk N") to acquire a $158.5 million mixed usc development property 
consisting of a multifamily apartment complex and retail shopping stores located in West New York, NJ. The Company has a 
21.01 % interest in the 55 Riverwalk JV while the af[tliated funds and the unrelated third party have 73.99% and 5.00% interest, 
respectively. 

Note 12- Share-Based Compensation 

Share Plans 

The Company's 2021 Incentive plan provides the Company with the ability to grant equity-based awards to its directors, 
officers and employees (if the Company ever has employees), employees of the Advisor and its affiliates, or certain of the 
Company's consultants, employees of entities that provide services to the Company, directors of the Advisor or of entities that 
provide services to the Company, the Advisor and its affiliates. 

As of December 31, 2024, there were 3, 706,994 shares of common stock remaining available for issuance under the 
Company's 2021 Incentive Plan. The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the 2021 Incentive Plan at any time; provided 
that no amendment, suspension or termination may impair rights or obligations under any outstanding award without the 
participant's consent or violate the 2021 Incentive Plan' s prohibition on repricing. 

Service-based Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units 

In accordance with the 2021 lncentive Plan, the Company issued awards ofRSUs to its officers and certain other persormel 
of the Advisor who provide services to the Company under the Advisory Agreement. 

Restricted Stock and RSU activity issued under the 2021 Incentive Plan for the year ended December 31 , 2024 is 
summarized below: 

Unvcsted equity awards outstanding as of December 31, 2023 

Grants 

Vested 

Unvested equity awards outstanding as of December 31 , 2024 

Shares Outstanding 

2021 Incentive Plan 

809,257 

819,710 

(350,269) 

1,278,698 

we•gmea 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 

$ 14.11 

13.20 

14.23 

$ 13.58 

The Company recognized compensation expense associated with equity awards of $8.2 million, $4.8 million, and $2.5 
million during the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively, which is included in Share-based 
compensation in the consolidated statements of operations. Unrecognized estimated compensation expense for these awards 
totaled $9.7 million as of December 31 , 2024 iliat will be expensed over a weighted average period of 1.8 years. 

Restricted Stock and RSUs granted in 2024 and 2023 had a weighted average grant date fair value of $13.20 and $14.20, 
respectively. The fair value of Restricted Stock and RSUs that vested during the years ended December 3 R, 2024 and 2023 was 
$5.0 million and $2.7 million, respectively. 

Note 13- Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

GAAP establishes a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the observability of inputs used in measuring fmancial 
instruments at fair values. GAAP establishes market-based or observable inputs as the preferred source of values, followed by 
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valuation models using management assumptions in the absence of market inputs. The three levels of the hierarchy are 
described below: 

Level I - Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement 
date. 

Level II - Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level I) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset 
or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the iJlStrument's 
anticipated life. 

Level III- Unobservable inputs that reflect the entity's own assumptions about the asswnptions that market participants 
would use in the pricing of the asset or liability and are consequently not based on market activity, but rather through 
particular valuation techniques. 

The dete-rmination of where an asset or liability falls in the above hierarchy requires significant judgment and factors 
specific to the asset or liability. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the Eevel in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement 
falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company evaluates 
its hierarchy disclosures each quarter and dependin g on various factors, it is possible that an asset or liability may be c lassified 
differently from quarter to quarter. 

The Company has implemented valuation control processes to validate the fair value of the Company's financial 
instruments measured at fair value including those derived from pricing models. These control processes are designed to assure 
that the values used for financial reporting are based on observable inputs wherever possible. In the event that observable inputs 
are not available, the control processes are designed to assure that the valuation approach utilized is appropriate and consistently 
applied and the assumptions are reasonable. 

Financial I nstruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

CMBS bonds, recorded in Real estate securities, available for sale, measured at fair value in the consolidated balance 
sheets are valued utilizing both observable and unobservable market inputs. These factors include projected future cash flows, 
ratings, subordination levels, vintage, remaining lives, credit issues, and recent trades of similar real estate securities. 
Depending upon the significance of the fair value inputs used in determining these fair values, these real estate securities are 
classified in either Level II or Level III of the fair value hierarchy. The Company obtains third party pricing for determining the 
fair value of each CMBS investtnent, resulting in a Levelll classification. 

Commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured at fair value in the Company's TRS are initially recorded at 
transaction price, which are considered to be the best initial estimate of fair value. The Company engages the services of a third 
party independent valuation firm to detem1ine fair value of certain investments held by t11e Company. Fair value is determined 
using a discounted cash flow model that primarily considers changes in interest rates and credit spreads, weighted average life 
and current perfonnance oft11e underlying collateral. Commercial mortgage loans held for sale, measured at fair value that are 
originated in the last month of the reporting per iod are held and marked to the transaction price. The Company classified the 
commercial mortgage loans held for sale, measured at fair value as Level III. 

Other real estate im•estments, measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are valued using unobservable 
inputs. The Company engaged the services of a third party independent valuation finn to determine fair value of certain 
investments, including preferred equity investments, held by t11e Company. Fair value is detennined using a discounted cash 
flow model that primarily considers changes in interest rates and credit spreads, weighted average life and current performance 
of the underlying collateral. The Company generally classifies its other real estate investments, measured a t fair value as Level 
Ill. 

Derivative instruments, measured a t fair value 

Treasury note futures trade on the Chicago Board ofTrade ("CBOT.,) and are made up of contracts of a variety ofrecently 
issued 5-year and 10-year U.S. Treasury notes. The future contracts are liquid and are centrally cleared through the CBOT and 
are valued using market prices. Treasury note futures are categorized as Level I. 
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Credit default swaps, interest rate swaps and options can be traded over the counter ("OTC") or on the exchange. 
Exchange-traded derivatives are generally valued using market prices while OTC derivative transaction valuations are derived 
using pricing models that are widely accepted by marketplace participants. The pricing models take into accotmt multiple inputs 
including specific contract terms, interest rate yield curves, interest rates, credit curves, recovery rates, and/or current credit 
spreads obtained from counterparties and other market participants. Most inputs into the models are not subjective as they are 
observable in the marketplace or set per the contract. The valuation is primarily determined by the difference between the 
contract spread and the current market spread. The contract spread (or rate) is generally ftxcd and the market spread is 
determined by the credit risk of the underlying debt or reference entity. If the underlying indices are liquid and the OTC market 
for the current spread is active, the derivatives are categorized in Level II of the fair value hierarchy. If the tmderlying indices 
are illiquid and the OTC market for the current spread is not active, the derivatives are categorized in Level III of the fair value 
hierarchy. The Company's option contracts arc exchange-traded, and therefore categorized as Level I. The Company classified 
its credit default swaps as Level II. 

A review of the fair value hierarchy classification is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the type of inputs may 
result in a reclassification for certain assets or liabilities. The Company's policy with respect to transfers between levels oftlhc 
fair value hierarchy is to recognize transfers into and out of each level as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were 
no material transfers between levels within the fair value hierarchy during the year ended December 31 , 2024. 

The following table presents the Company's financial instruments carried at fair value on a recurring basis in the 
consolidated balance sheets by its level in the fair value hierarchy as of December 31,2024 (dollars in thousands). The 
Company did not have any liabilities carried at fair value as of December 31 , 2023. 

Assets, at fair value 

Real estate securities, available for sale, measured at 
fair value $ 
Commercial mortgage loans, held for sale, measured 
at fair value 

Options 

Treasury notes 

Total assets, at fair value 

Liabilities, at fair value 

Credit default swaps 

Total liabilities, at fair value 

Assets, at fair value 
Real estate securities, available for sale, measured at 

$ 

$ 

$ 

~w~ $ 

Total assets, at fair value $ 

December 31,2024 

Total 

202,973 $ 

87,270 

183 

89E 
291,317 $ 

Levell 

183 

891 

$ 

1,074 $ 

1,787 _$ _____ $ 

1,787 $ $ 

Level II Levcllll 

202,973 $ 

87,270 

202,973 =$=====87='=27=0= 

1,787 _$ ____ _ 

1,787 $ 
===== 

December 31,2023 

Total Levell Level ll Level III 

242,569 $ $ 
------

242,569 $ 
------

242,569 $ $ 242,569 =$==== 
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Both observable and unobservable inputs may be used to detem1ine the fair value of positions that the Company has 
classified within the Level III category. The following table summarizes the valuation method and significant unobservable 
inputs used for the Company's fmancial instruments that are categorized within Level Ill of the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31 , 2024 (dollars in thousands). The Company did not hold any applicable positions as of December 31, 2023. 

Asset Category 
Commercial mortgage loans, held for 
sale, measured at fair value 

Fair Value 

$ 87,270 

December 31, 2024 
Valuation 

Methodologies 
Discounted Cash 

Flow 

Unobservable 
Inputs(!) 

Yield 

Weighted 
Average 

7.02% 

Range 

6.96% - 7.58% 

( I) ln detennining certain inputs , the Company evaluates a variety of factors including economic conditions, industry and market 
developments, market valuations of comparable companies and company specific developments including exit strategies and realization 
opportuniltics. The Company has detcnnincd that market participants would take U1cse inputs into account when valuing the investments. 

Increases or decreases in any of the above unobservable inputs in isolation would result in a lower or higher fair value 
measurement for such assets. The following table presents additional information about the Company's financial instrun1ents 
which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31. 2024 and 2023 for which the Company has used Level 
III inputs to detennine fair value (dollars in thousands): 

Beginning balance, January 1, 2024 

Trd.llsfers into Leveliii(I) 

Originations 

Sales I paydowns 

Total realized and unrealized gainl(loss) included in earnings: 

Realized gain!(loss) on sale of commercial mortgage loan, held for sale 
Unrealized gainl(loss) on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale and other real estate 
investments 

Transfers out of Level m0 > 

Ending bala nce, December 31, 2024 

( I) There were no transfers in or out of Level ITT as ofDecember 31 , 2024. 

December 31, 2024 

Commercial mortgage 
loans, held for sale, 

measured at fair value 

$ 

$ 

358,4:45 

(284,300) 

13,125 

87,270 
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December 31,2023 

Beginning balance, January 1, 2023 

Transfers into Level m0 > 

Originations 

Sales I paydowns 

Total realized and unrealized gain/(loss) included in earnings: 

Realized gain!(loss) on sale of commercial mortgage loan, held for sale 
Unrealized gain/(loss) on commercial mortgage loans, held for sale and 
other real estate investments 

Trading gain/(loss) 

Transfers out of Level m<tl 
E nding balance, December 31,2023 

( I) There were no transfers in or out of Level TIT as of December 31 , 2023. 

$ 

$ 

Real estate securities, 
trading, measured at 

fair value 

235,728 

(235,123) 

(605) 

Commercial mortgage 
loans, held for sale, 

measured at fair value 

$ 15,559 

102,500 

(121 ,976) 

3,873 

44 

$ 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are measured using observable quoted market prices, or 
Level I inputs and their carrying value approximates their fair value. The fair value of borrowings under repurchase agreements 
approximate their carrying value in the consolidated balance sheets due to their short-term nature and arc measured using Level 
III inputs. 

Financial instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 

Real Estate Owned, held for sale, on the consolidated balance sheets are valued at fair value on a non-recurring basis in 
accordance with ASC 820 and are classified as Level III investments. At the time of acquisition, we determined the fair value of 
the net real estate assets, using either the market approach, the income approach, or a combination thereof. 

As of December 31 , 2024, the W algreens Portfolio was written down to estimated fair value less cost to sell for impairment 
purposes using either the market approach or the income approach. In addition, the Company determined the fair value of its 
eight multifamily properties, obtained through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, based on a combination of the market 
approach and the income approach. The significant unobservable input used for the income approach is the exit capitalization 
rate assumptions, which ranged from 5.00% - 7.88%. The significant unobservable input used for the market approach is the 
estimated fair value less cost to sell based on a negotiated price from an anticipated buyer. 

As of December 31 , 2024, the Company's Real estate owned, held for sale assets and liabilities, had a fair value of 
$221.6 million, net, that represented the remaining four retail properties iin the Walgrcens Portfolio and eight multifamily 
properties. As of December 31, 2023 the Company's real estate owned, held for sale assets and liabilities, had a fair value of 
$91.4 million, net, representing the remaining 23 retail properties in the Walgreens Portfolio and four multifamily properties. 
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Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value 

The Company's financial assets and liabilities that arc not reported at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are 
reported below as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 

Level 
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Level Amount Fair Value 

Commercial mortgage 
loans, held for 
investment( I) Asset III $ 4,986,750 $ 4,935,380 III $ 5,036,942 $ 5,010,580 
Collateralized loan 
obligations<2 l Liability II 3,628,270 3,645,330 II 3,567,166 3,521 ,274 

Mortgage note payable Liability III 23,998 23,998 III 23,998 23,998 

Other fmancings Liability III 12,865 12,865 III 36,534 36,534 

Unsecured debt Liability III 81,395 69,800 IIJ 81,295 64,900 

Cll The canying value is gross o f $78.1 miiJion and $47.2 million of aiJowance for credit losses as of December 3 1, 2024 and 2023, 
respective ly. 

(
2
) Depending upon the s ignificance of the fair value inputs utilized in determining these fair values, our collateralized loan obligations arc 
classified in either Level IT or Level m of the fair value hierarchy. Beginning in the third quarter of2023, the transfers from Level m to 
Level TT were a result of the availability of current and reliable market data provided by third party pricing services or other valuation 
techniques which utilized observable inputs. 

Repurchase agreements- commercial mortgage loans of$329.8 m.ilnion and $299.7million as ofDecember 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, and repurchase agreements - real estate securities of $236.6 million and $174.1 million as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, are not carried at fair value and do not include accrued interest, which arc presented in Note 7 -
Debt. For these instruments, carrying value generally approximates fair value and are classified as Level III. 

The fair value of the commercial mortgage loans, held for investment is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis, 
based on the Advisor's experience with similar types of investments. The Company estimates the fair value of the collateralized 
loan obligations using external broker quotes. The mortgage note payable was recorded at transaction proceeds, which are 
considered to be the best initial estimate of fair value. The fair value of the other fmancings is generally estimated using a 
discounted cash flow analysis. The fair value of the unsecured debt is based on discounted cash flows using Company estimates 
for market yields on similarly structured debt instruments. 
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Note 14 - Derivative Instruments 

The Company uses derivative instruments primarily to manage the fair value variability of fixed rate assets caused by 
interest rate fluctuations and overall portfolio market risk. 

The following derivative instruments were outstanding as of December 31 , 2024 (dollars in thousands): As of 
December 31, 2023, there were no derivative instruments outstanding. 

Contract ty[(le 

As of December 31, 2024 

Credit default swaps 

Options 

Treasury note futures 

Total 

$ 

$ 

Notional 

80,000 $ 

68,300 

148,300 $ 

.F air Value 

Assets Liabilities 

$ 1,787 

295 112 

891 

1,186 $ 1,899 

The following table indicates the net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivatives, by primary underlying risk 
exposure, as included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: 

Contract ty1>e 

Credit default swaps $ 

Interest rate swaps 

Options 

Treasury note futures 

Total $ 

Year E nded 
December 31, 2024 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2023 

Unrealized Realized Unrealized Realized 
gain/(loss) gain/(loss) gain/(loss) gain/(loss) 

75 $ (112) $ 41 $ (36) $ 

(90) 672 

83 (90) 

892 (1 ,059) (91) 362 

1,050 $ (1 ,261) $ (140) $ 998 $ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2022 

Unrealized Realized 
gain/(loss) gain/ (loss) 

147 $ (405) 

(15,954) 59,499 

(33) 939 

(15,840) $ 60,033 

Interest rate swap agreements are measured at fair value on a recurring basis primarily using Level II Inputs in accordance 
with ASU 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820). In determining fair value estimates for swaps, the 
Company utilizes the standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash payments and the discounted future 
variable cash receipts which arc based on expected future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves. The 
Company also incorporates both its own nonperformance risk and its counterpartics' nonperformance risk in detennining fair 
value. In considering the effect of nonperformance risk, the Company considered the impact of netting and credit 
enhancements, such as collateral postings and guarantees, and has concluded that counterparty risk is not significant to the 
overall valuation. 
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Note 15 - Offsetting Assets and Liabilities 

The Company's consolidated balance sheets used a gross presentation of repurchase agreements and collateral pledged. The 
table below provides a gross presentation, the effects of offsetting, and a net presentation of the Company's derivative 
instruments and repurchase agreements as of December 31 , 2024 and 2023 (dollars in thousands): 

Assets<•> 

December 31,2024 
Derivative instruments, at fair 
vruue $ 

Liabilities 

December 31,2024 
Repurchase agreements, 
commercial mortgage loans $ 

Repurchase agreements, reru 
estate securities 
Derivative instruments, at fair 
value 

December 31, 2023 
Repurchase agreements, 
commercial mortgage loans $ 

Repurchase agreements, reru 
estate securities 

Gross 
Amounts of 
Recognized 

Assets 

Gross 
Amounts 

Offset on the 
Balance Sheet 

Net Amount 
of Assets 

Presented on 
the Balance 

Sheet 

Gross Amounts Not Offset 
on the Balance Sheet 

Financial 
Instruments 

Cash 
Collateral<2> 

Net 
Amount 

1,186 $ 1,186 $ - $ - $ - $ 

Gross Amounts Not Offset 
on the Balance Sheet 

Net Amount 
Gross Gross of Assets 

Amounts of Amounts Presented on 
Recognized Offset on the the Balance Financial Cash Net 
Liabilities Balance Sheet Sheet Instruments CollatcraiC2l Amount 

329,811 $ $ 329,811 $ 329,811 $ $ 

236,608 236,608 236,608 

1,899 1,186 713 713 

299,707 $ $ 299,707 $ 299,707 $ $ 

174,055 174,055 174,055 

(I) As of December 31 , 2023, there were no assets which were presented gross within the scope of ASC 210-20, Balance Sheet-Offsetting. 

<2> Included in Restricted cash in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. 
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The Company conducts its business through the following segments: 
The real estate debt business focuses on originating, acquiring and asset managing commercial real estate debt 
investments, including first mortgages, subordinate mortgages, mezzanine loans and participations in such loans. 
The real estate securities business focuses on investing in and asset managing real estate securities. Historically this 
business has focused primarily on CMBS, CMBS bonds, CDO notes, and other securities. 
The commercial real estate conduit business operated through the Company's TRS, which is focused on generating 
risk-adjusted returns by originating and subsequently selling fixed-rate commercial real estate loans into the CMBS 
securitization market at a profit. The TRS may also hold certain mezzanine loans that don't qualify as good REIT 
assets due to any potential loss from foreclosure. 
The real estate owned business represents real estate acquired by the Company through foreclosure, deed-in-lieu of 
foreclosure, or purchase. 

The segments are based on financial information presented to the President of Commercial Real Estate, and the Chief 
Financial Officer I Chief Operating Officer of the Company, who are determined to jointly be the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker ("CODM"). The CODM oversees activities and operations of the business, which includes assessing performance, 
liquidity, and profit or loss on each operating segment. Profit or loss on segment operations is measured by net income/(loss) 
included in the consolidated statements of operations. The CODM uses net income/(loss) to measure return on equity to assess 
the liquidity associated with equity that is allocated to each business based on the Company's investment objectives and 
strategies. 
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The following table represents the Company's operations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022 (dollars in thousands): 

December 31,2024 

Interest income 

Revenue from real estate owned 

Interest expense 

Administrative services expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 

Operating expenses 

Other segment items0 ><2> 

Net income/(loss) 

Total assets as of December 31,2024 

December 31,2023 

Interest income 

Revenue from real estate owned 

Interest expense 

Administrative services expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 

Operating expenses 

Other segment items<1><2> 

Net income/(loss) 

Total assets as of December 31 , 2023 

December 31,2022 

Interest income 

Revenue from real estate owned 

Interest expense 

Administrative services expenses 

Depreciation and amortization 

Operating expenses 

Other segment items(I)(2) 

Net income/(loss) 

Total assets as ofDecember 31,2022 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Real Estate 
Debt and 

Other Real 
Estate 

Total Investments 

526,076 $ 502,214 $ 

22,849 

(338,471) 

(9,707) 

(5,630) 

(62,934) 

(39,780) 

92,403 

6,002,386 

552,506 $ 

17,021 

(305,577) 

(14,440) 

(7,128) 

(61,493) 

(36,380) 

144,509 

5,955,180 

357,705 $ 

9,655 

(160,526) 

(12,928) 

(5,408) 

(56,655) 

(117,628) 

14,215 

6,203,601 

(322,504) 

(4,582) 

(40,190) 

(43,246) 

91 ,692 

5,261,022 

530,116 $ 

(288,327) 

(8,3 13) 

(50,627) 

(28,795) 

154,054 

5,372,371 

320,546 $ 

(146,493) 

(6,288) 

(45,317) 

(43,773) 

78,676 

5,444,152 

<•> For each !reportable segment, other segment items category includes: 

Real Estate 
Securities 

17,128 $ 

(13,214) 

(1 ,094) 

(8) 

2,812 

205,758 

17,323 $ 

(14,118) 

(1,488) 

146 

1,863 

245,949 

30,203 $ 

(II ,203) 

(6,842) 

(81,623) 

(69,465) 

474,231 

Real Estate 
TRS Owned 

5,553 $ 1,181 

22,849 

(721) (2,032) 

(5, 125) 

(5,630) 

(4,930) (16,720) 

11,605 (8, 13 1) 

6,382 (8,483) 

128,430 407,176 

2,244 $ 

(1,150) 

(6, 127) 

(5,412) 

(80) 

(10,525) 

66,503 

6,956 $ 

(1,643) 

(6,640) 

(4,479) 

8,508 

2,702 

63,307 

2,823 

17,021 

(1,982) 

(7, 128) 

(3,966) 

(7,651) 

(883) 

270,357 

9,655 

(1,187) 

(5,408) 

(17) 

(740) 

2,302 

221,911 

Real Estate Debt - specific and general allowance for credit losses, and gains/(losses) associated with debt extinguishment. 

Real Estate Securities - gains/(losses) associated with sales ofCMBS bonds and divestment oftrading securities. 

TRS - gaimsl(losses) associated with fair value measurements and securitizations or sales of held for sale loans, fair value measurements 
and terminations of derivative instruments, and (provisions)/benefits on taxable income. 

Real Estate Owned - gainsl(losses) associated with other real estate investments resulting from foreclosure or sale. 

<2> Stock compensation expense is allocated to each segment based on total income per segment and included within other segment items. 
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For the purposes of the table above, management fees have been allocated to the business segments using an agreed upon 
percentage of each respective segment's prior period equity. Administrative fees are derived from an agreed upon reimbursable 
amount based on employee time charged and allocated to the business segments. 

Note 17 - Income Taxes 

The Company has conducted its operations to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with its 
taxable year ended December 31 , 2013. As a REIT, if tJ1c Company meets certain organizational and operational requirements 
and distributes at least 90% of its "REIT taxable income" (determined before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net 
capital gains) to its stockholders in a year, it will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent oftthe income that it 
distributes. However, even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a RE.IT, it may be subject to certain state and local taxes on 
income in addition to U.S. federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income. The Company, through its TRSs, is 
indirectly subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. The Company's TRSs arc not consolidated for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, but is instead taxed as a C corporations. For financial reporting purposes, the TRSs arc consolidated and a 
provision for current and deferred taxes is established for the portion of earnings recognized by the Company with respect to its 
interest in its TRSs. Total (provision)lbenefit for income taxes for the years ended December 31 , 2024, 2023 and 2022 were 
$(1.1) million, $2.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively. As of December 31 , 2024, our taxable REIT subsidiaries have an 
estimated $15.2 million of federal net operating loss ("NOL") carry forwards and $3.5 million of state and Local NOL 
carry forwards. The NOL canyforwards arc subject to certain limitations. The Company has analyzed and determined that future 
earnings of the Company's TRS are sufficient to support a conclusion that valuation allowance is not necessary as of 
December 31 , 2024. 

The Company uses a more-likely-than-not threshold for recognition and dcrecognition of tax positions taken or to be taken 
in a tax return. The Company has assessed its tax positions for all open tax years beginning with December 31, 2018 and 
concluded that there were no w1certainties to be recognized. The Company's accounting policy with respect to interest and 
penalties related to tax uncertainties is to classify these amounts as provision for income taxes. 

Components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following (dollars in thousands): 

Y car Ended December 31, 

2024 2023 2022 

Current (provision)/bcnefit for income taxes 

U.S. Federal $ (I ,299) $ (12) $ 65 

State and local (152) (1) 167 

Total current (provision)/benefit for income taxes $ (1,451) $ (13) $ 232 

Deferred (provision)/benefit for income taxes 

U.S. Federal $ 446 $ 2,670 $ 99 

State and local (115) 100 68 

Total deferred (provision)/bcnefit for income taxes $ 331 $ 2,770 $ 167 

Total (provision)fbcnefit for income taxes $ (1,120) $ 2,757 $ 399 

The tax characteristics of $1.42 distributions per share of common stock declared during 2024 was $1 .42 ordinary income. 
The tax characteristics of the $1.88 per share of Series E Preferred Stock declared during 2024 was $1.88 ordinary income. The 
tax characteristics of the $424.86 per share of Series H Preferred Stock declared during 2024 was $424.86 ordinary income. The 
ordinary income per share of each stockholder represents the ordinary dividend that may be eligible for the 20% deduction 
applicable to qualified REIT dividends under Internal Revenue Code Section I99A. 

The tax characteristics of $1.42 distributions per share of Common Stock declared during 2023 was $1.42 ordinary income. 
The tax characteristics of the $1.88 per share of Series E Preferred Stock declared during 2023 was $1.88 ordinary income. The 
tax characteristics of the $424.86 per share of Series H Preferred Stock declared during 2023 was $424.86 ordinary income. The 
ordinary income per share of each stockholder represents ilic ordinary dividend that may be eligible for the 20% deduction 
applicable to qualified REIT dividends under Internal Revenue Code Section 199A. 

The Company utilizes the TRSs to reduce the impact of the prohibited transaction tax and to avoid penalty for the holding 
of assets not qualifying as real estate assets for purposes of the REIT asset tests. Any income associated with a TRS is fully 
taxable because the TRS is subject to federal and state income taxes as a domestic C corporation based upon its net income. 
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The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following 
activity took place subsequent to the year ended December 31 , 2024: 

Investment Activity: We obtained, through foreclosure, two multifamily properties, both located in Texas. The loans had a 
combined an11ortized cost basis of$104.9 million as of December 31 , 2024. One of these two properties was subsequently sold 
on February 12, 2025 for a purchase price of$63.8 million and was financed with a loan originated by the Company. 

We also sold a previously foreclosed multnfamily property, located in North Carolina, for a purchase price of$12.9 million. 

Comluit Activity: We sold two of our commercial mortgage loans, held for sale into the CMBS securitization market. The 
loans had a fair value of $82.3 million as of December 31 , 2024. 
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Type of Loan Property Type I Location 

Senior loans 
Senior loans less than 3% of the carrying amount of total loans 

Senior loans Multifamily I Diversified 

Senior loans Hospitality I Diversified 

Senior loans Industrial I Diversified 

Senior loans Office I Diversified 

Senior loans Mixed Use I Diversified 

Senior loans Retail / Diversified 

Senior loans 
Manufactured Housing I 

Diversified 

Total senior loans 

Mezzanine loans 
Mezzanine loans less than 3% of the carrying amount of total loans 

Mezzanine loans Multifamily I Diversified 

Mezzanine loans 

Mezzanine loans 

Mezzanine loans 

Total mezzanine loans 

Hospitality I Diversified 

Mixed Use /New York 

Industrial I California 

Total commercial mortgage loans, beld for investment<SJ 

Allowance for credit losses 

-

(Dollars in thousands) 

Interest Rates<1> 

+ 2.00% - 8.30% 
Fixed 4.25%- 9.00% 

+ 3.25%- 7.50% 
Fixed 5.99%- 8.50% 

+ 2.70%-4.90% 
Fixed 11.99% 

+ 2.25%- 4.50% 
Fixed 5.15%-5.50% 

+ 3.70%- 5.35% 

Fixed 5.50%- 6.00% 

+4.25% 
Fixed 5.50% 

+ 3.67%- 12.75% 

+ 9.25%- 10.51% 

Fixed 16.00% --
Fixed 15.00% 

Maximum 
Maturitv 
Date<2r 

2025-2030 

2025-2029 

2026-2029 

2025-2026 

2025-2026 

2025-2026 

2025-2028 

2027-2029 

2027-2028 

2025 

-

-
2029 

Total commercial mortgage loans, held for investment, net of allowance for credit losses 

Periodic 
Payments 
Terms<3J 

1/0 

1/0 & P/1 

110 

1/0 & P/1 
110 
1/0 

Face 
Amount 

Carrying 
Amount 

Principal 
Amount of 

Loans Subject 
to Delinquent 
Principal or 
Interest<4> 

$ 3,555,248 $3,547,417 $ 93,108 

719,923 718,445 
-

338,015 336,457 

185,303 183,378 66,488 

91,185 90,912 

45,613 45,739 

1/0& P/1 25,175 25,114 

1/0 
110 
1/0 
1/0 

$ 4,960,462 $ 4,947,462 $ 159,596 

$ 19,018 

10,667 

7,527 
--

2,180 

$ 39,392 

$ 18,969 $ 

10,657 

7,491 

2,171 

$ 39,288 =$==== 

$ 4,999,854 $ 4,986, 750 $ 159,596 

(78,083) 

$4,908,667 
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<'> Expressed as a spread over IM SOFR Term and Adj. I M SOFR Term. On March S, 2021 , the Financial Conduct Authority of the U.K. (the "FCA") announced that UBOR tenors would 
cease to be published or no longer be representative. The Alternative Reference Rates Com mittee (the "ARRC") interpreted this announcement to constitute a benchmark trans ition event. 
The benchmark index of LIB OR interest rate w ill convert from LIB OR to compounded SOFR, plus a benchmark adj ustment of 11.448 basis points. As of December 3 1, 2024, all of our 
commercial mo rtgage loans, he ld for investment which had been indexed at LlBOR were converted to SOFR uti liz ing the 11 .448 basis points adjustment and the applicable spreads 
remain unchanged. The loans which have the SOFR adjustment are referred to as "Adj. I M SOFR Term." 

<2> Maximum maturity date assumes a ll extension options are exercised, if applicable. 

(J) 1/0 = interest only, P/1 = princ ipa l and interest. 

<
4> Principal amount of loans subject to delinquent princ ipal or interest is defined as loans in (i) maturity default or ( ii) receipt of interest outstanding for more than 90 days. 

(S)T he estimated aggregate cost for U.S. federal income tax purposes is approximately $5.1 billion. 

For the activity within the Company's loan portfolio during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, refer to Note 3 - Commercial Mortgage Loans on the 
consolidated financial statements of Form I 0-K. 


